
Steve Crisafulli 
Speaker 

Health Care Appropriations 
Su bcornrni ttee 

January 12 , 20 16 
1:30PM-3:30PM 

Webster Hall (212 Knott) 

Meeting Packet 

Matt Hudson 
Chair 



The Florida House of Representatives 
Appropriations Committee 

Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

Steve Crisafulli 
Speaker 

I. Call to Order I Roll Call 

January 12, 2016 

AGENDA 
1:30 PM- 3:30 PM 

Webster Hall 

II. HB 85-Recovery Care Services by Fitzenhagen 

Matt Hudson 
Chair 

III. CS/HB 595-Reimbursement to Health Access Settings for Dental Hygiene 
Services for Children by Plasencia 

IV. HB 423-Drug Prescription by Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners & 
Physician Assistants by Pigman 

V. HB 581-State Veterans' Nursing Homes by Magar 

VI. HB 437-Certificates of Need for Hospitals by Sprowls 

VII. Update by OPPAGA on Maintenance Adoption Subsidies Forecasting 
Methodology 

• Justin Graham) Chief Legislative Analyst) OPPAGA 

VIII. Presentation of Navigant report "Outpatient Prospective Payment System 
Design for Medicaid" 

• Malcolm Ferguson) Associate Director) Navigant Consulting 

221 The Capitol, 402 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1 300 
(850)717-4814 Fax: (850)488-9633 



January 12, 2016 
Page 2 

IX. Closing/ Adjourn 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 85 Recovery Care Services 
SPONSOR(S): Fitzenhagen 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 212 

REFERENCE 

1) Select Committee on Affordable Healthcare 
Access 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

ACTION 

10 Y, 4 N 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST 

Guzzo 

Clark 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Calamas 

Pridgeon 

Pursuant to s. 395.002, F.S., an ambulatory surgical center (ASC) is a facility, that is not part of a hospital, the 
primary purpose of which is to provide elective surgical care, in which the patient is admitted and discharged 
within the same working day and is not permitted to stay overnight. 

Federal Medicare reimbursement is generally limited to stays of no more than 24 hours. The bill changes the 
allowable length of stay in an ASC from less than one working day to no more than 24 hours, which is the 
federal Medicare length of stay standard . 

The bill creates a new license for a Recovery Care Center (RCC), defined as a facility the primary purpose of 
which is to provide recovery care services, to which a patient is admitted and discharged within 72 hours, and 
which is not part of a hospital. The bill defines recovery care services as: 

• Postsurgical and post-diagnostic medical and general nursing care to patients for whom acute 
hospitalization is not required and an uncomplicated recovery is reasonably expected; and 

• Postsurgical rehabilitation services. 

Recovery care services do not include intensive care services, coronary care services, or critical care services. 

The bill requires all patients to be certified as medically stable and not in need of acute hospitalization by their 
attending or referring physician prior to admission to a RCC. A patient may receive recovery care services in a 
RCC upon: 

• Discharge from an ASC after surgery; 
• Discharge from a hospital after surgery or other treatment; or 
• Receiving out-patient medical treatment such as chemotherapy. 

The new RCC license is modeled after the current licensing procedures for hospitals and ASCs, subjecting 
RCCs to similar regulatory standards, inspections, and rules . RCCs must have emergency care and transfer 
protocols, including transportation arrangements, and a referral or admission agreement with at least one 
hospital. 

The bill has an indeterminate, but likely insignificant fiscal impact that can be managed within existing Agency 
for Health Care Administration resources. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Ambulatory Surgical Centers (ASCs) 

An ASC is a facility, that is not a part of a hospital, the primary purpose of which is to provide elective 
surgical care, in which the patient is admitted and discharged within the same working day and is not 
permitted to stay overnight. 1 

In Florida, outpatient surgery is performed in two settings, hospital outpatient surgery departments 
(HOPDs) and ASCs. Currently, there are 429 ASCs in Florida and 204 HOPDs.2 

In 2014, there were 2,933,087 visits to ASCs and HOPDs in Florida .3 HOPDs accounted for 46 percent 
and ASCs accounted for 54 percent of the total number of visits. Of the $33.8 billion in total combined 
charges in HOPDs and ASCs in 2014, HOPDs accounted for 77 percent of the charges, while ASCs 
accounted for 23 percent.4 The average charge at the HOPDs ($19, 140) was larger than the average 
charge at the ASCs ($5,018). 5 Two procedures, colonoscopy and gastrointestinal endoscopy, are 
consistently in the top 10 procedures performed by both facility types.6 In 2014, the average charge for 
a colonoscopy by site was $6,694 for HOPDs and $2,391 for ASCs. 7 The avera~e charge for 
gastrointestinal endoscopy by site was $9,537 for HOPDs and $2,269 for ASCs. This data was not 
adjusted for acuity, so it may reflect higher acuity levels in hospital patients. 

In 2014, the charges for visits to ASCs and HOPDs were paid mainly by commercial Insurance and 
Medicare. Commercial insurance paid for 40 percent of charges ($13.6 billion), while Medicare paid for 
30 percent of charges ($1 0.1 billion).9 The next three top payer groups (Medicare Managed Care, 
Medicaid, and Medicaid Managed Care) accounted for a combined 21 .6 percent ($7.3 billion) of 
charges.10 

ASC Licensure 

ASCs are licensed and regulated by the Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) under the 
same regulatory framework as hospitals. 11 Applicants for ASC licensure must submit certain 
information to AHCA prior to accepting patients for care or treatment, including: 

• An affidavit of compliance with fictitious name; 
• Proof of registration of articles of incorporation; and 
• A zoning certificate or proof of compliance with zoning requirements. 12 

1 S. 395.002(3), F.S. 
2 AHCA Agency Bill Analysis, dated September 18, 2015, pg. 3 (on file with Select Committee on Affordable Healthcare Access staff). 
3 Agency for Health Care Administration, Ambulatory (Outpatient) Surgery Query Results; By Facility Type and Average Charges, 
available at http://www.floridahealthfinder.gov/OuervTooi/QTResults.aspx?T=O (last viewed on November 12, 2015). 
4 1d. 
5 ld. 
6 Agency for Health Care Administration , Ambulatory (Outpatient) Surgery Query Results; By Current Procedural Terminology Code 
and Facility Type, available at http://www.floridahealthfinder.gov/QuervTooi/QTResults.aspx?T=O (last viewed on November 12, 
2015). 
7 ld . 
8 ld . 
9 Agency for Health Care Administration , Ambulatory (Outpatient) Surgery Query Results; By Patient, Primary Payer, and Average 
Charges http://www.floridahealthfinder/gov/QuervTooiiQTResults.aspx (last viewed on November 10, 2015). 
10 ld. 
11 SS. 395.001-1065, F.S., and Part II, Chapter 408, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Upon receipt of an initial application, AHCA is required to conduct a survey to determine compliance 
with all laws and rules. ASCs are required to provide certain information during the initial inspection, 
including: 

• Governing body bylaws, rules and regulations; 
• A roster of registered nurses and licensed practical nurses with current license numbers; 
• A fire plan; and 
• The comprehensive Emergency Management Plan.13 

AHCA is authorized to adopt rules for hospitals and ASCs. 14 Separate standards may be provided for 
general and specialty hospitals, ASCs, mobile surgical facilities, and statutory rural hospitals, 15 but the 
rules for all hospitals and ASCs must include minimum standards for ensuring that: 

• A sufficient number of qualified types of personnel and occupational disciplines are on duty and 
available at all times to provide necessary and adequate patient care; 

• Infection control, housekeeping, sanitary conditions , and medical record procedures are 
established and implemented to adequately protect patients; 

• A comprehensive emergency management plan is prepared and updated annually; 
• Licensed facilities are established, organized, and operated consistent with established 

standards and rules; and 
• Licensed facility beds conform to minimum space, equipment, and furnishing standards 

The minimum standards for ASCs are contained in Chapter 59A-5, F.A.C. 

Staff and Personnel Rules 

ASCs are required to have written policies and procedures for surgical services, anesthesia services , 
nursing services, pharmaceutical services, and laboratory and radiologic services .16 In providing these 
services, ACSs are required to have certain professional staff available, including: 

• A registered nurse to serve as operating room circulating nurse; 17 

• An Anesthesiologist or other physician, or a certified registered nurse anesthetist under the on
site medical direction of a licensed physician in the ASC during the anesthesia and post
anesthesia recovery period until all patients are alert or discharged;18 and 

• A Registered professional nurse in the recovery area during the patient's recovery period .19 

Infection Control Rules 

ASCs are required to establish an infection control program , which. must include written policies and 
procedures reflecting the scope of the program. 20 The written policies and procedures must be 
reviewed at least every two years by the infection control program members.21 The infection control 
program must include: 

12 Rule 59A-5 .003(4), F.A.C. 
13 Rule 59A-5 .003(5), F.A.C. 
14 S. 395.1055, F.S. 
15 S. 395.1055(2), F.S. 
16 Rule 59A-5 .0085, F.A.C. 
17 Rule 59A-5 .0085(3)(c), F.A.C. 
18 Rule 59A-5 .0085(2)(b), F.A.C. 
19 Rule 59A-5 .0085(3)(d), F.A.C. 
20 Rule 59A-5 .011(1), F.A.C. 
21 Rule 59A-5 .011(2), F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE : 3 



• Surveillance, prevention , and control of infection among patients and personnel ;22 

• A system for identifying, reporting , evaluating and maintaining records of infections;23 

• Ongoing review and evaluation of aseptic, isolation and sanitation techniques employed by the 
ASC; 24 and 

• Development and coordination of training programs in infection control for all personnel.25 

Emergency Management Plan Rules 

ASCs are required to develop and adopt a written comprehensive emergency management plan for 
emergency care during an internal or external disaster or emergency.26 The ASC must review the plan 
and update it annually.27 

Accreditation 

ASCs may seek voluntary accreditation by the Joint Commission for Health Care Organizations, the 
Accreditation Association for Ambulatory Health Care, and the American Osteopathic Association 
Healthcare Facilities Accreditation Program.28 AHCA is required to conduct an annual licensure 
inspection survey for non-accredited ASCs. 29 AHCA must accept survey reports of accredited ASCs 
from accrediting organizations if the standards included in the survey report are determined to 
document that the ASC is in substantial compliance with state licensure requirements.30 AHCA is 
required to conduct annual validation inspections on a minimum of 5 percent of the ASCs which were 
inspected by an accreditation organization.31 

AHCA is required to conduct annual life safety inspections of all ASCs to ensure compliance with life 
safety codes and disaster preparedness requirements .32 However, the life-safety inspection may be 
waived if an accreditation inspection was conducted on an ASC by a certified life safety inspector and 
the ASC was found to be in compliance with the life safety requirements .33 

In 2014, 373 licensed ASCs in Florida were accredited by a national accrediting organization .34 

Federal Requirements 

Medicare 

ASCs are required to have an agreement with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 
to participate in Medicare. ASCs are also required to comply with specific conditions for coverage. 
CMS defines "ASC" as any distinct entity that operates exclusively for the purpose of providing surgical 
services to patients not requiring hospitalization and in which the expected duration of services would 
not exceed 24 hours35 following an admission .36 

22 Rule 59A-5 .011(1 )(a), F.A.C. 
23 Rule 59A-5 .011(1)(b), F.A.C. 
24 Rule 59A-5.011(1)(c), F.A.C. 
25 Rule 59A-5 .011(1)(d), F.A.C. 
26 Rule 59A-5.018(1), F.A.C. 
27 ld . 
28 Rule 59A-5.004(3), F.A.C., and AHCA Ambulatory Surgical Center; Accrediting Organizations for Ambulatory Surgical Centers, 
available at http://ahca.mvtlorida.com/MCHQ/Health Facility Regulation/Hospital Outpatient/ambulatorv.shtml (last viewed November 
13, 2015). 
29 Rule 59A-5.004(1) and (2), F.A.C. 
30 Rule 59A-5.004(3), F.A.C. 
31 Rule 59A-5 .004(5), F.A.C. 
32 Rule 59A-5.004(1 ), F.S., and s. 395 .0161 , F.S. 
33 S. 395.0161(2), F.S. 
34 Agency for Health Care Administration , Ambulatory Surgical Center Regulatory Overview, March 2015 (on file with Select Committee 
on Affordable Healthcare Access staff). 
35 State Operations Manual Appendix L, Guidance for Surveyors: Ambulatory Surgical Centers (Rev. 99, 01-31-14) exceeding the 24-
hour time frame is expected to be a rare occurrence, and each rare occurrence is expected to be demonstrated to have been 
STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



CMS may deem an ASC to be in compliance with all of the conditions for coverage if the ASC is 
accredited by a national accrediting body, or licensed by a state agency, that CMS determines provides 
reasonable assurance that the conditions are met. 37 All of the CMS conditions for coverage 
requirements are included in Chapter 59A-5, F.A.C., and apply to all ASCs in Florida. The conditions 
for coverage require: 

• A governing body that assumes full legal responsibility for determining, implementing, and 
monitoring policies governing the ASC's total operation; 

• A quality assessment and performance improvement program; 
• A transfer agreement with one or more acute care general hospitals, which will admit any 

patient referred who requires continuing care; 
• A disaster preparedness plan; 
• An organized medical staff; 
• A fire control plan; 
• A sanitary environment; 
• An infection control program; and 
• A procedure for patient admission, assessment and discharge. 

Recovery Care Centers 

Recovery care centers (RCCs) are entities that provide short-term nursing care, support, and pain 
control for patients that do not require acute hospitalization.38 RCC patients are typically healthy 
persons that have had elective surgery. RCCs can be either freestanding or attached to an ASC or 
hospital. In practice, RCCs typically provide care to patients transferred from ASCs following surgery, 
which allows ASCs to perform more complex procedures.39 

RCCs are not eligible for Medicare reimbursement. 40 However, RCCs may receive payments from 
Medicaid programs. One 1999 survey noted that RCCs received payment in the following breakdown: 
41% from managed care plans, 29% from self-pay, 16% from indemnity plans, and 9% from workers ' 
compensation .41 

Three states, Arizona, Connecticut, and Illinois, have specific licenses for "recovery care centers."42 

Other states license RCCs as nursing facilities or hospitals.43 One study found that eighteen states 
allow RCCs to have stays over 24 hours, usually with a maximum stay of 72 hours.44 

something which ordinarily could not have been foreseen . Not meeting this requirement constitutes condition-level noncompliance with 
§416.25. In addition , review of the cases that exceed the time frame may also reveal noncompliance with CfCs related to surgical 
services, patient admission and assessment, and quality assurance/performance improvement. 
36 42 C.F.R. §416.2 
37 42 C.F.R. §416.26(1) 
38 Medicare Payment Advisory Comm'n, Report to the Congress: Medicare Payment for Post-Surgical Recovery Care Centers, (2000). 
39 ld . at 4. 
40 See Medicare Payment Advisory Comm'n, Supra FN 20. 
41 

Medicare Payment Advisory Comm'n, Supra FN 20, at 6 (citing Federated Ambulatory Surgery Association, Post-Surgical Recovery 
Care, (2000)). 
42 Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann.§§ 36-448.51-36-448.55; Conn . Conn . Agencies Regs§ 19A-495-571 ; 210 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann . 3/35. 
43 Sandra Lee Breisch, Profits in Short Stays, Am. Acad . of Orthopaedic Surgeons Bulletin (June, 1999), available at 
http://www2.aaos.org/bulletin/jun99/asc.htm 
44 Medicare Payment Advisory Comm'n, supra FN 20, at 4 (citing Federated Ambulatory Surgery Association, Post-Surgical Recovery 
Care, (2000)). 
STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Comparison of RCC Regulations in Arizona, Connecticut, and Illinois 

Regulation Arizona45 Connecticut46 lllinois47 

Licensure Required X X X 

Written Policies X X X 

Maintain Medical 
X X X 

Records 

Patient's Bill of Rights X X X 

Allows Freestanding 
Not Addressed . X X 

Facility or Attached 

Length of Stay Not Addressed. 
Expected 3 days Expected 48 hours 

Maximum 21 days Maximum 72 hours 

Emergency Care For care not provided by With a hospital and an With a hospital within 15 

Transfer Agreement the recovery care center. ambulance service. minutes travel time. 

Patients needing: Patients needing: • Patients with chronic 
• Intensive care • Intensive care infectious conditions 

Prohibited Patients • Coronary care • Coronary care • Children under age 3 
• Critical care • Critical care 

• Surgical • Surgical • Blood administration 
• Radiological • Radiological (only blood products 

• Pediatric • Pre-adolescent pediatric allowed) 

Prohibited Services 
• Obstetrical • Hospice 

• Obstetrical services over 
24 week gestation 

• Intravenous therapy for 
non-hospital based RCC 

• Laboratory • Pharmaceutical • Laboratory 
• Pharmaceutical • Dietary • Pharmaceutical 

Required Services 
• Food • Personal care • Food 

• Rehabilitation • Radiological 

• Therapeutic 
• Social work 

Bed Limitation Not Addressed. Not Addressed . 20 

Required Staff 
• Governing authority • Governing body • Consulting committee 
• Administrator • Administrator 

Required Medical 
• At least two physicians • Medical advisory board • Medical director 

Personnel 
• Director of nursing • Medical director • Nursing supervisor 

• Director of nursing 

Required Personnel 
• Director of nursing 40 • Two persons for patient • One registered nurse 

When Patients Are 
hours per week care • One other nurse 

Present 
• One registered nurse 

• One other nurse 

45 Ariz . Rev. Stat. Ann . §§ 36-448.51-36-448.55 ; Ariz. Admin . Code§§ R9-10-501-R9-10-518 (updated in 2013, formerly R9-1 0-1401-
R9-10-1412). 
46 Conn . Agencies Regs. § 19A-495-571. 
47 210 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 3/35 ; Ill . Admin . Code tit. 77, §§ 210.2500 & 210.2800. 
STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 6 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Effect of Proposed Changes 

Pursuant to s. 395.002(3), F.S. , patients receiving services in an ASC must be discharged on the same 
working day that they were admitted and cannot stay overnight. Federal Medicare reimbursement 
policy limits the length of stay in an ASC to 24 hours following admission. The bill amends s. 
395.002(3), F.S., to permit a patient to stay at an ASC for no longer than 24 hours. The change 
conforms to the Medicare length of stay requirement. 

The bill creates a new license for a Recovery Care Center (RCC). The new RCC license is modeled 
after the current licensure program for hospitals and ASCs in Chapters 395 and 408, F.S. The bill adds 
RCCs to the list of facilities subject to the provisions of Chapter 395, Part I. An applicant for RCC 
licensure must follow the general licensing procedures in Chapter 408, Part II. Additionally, the 
applicant will be subject to the license, inspection, safety, facility and other requirements of Chapter 
395, Part I. 

The bill defines a RCC as a facility whose primary purpose is to provide recovery care services, to 
which the patient is admitted and discharged within 72 hours, and is not part of a hospital. The bill 
defines recovery care services as: 

• Postsurgical and post-diagnostic medical and general nursing care to patients for whom acute 
hospitalization is not required and an uncomplicated recovery is reasonably expected; and 

• Postsurgical rehabilitation services. 

Recovery care services do not include intensive care services, coronary care services, or critical care 
services. 

The bill requires all patients to be certified as medically stable and not in need of acute hospitalization 
by their attending or referring physician prior to admission to an RCC. A patient may receive recovery 
care services in an RCC upon: 

• Discharge from an ASC after surgery; 
• Discharge from a hospital after surgery or other treatment; or 
• Receiving an out-patient medical treatment such as chemotherapy. 

A RCC must have emergency care and transfer protocols, including transportation arrangements, and 
a referral or admission agreement with at least one hospital. Further, AHCA is authorized to adopt 
rules regarding RCC admission and discharge procedures. 

Section 395.1055, F.S., directs AHCA to adopt rules for hospitals and ASCs that set standards to 
ensure patient safety. The bill directs AHCA to adopt rules for RCCs that address all the same 
regulatory areas currently addressed in rules for hospitals and ASCs, including requirements for: 

• Staffing; 
• Infection control ; 
• Housekeeping; 
• Medical records; 
• Emergency management; 
• Inspections; 
• Accreditation; 
• Organization , including a governing body and organized medical staff; 
• Departments and services; 
• Quality assessment and improvement; 
• Minimum space; and 
• Equipment and furnishings . 

STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE : 12/3/2015 

PAGE: 7 



In addition, the bill requires AHCA to adopt rules to set standards for dietetic departments, proper use 
of medications, and pharmacies in RCCs. 

The license fee for a RCC will be set by rule by AHCA and must be at least $1 ,500.48 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 395.001 , F.S., related to legislative intent. 
Section 2: Amends s. 395.002, F.S., related to definitions. 
Section 3: Amends s. 395.003, F.S., related to licensure; denial , suspension , and revocation . 
Section 4: Creates s. 395.0171, F.S., related to recovery care center admissions; emergency and 

transfer protocols; discharge planning and protocols. 
Section 5: Amends s. 395.1055, F.S., related to rules and enforcement. 
Section 6: Amends s. 395.10973, F.S., related to powers and duties of the agency. 
Section 7: Amends s. 395.301, F.S. , related to itemized patient bill; form and content prescribed by 

the agency. 
Section 8: Amends s. 408.802, F.S., related to applicability. 
Section 9: Amends s. 408.820, F.S., related to exemptions . 
Section 10: Amends s. 394.4787, F.S., related to definitions. 
Section 11: Amends s. 409.975, F.S., related to managed care plan accountability. 
Section 12: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues : 

Section 408.805, F.S., requires AHCA to set license fees that are reasonably calculated to cover 
the cost of regulation . AHCA estimates that five entities may apply for licensure. Applicants for 
licensure as a RCC will be subject to a Plans and Construction project review fee of $2,000 plus 
$100 per hour for building plan reviews, an application fee of at least $1,500, and a licensure 
inspection fee of $400.49 

2. Expenditures: 

The creation of the RCC license will require AHCA to regulate these facilities in accordance with 
Chapters 395 and 408, F.S. , and any rules adopted by AHCA. The fees associated with the new 
license are anticipated to cover the expenses incurred by AHCA in enforcement and regulation of 
the new license. No additional staff will be required as existing regulatory staff is sufficient to absorb 
the workload associated with up to 10 licenses. 50 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

48 Section 395 .004 , F.S. 
49 AHCA Agency Bill Analysis , dated September 18, 2015, pg . 3 (on file with Select Committee on Affordable Healthcare Access staff) . 
50 ld . 
STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 8 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Individuals needing surgery may save money by being able to stay longer in an ASC or stay in a RCC 
rather than having the original procedure in a hospital merely because the recovery time will be longer 
than the ASC limit would allow. 

Being able to keep patients longer in an ASC may have a positive fiscal impact on the ASC by being 
able to perform more complex procedures. 

Hospitals may experience a negative fiscal impact if more patients receive care in an ASC or RCC. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

Not applicable. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0085b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE: 9 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P , R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB85 2016 

1 A bil l to be entitled 

2 An act relating to recovery care services ; amending s . 

3 395 . 001 , F. S .; providing legislative intent regarding 

4 re cov_ery care centers ; amend ing s. 395 .0 02 , F. S .; 

5 revising and providing definitions ; amending s. 

6 395 .0 03 , F.S .; i ncluding recovery care centers as 

7 facilities licensed under chapter 395 , F. S .; creat ing 

8 s . 395 . 0171 , F.S .; providing admission criteria f o r a 

9 recovery care center ; requiring emergency ca r e , 

10 transfer, and discharge protoco l s ; au thor i zing the 

11 Agency for Health Care Administration to adopt rules; 

12 amending s. 395 . 1055 , F. S .; authorizing the agency to 

13 establi sh separate standards for the care and 

14 treatment of patients in recove r y care centers ; 

15 amending s . 395 . 10973, F . S .; directing the agency to 

16 enforce special-occupancy provisions of the Fl orida 

17 Building Code applicable to recovery care centers ; 

18 amending s . 395 . 30 1 , F.S.; providing for format and 

19 content of a patient b ill from a recovery care center ; 

20 amend ing s . 408 . 802 , F . S .; providing applicability of 

21 the Health Care Licensing Procedures Act to recovery 

22 care centers ; amending s. 408 . 820 , F . S.; exempting 

23 recovery care centers from specified minimum licensure 

24 requireme nt s ; amending ss. 394 . 4787 and 409 . 975 , F . S .; 

25 conforming c r oss - references; providing an effective 

26 date . 

Page 1 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 85 

27 

28 Be It Enacted by the Legis l ature of the State of Florida: 

29 

30 Section 1. Section 395 . 00 1, Florida Statutes , is amended 

31 to read : 

32 395 . 001 Legislative intent.-It is the intent of the 

33 Legi slature to provide for the protection of public health and 

34 sa f ety in the establishment, construction , maintenance , and 

35 operation o f hospitals , ambulatory surgical centers , recovery 

30 ca r e centers , and mob il e surgical facilities by provi ding for 

37 licensure o f same and for the deve l opment , establishment, and 

38 enforceme nt of mi nimum standards with respect thereto . 

3 9 Section 2 . Subsections ( 3) , ( 16) , and ( 2 3) of section 

2016 

40 395 . 002 , Florida Statutes , are amended, subsection s (25) through 

41 (33) are renumbered as subsections (27) through (35) , 

42 respectively , and new subsections (25) a nd (26) are added to 

43 t hat section, t o read : 

44 395 . 002 Definitions. - As used in this chapter : 

45 ( 3) "Ambulatory surgical center " or "mobil e surgical 

4 6 fac ilit y " means a facility the primary purpose of which i s t o 

47 provide elective surgical care , in which t h e patient is admitted 

48 to and discharged from such facility within 24 h ours the same 

4 9 · .. ·o rking day and is not permitted to stay overnight, and which is 

50 not part of a hospita l. However , a facility existing for the 

51 primar y purpose o f performing terminations o f pregnancy, an 

52 off i ce maintained by a physician for the practice of medicine , 

Page 2 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 85 2016 

53 or an off i ce maintained fo r the practice of dentistry shall not 

54 be construed to be an ambulatory surgical center, provided that 

55 any facility or office which is certified or seeks certification 

56 as a Medicare ambulatory surgical center shall be licensed as an 

57 ambulatory surgical center pursuant to s. 395.003. Any structure 

58 or vehicle in which a physician maintains an office and 

59 practices surgery, and which can appear to the public to be a 

60 mobile office because the structure or vehicle operates at more 

61 than one address , shall be construed to be a mobile surgical 

62 facility. 

63 (16) "Licensed facility" means a hospital , ambulatory 

64 surgical center , recovery care center, or mobile surgical 

65 facility licensed in accordance with this chapter. 

66 (23) "Premises " means those buildings, beds , and equipment 

67 located at the address of the licensed facility and all other 

68 buildings, beds , and equipment for the provision of hospital, 

69 ambulatory surgica l, recovery, or mobile surgical care located 

70 in such reasonable proximity to the address of the licensed 

71 facility as to appear to the public to be under the dominion and 

72 control of the licensee . For any licensee that is a teaching 

73 hospital as defined ins. 408 . 07(45) , reasonable proximity 

74 includes any bui l dings, beds , services, programs , and equipment 

75 under the dominion and control of the licensee that are located 

76 at a site with a main address that is within 1 mile of the main 

77 address of the licensed facility; and all such buildings, beds , 

78 and equipment may, at the request of a licensee or applicant, be 

Page 3 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 85 2016 

79 included on the fac il ity license as a single premises . 

80 (25) " Recovery care center " means a facility the primary 

81 purpose o f wh i ch i s to provide recovery care services , to which 

82 a pat i ent is admitted and discharged within 72 hours , and which 

83 is not pa r t of a hospital . 

84 (26) " Recovery care servi ces " means postsurg i cal and 

85 postdiagnos t ic medical and general nursing care provided to 

86 patients for whom acute care hospitalization i s not required and 

87 an uncomplicated recovery is reasonably expected . The term 

88 i nc l udes postsurgica l rehabil i tat i on services . The term does not 

89 include intensive care services , coronary care services , or 

90 critical care services . 

91 

92 

93 

94 

95 

96 

97 

98 

99 

100 

101 

102 

Section 3 . Subsection (1) of sect i on 395 . 003 , Florida 

Statutes , is amended to read : 

395 . 003 Licensure ; denial , suspension , and revocation . -

( 1) (a) The requirements of part I I of chapter 4 08 apply to 

the provision of services that require licensure pursuant to ss . 

395 . 001 - 395 . 1065 and part II of chapter 408 and to entities 

l i censed by or applying for such licensure from the Agency for 

Health Care Administrat i on pursuant toss . 395 . 001 - 395 .1 065 . A 

license issued by the agency is required in order to operate a 

hospital , a mbulatory surgical center , recovery care center , or 

mobile surg i cal facility i n this state . 

(b) 1 . It is un l awful for a person to use or advertise to 

103 the public , in any way or by any medium whatsoever , any facility 

104 as a " hospital ," " ambulatory surgical center ," " recovery care 

Page 4 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 85 2016 

105 center ," or "mobile surgical facility" unless such facility has 

106 first secured a license under the provisions of this part . 

107 2 . This part does not apply to veterinary hospitals or to 

108 commercial business establishments using the word "hospital, " 

109 " ambulatory surgical center ," " recovery care center ," or "mobile 

110 surgical facility " as a part of a trade name if no treatment of 

111 human beings is performed on the premises of such 

112 establishments . 

113 (c) Until July 1 , 2006 , additional emergency departments 

114 located off the premises of licensed hospitals may not be 

115 authorized by the agency. 

116 Section 4. Section 395 . 0171, Florida Statutes , is created 

117 to read: 

118 395.0171 Recovery care center admissions ; emergency and 

119 transfer protocols; discharge planning and protocols.-

120 (1) Admissions to a recovery care center shall be 

121 restricted to patients who need recovery care services . 

122 (2) Each patient must be certified by his or her attending 

123 or referring physician or by a physician on staff at the 

124 facility as medically stable and not in need of acute care 

125 hospitalization before admission . 

126 (3) A patient may be admitted for recovery care services 

127 upon discharge from a hospital or an ambulatory surgery center . 

128 A patient may also be admitted postdiagnosis and posttreatment 

129 for recovery care services . 

130 (4) A recovery care center must have emergency care and 

Page 5 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 85 

131 transfer protocol s , including transportation arrangements , and 

132 referra l or admission agreements with at least one hospital. 

133 (5) A recovery care center must have procedures for 

134 discharge planning and discharge protocols. 

2016 

135 (6) The agency may adopt rules to implement this section . 

136 Section 5 . Subsections (2) and (8) of section 395 . 1055, 

137 Florida Statutes, are amended , and subs e ction (10) is added to 

138 that section , to read : 

139 395 . 1055 Rules and enforcement .-

140 (2) Separate standards may be provided for general and 

141 specialty hospitals , ambulatory surgical centers , recovery care 

142 centers , mobile surgical facilities , and statutory rural 

143 hospitals as defined ins. 395 . 602 . 

144 (8) The agency may not adopt any rule governing the 

145 design , construct i on , erection, alteration , modification , 

146 repair, or demolition of any public or private hospital , 

147 intermediate residential treatment facility , recovery care 

148 center, or ambulatory surgical center . It is the intent of the 

14 9 Legislature to preempt that function to the Florida Building 

150 Commission and the State Fire Marshal through adoption and 

151 maintenance of the Florida Building Code and the Florida Fire 

152 Prevention Code . However , the agency shall provide technical 

153 assistance to the commission and the State Fire Marshal in 

154 updating the construction standards of the Fl o rida Building Code 

155 and the Florida Fire Prevention Code which govern hospitals, 

156 intermediate residential treatment facilities , recovery care 

Page 6 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 85 2016 

157 centers, and ambulatory surgical centers . 

158 (10) The agency shall adopt rules for recovery care 

159 centers which include fair and reasonable minimum standards for 

160 ensuring that recovery care centers have: 

161 (a) A dietetic department, service, or other similarly 

162 titled unit , either on the premises or under contract, which 

163 shall be organ ized, directed , and staffed to ensure the 

164 provision of appropriate nutritional care and quality food 

165 service. 

166 (b) Procedures to ensure the proper administration of 

167 medications . Such procedures shall address the prescribing, 

168 ordering , preparing , and dispensing of med i cations and 

169 appropriate monitoring of the effects of such medications on the 

170 patient . 

171 (c) A pharmacy , pharmaceutical department , or 

172 pharmaceutical service , or similarly titled unit, on the 

173 premises or under contract . 

174 Section 6 . Subsection (8) of section 395 .1 0973 , Florida 

175 Statutes , is amended to read: 

176 395 . 10973 Powers and duties of the agency .-It is the 

177 function o f the agency to : 

17 8 (8) Enforce the specia l-occupancy provisions of the 

17 9 Florida Building Code which apply to hospitals , intermediate 

180 residential treatment facilities, recovery care centers , and 

181 ambulatory surgical centers in conducting any inspection 

182 authorized by this chapter and part II of chapter 408 . 

Page 7 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 85 201 6 

183 Section 7 . Subsection (3) of section 395.301, Florida 

184 Statutes , is amended to read: 

185 395 . 301 Itemized patient bill; form and content prescribed 

186 by the agency; patient admission status notification. -

187 (3) On each itemized statement submitted pursuant to 

188 subsection (1) there shall appear the words "A FOR-PROFIT (or 

189 NOT - FOR- PROFIT or PUBLIC) HOSPITAL (or AMBULATORY SURGICAL 

190 CENTER or RECOVERY CARE CENTER) LICENSED BY THE STATE OF 

191 FLORIDA " or substantially similar words sufficient to identify 

192 clearly and plainly the ownership status of the licensed 

193 facility . Each itemized statement must prominently display the 

194 phone number of the medical facility ' s patient liaison who is 

195 responsible for expediting the resolution of any billing dispute 

196 between the patient , or his or her representative, and the 

197 billing department. 

198 Section 8. Subsection (30) is added to section 408 . 802 , 

199 Florida Statutes , to read: 

200 408 . 802 Applicability . -The provisions of this part apply 

201 to the provision of services that require licensure as defined 

202 in this part and to the following entities licensed , registered, 

203 or certified by the agency , as described in chapters 112, 383 , 

204 390 , 394, 395 , 400 , 429 , 440 , 483 , and 765 : 

205 (30) Recovery care centers , as provided under part I of 

206 chapter 395. 

207 Section 9 . Subsection (29) is added to section 408.820, 

208 Florida Statutes , to read : 

Page 8 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 85 

209 408 . 820 Exemptions. - Except as prescribed in authorizing 

210 s t atutes , the fol l owing exemptions sha l l apply to specified 

21 1 requirements of this part : 

212 (29) Recovery care centers , as provided under part I of 

213 chapter 395 , are exempt from s . 408 . 810(7) - (10). 

214 Section 10. Subsection (7) of section 394.4787 , Flor i da 

215 Sta t utes , is amended to read : 

216 394 . 4787 Def i nitions ; ss. 394 . 4786 , 394 . 4787 , 394 . 4788 , 

217 and 394 . 4789 .-As used in this section and ss . 394 . 4786 , 

218 394 . 4788 , a nd 394 . 4789 : 

219 (7) " Spec i alty psychiatric hospital " means a hospital 

2016 

220 licensed by the agency pursuant to s . 395 . 002(30) 395 . 002(28) 

221 and part II of c hapter 408 as a specialty psychiatric hospital . 

222 Section 11 . Paragraph (b) of subsect i on (1) of section 

223 409 . 975 , Florida Statu tes , is amended to read : 

224 409 . 975 Managed care p l an accountabi l ity .-In addition to 

225 the requirements of s . 409 . 967 , plans and p r oviders 

226 part icipating in the managed medical assistance program shall 

227 comp l y wi th t h e requirements of this section . 

228 (1) PROVIDER NETWORKS .-Managed care plans must develop and 

229 mai n ta i n provider networks that meet the medical needs of their 

230 enrol l ees i n accordance wi th standards established pursuant to 

231 s . 409 . 967 (2) (c) . Except as provided in this section , managed 

232 care plans may limi t the providers i n the i r ne t works based on 

233 c r edentials , quality indicators , and price . 

234 (b) Cer t ain providers are statewide r esour ces and 

Page 9 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB 85 201 6 

235 essential providers for all managed care plans in all regions . 

236 All managed care plans must include these essential providers in 

237 their networks. Statewide essential providers include: 

238 1 . Faculty plans of Florida medical schools . 

239 2. Regional perinatal intensive care centers as defined in 

240 s. 383.16(2). 

241 3. Hospitals licensed as specialty children ' s hospitals as 

242 defined ins. 395.002(30) 395 . 002(28). 

243 4. Accredited and integrated systems serving medically 

244 complex children that are comprised of separately licensed, but 

245 commonly owned, health care providers delivering at least the 

246 following services : medical group home , in - home and outpatient 

247 nursing care and therapies, pharmacy services, durable medical 

248 equipment , and Prescribed Pediatric Extended Care . 

249 

250 Managed care plans that have not contracted with all statewide 

251 essential providers in all regions as of the first date of 

252 recipient enrollment must continue to negotiate in good faith. 

253 Payments to physicians on the faculty of nonparticipating 

254 Florida medical schools shall be made at the applicable Medicaid 

255 rate. Payments for services rendered by regional perinatal 

256 intensive care centers shall be made at the applicable Medicaid 

257 rate as of the first day of the contract between the agency and 

258 the plan . Payments to nonparticipating specialty children's 

259 hospitals shall equal the highest rate established by contract 

260 between that provider and any other Medicaid managed care plan. 

Page 10 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0085-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 85 

261 Se c ti on 12 . Thi s act shal l take effect Jul y 1, 2016 . 

Page 11 of 11 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2016 

hb0085-00 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 423 Drug Prescription by Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners & Physician 
Assistants 
SPONSOR(S): Pigman and others 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

ACTION 

12 Y, 1 N 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST 

Siples 

Garner 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Pridgeon 

Unlike all other states in the U.S., Florida does not allow advanced registered nurse practitioners (ARNPs) to 
prescribe controlled substances and is one of two states that does not allow physician assistants (PAs) to 
prescribe controlled substances. 

The bill authorizes ARNPs to prescribe, dispense, order, and administer controlled substances, but only to the 
extent authorized under a supervising physician 's protocol. The bill also authorizes PAs to prescribe controlled 
substances that are not listed on the formulary established by the Council on Physician Assistants, under 
current supervisory standards. The bill subjects ARNPs and PAs to administrative disciplinary actions, such as 
fines or license suspensions, for violating standards of practice in law relating to prescribing and dispensing 
controlled substances. The bill adds specific prohibited acts related to the prescribing of controlled substances, 
which constitute grounds for denial of license or disciplinary action , into the Nurse Practice Act. 

The bill requires ARNPs and PAs who prescribe controlled substances for the treatment of chronic 
nonmalignant pain to meet certain registration and prescribing requirements , but prevents ARNPs and PAs 
from prescribing controlled substances in registered pain management clinics. 

The bill adds ARNPs and PAs into the definition of "practitioner" in the Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse 
Prevention and Control Act (Act) requiring compliance with the prescribing and dispensing requirements and 
limitations under the Act. 

The bill makes several technical and conforming changes and amends several statutes to recognize that an 
ARNP or a PA may be a prescriber of controlled substances. These include statutes relating to pilot licensure, 
criminal probation , and the state employees' prescription drug program. 

The bill may have an insignificant, negative fiscal impact on the Department of Health , however current existing 
budget authority is adequate to absorb it. There is no fiscal impact on local governments. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Physician Assistants 

Licensure and Regulation 

A physician assistant (PA) is a person who has completed an approved medical training program and is 
licensed to perform medical services, as delegated by a supervising physician. 1 The licensure of PAs in 
Florida is governed by ss. 458.347(7) and 459.022(7), F.S. The Department of Health (DOH) licenses 
PAs, and the Florida Council on Physician Assistants (Council) regulates the practice of PAs in 
conjunction with either the Florida Board of Medicine (Board of Medicine) for PAs licensed under ch. 
458, F.S. , or the Board of Osteopathic Medicine (Osteopathic Board) for PAs licensed under ch. 459, 
F.S. There are currently 7,987 PAs who hold active licenses in Florida.2 

To be licensed as a PAin Florida , an applicant must demonstrate to the Council that he or she has met 
the following requirements : 

• Satisfactory passage of the proficiency examination administered by the National Commission 
on Certification of Physician Assistants; 

• Completion of an application and remittance of the applicable fees to the DOH; 3 

• Completion of an approved PA training program; 
• Submission of a sworn statement of any prior felony convictions; 
• Submission of a sworn statement of any revocation or denial of licensure or certification in any 

state; 
• Submission of two letters of recommendation; and 
• If the applicant is seeking prescribing authority, a submission of a copy of course transcripts and 

the course description from a PA training program describing the course content in 
pharmacotherapy. 4 

Licenses are renewed biennially.5 At the time of renewal, a PA must demonstrate that he or she has 
met the continuing medical education requirements of 100 hours and must submit a sworn statement 
that he or she has not been convicted of any felony in the previous two years.6 If a PAis licensed as a 
prescribing PA, an additional 10 hours of continuing medical education in the specialty areas of his or 
her supervising physician must be completed .7 

Supervision of PAs 

A PA may only practice under the delegated authority of a supervising physician . A supervising 
physician may only delegate tasks and procedures to the PA that are within the supervising physician 's 

1 Sections 458.347(2)(e) and 459.022(2)(e), F.S . 
2 Email correspondence with the Department of Health on November 9, 2015. The number of active-l icensed PAs include both in-state 
and out-of-state licensees, as of November 9, 2015 . 
3 The application fee is $100 and the initial license fee is $200 . Applicants must also pay an unlicensed activity fee of $5. See Rules 
6488-30.019 and 64815-6.013, F.A.C. 
4 Sections 458.347(7) and 459.022(7), F.S . 
5 For timely renewed licenses, the renewa l fee is $275 and the prescribing registration fee is $150 . Additionally, at the time of renewal , 
the PA must pay an unlicensed activity fee of $5. See Rules 6488-30.019 and 64815-6.013, F .A. C. 
6 Sections 458.347(7)(c)-(d) and 459.022(7)(c)-(d) , F.S. 
7 Rules 6488-30 .005(6) and 64815-6.0035(6), F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



scope of practice.8 Supervision is defined as responsible supervision and control that requires the easy 
availability or physical presence of the licensed physician for consultation and direction of the PA.9 A 
physician may not supervise more than four PAs at any time. 10 

The Board of Medicine and the Osteopathic Board have prescribed by rule what constitutes adequate 
responsible supervision. Responsible supervision is the ability of a supervising physician to reasonably 
exercise control and provide direction over the services or tasks performed by the PA. 11 Whether the 
supervision of the PA is adequate is dependent on the: 

• Complexity of the task; 
• Risk to the patient; 
• Background , training, and skill of the PA; 
• Adequacy of the direction in terms of its form ; 
• Setting in which the tasks are performed; 
• Availability of the supervising physician ; 
• Necessity for immediate attention ; and 
• Number of other persons that the supervising physician must supervise.12 

The decision to permit a PA to perform a task or procedure under direct or indirect supervision is made 
by the supervising physician based on reasonable medical judgment regard ing the probability of 
morbidity and mortality to the patient. 13 Direct supervision refers to the physical presence of the 
supervising physician so that the physician is immediately available to the PA when needed. 14 Indirect 
supervision refers to the reasonable physical proximity of the supervising physician to the PA or 
availability by telecommunication .15 

Delegable Tasks 

Rules of both the Board of Medicine and the Osteopathic Board place limitations on a supervising 
physicians ability to delegate certain tasks. The following tasks are not permitted to be delegated to a 
PA, except when specifically authorized by statute: 

• Prescribing, dispensing, or compounding medicinal drugs; and 
• Final diagnosis. 16 

A supervising physician may delegate authority to a PA the authority to : 

• Prescribe or dispense any medicinal drug used in the supervising physician 's practice; 17 

• Order medicinal drugs for a hospitalized patient of the supervising physician; 18 and 
• Administer a medicinal drug under the direction and supervision of the physician. 

8 Rules 6488-30.012(1) and 64815-6.01 0(1 ), FAC. The term "scope of practice" refers to those tasks and procedures that the 
supervising physician is qualified by training or experience to support. 
9 Sections 458.347(2)(f) and 459.022(2)(f), F.S. 
10 Sections 458.347(3) and 459.022(3), F.S. 
11 Rules 6488-30 .001(3) and 64815-6.001(3), FAC. 
12 /d. 
13 Rules 6488-30 .012(2) and 64815-6.010(2), FAC. 
14 Rules 6488-30 .001(4) and 64815-6.001(4), FAC. 
15 Rules 6488-30 .001(5) and 64815-6.001(5), FAC. 
16 Supra note 12. 
17 Sections 458.347(4 )(f)1 ., F.S ., and 459 .022(4 )(e), F.S., directs the Council to establish a formulary listing the medical drugs that a 
PA may not prescribe. The formulary in Rules 6488-30.008 and 64815-6.0038, FAC., prohibits PAs from prescribing controlled 
substances, as defined in Chapter 893, F.S., general , spinal , or epidural anesthetics, and radiographic contrast materials. 
18 Sections 458.347(4)(g), and 459.022(4)(f) , F.S., provides that an order is not a prescription. 
STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Currently, PAs are prohibited from prescribing controlled substances, anesthetics, and radiographic 
contrast materials.19 However, physicians may delegate the authority to order controlled substances in 
facilities licensed under ch. 395, F.S.20 

Education of PAs 

According to the American Academy of Physician Assistants, all accredited PA educational programs 
include pharmacology courses, and the average amount of formal classroom instruction in 
pharmacology is 75 hours.21 Course topics, include pharmacokintetics, drug interactions, adverse 
effects, contraindications, indications, and dosage, generally by doctoral-level pharmacologists or 
clinical pharmacists.22 Additionally, pharmacology education occurs on all clinical clerkships or 
rotations. 23 

Regulation of Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners 

Part I of ch . 464, F.S. (Nurse Practice Act), governs the licensure and regulation of advanced 
registered nurse practitioners (ARNPs) in Florida. Nurses are licensed by the DOH and are regulated 
by the Board of Nursing.24 There are 22,003 actively licensed ARNPs in Florida.25 

In Florida, an ARNP is a licensed nurse who is certified in advanced or specialized nursing practice and 
may practice as a certified registered nurse anesthetist, a certified nurse midwife, or a nurse 
practitioner.26 Section 464.003(2), F.S., defines "advanced or specialized nursing practice" to include 
the performance of advanced-level nursing acts approved by the Board of Nursing, which by virtue of 
postbasic specialized education, training, and experience are appropriately performed by an ARNP.27 

Florida recognizes three types of ARNPs: nurse anesthetist, certified nurse midwife, and nurse 
practitioner. The Board of Nursing, created by s. 464.004, F.S., establishes the eligibility criteria for an 
applicant to be certified as an ARNP and the applicable regulatory standards for ARNP nursing 
practices.28 To be certified as an ARNP, the applicant must: 

• Have a registered nurse license; 
• Have earned, at least, a master's degree; and 
• Submit proof to the Board of Nursing of holding a current national advanced practice 

certification obtained from a board-approved nursing specialty board.29 

19 Rules 64B8-30.008, F.A.C., and 64B15-6.0038, F.A.C. 
20 Sections 458.347(4)(g), F.S., and 459.022(4)(f), F.S.; the facilities licensed inch. 395, F.S., include hospitals, ambulatory surgical 
centers, and mobile surgical facilities. 
21 American Academy of Physician Assistants, PAs as Prescribers of Controlled Medications, Professional Issues- Issue Brief (Dec. 
2013), available at https://www.aapa.org/workarea/downloadasset.aspx?id=2549 (last visited Nov. 19, 2015). 
22 /d. 
23 /d. 
24 Pursuant to s. 464.004, F.S., the Board of Nursing is comprised of 13 members appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the 
Senate who serve 4-year terms. The Board is comprised of three licensed practical nurses who have practiced for at least four years , 
seven members who are registered numbers who have practiced for at least 4 years; three Florida residents who have never been 
licensed as nurses, are not connected to the practice of nursing, and have no financial interest in any health care facility, agency, or 
insurer; and seven members who are registered nurses who have practiced at least four years. Among the seven members who are 
registered nurses, there must be at least one must be an ARNP, one nurse educator of an approved program, and one nurse executive. 
25 E-mail correspondence with the Department of Health (Nov. 9, 2015) (on file with committee staff). This number includes all active 
licenses, including out of state practitioners. 
26 Section 464.003(3), F.S . 
27 Section 464.003(2), F.S. 
28 Section 464.012(2), F.S. 
29 Section 464.012(1 ), F.S ., and Rule 64B9-4.002 , F.A.C. A nursing specialty board must attest to the competency of nurses in a clinical 
specialty area, require nurses to take a written examination prior to certification, require nurses to complete a formal program prior to 
eligibility of examination, maintain program accreditation, and identify standards or scope of practice statements appropriate for each 
nursing specialty. 
STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



All ARNPs must carry malpractice insurance or demonstrate proof of financial responsibility. 30 An 
applicant for certification is required to submit proof of coverage or financial responsibility within sixty 
days of certification and with each biennial renewal. 31 An ARNP must have professional liability 
coverage of at least $100,000 per claim with a minimum annual aggregate of at least $300,000, or an 
unexpired irrevocable letter of credit, which is payable to the ARNP as beneficiary, in the amount of at 
least $100,000 per claim with a minimum aggregate availability of at least $300,000.32 

Supervision of ARNPs 

Pursuant to s. 464.012(3), F.S., ARNPs may only perform nursing practices delineated in an 
established protocol filed with the Board of Nursing that is filed within 30 days of entering into a 
supervisory relationship with a physician and upon biennial license renewal. 33 Florida law allows a 
primary care physician to supervise ARNPs in up to four offices, in addition to the physician 's primary 
practice location. 34 If the physician provides specialty health care services, then only two medical 
offices, in addition to the physician 's primary practice location, may be supervised . 

The supervision limitations do not apply in the following facilities : 

• Hospitals; 
• Colleges of medicine or nursing; 
• Nonprofit family-planning clinics; 
• Rural and federally qualified health centers; 
• Nursing homes; 
• Assisted living facilities ; 
• Student health care centers or school health clinics; and 
• Other government facilities.35 

To ensure appropriate medical care , the number of ARNPs a supervis ing physician may supervise is 
limited based on consideration of the following factors : 

• Risk to the patient; 
• Educational preparation, specialty, and experience in relation to the supervising physician's 

protocol ; 
• Complexity and risk of the procedures; 
• Practice setting; and 
• Availability of the supervising physician or dentist.36 

Delegable Tasks 

Within the framework of a written physician protocol , an ARNP may: 

• Monitor and alter drug therapies; 
• Initiate appropriate therapies for certain conditions; 
• Order diagnostic tests and physical and occupational therapy; 
• Perform certain acts within his or her specialty; 
• Perform medical acts authorized by a joint committee; and 

30 Section 456.048, F.S. 
31 Rule 64B9-4.002(5), F.A.C. 
32 /d. 
33 Physicians are also required to provide notice of the written protocol and the supervisory relationship to the Board of Medicine or 
Board of Osteopathic Medicine, respectively . See ss. 458.348 and 459.025, F.S. 
34 Sections 458.348(4) and 459.025(3), F.S. 
35 Sections 458.348(4)(e), and 459.025(3)(e), F.S . 
36 Rule 64B9-4.010, F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE : 5 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



• Perform additional functions determined by rule . 37 

Florida law does not authorize ARNPs to prescribe, independently administer, or dispense controlled 
substances. 38 

Controlled Substances 

Controlled substances are drugs with the potential for abuse. Chapter 893, F.S., sets forth the Florida 
Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act (Act) and classifies controlled substances into 
five categories, known as schedules.39 The distinguishing factors between the different drug schedules 
are the "potential for abuse" of the substance and whether there is a currently accepted medical use for 
the substance. Schedules are used to regulate the manufacture, distribution, preparation and 
dispensing of the substances. The Act provides requirements for the prescribing and administering of 
controlled substances by health care practitioners and proper dispensing by pharmacists and health 
care practitioners.40 

Controlled Substance Prescribing for Nonmalignant Pain in Florida 

As of January 1, 2012, every physician , podiatrist, or dentist, who prescribes controlled substances in 
the state for the treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain ,41 must register as a controlled substance 
prescribing practitioner and comply with certain practice standards specified in statute and rule .42 

Before prescribing controlled substances for the treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain, a practitioner 
must: 

• Document certain characteristics about the nature of the patient's pain, success of past 
treatments, and a history of alcohol and substance abuse; 

• Develop a written plan for assessing the patient's risk for aberrant drug-related behavior and 
monitor such behavior throughout the course of controlled substance treatment; 

• Develop an written individualized treatment plan for each patient stating the objectives that will 
be used to determine treatment success; and 

• Enter into a controlled substance agreement with each patient that must be signed by the 
patient or their legal representative and by the prescribing practitioner. Such agreements must 
include: 

o The number and frequency of prescriptions and refills; 
o A statement outlining expectations for patience compliance and reasons for which the 

drug therapy may be discontinued, such as violation of the agreement; and 
o An agreement that the patient's chronic nonmalignant pain only be treated by a single 

treating practitioner unless otherwise authorized and documented in the medical 
record. 43 

Patients being treated with controlled substances for chronic nonmalignant pain must be seen by their 
prescribing practitioners at least once every three months to monitor progress and compliance, and 
detailed medical records relating to such treatment must be maintained.44 Patients at special risk for 
drug abuse or diversion may require consultation with or a referral to an addiction medicine physician or 

37 Section 464.012(3), F.S. Pursuant to s. 464.012(4), F.S ., certified registered nurse anesthetists, certified nurse midwives, and 
certified nurse practitioners are authorized to perform additional acts that are within their specialty and authorized under an established 
supervisory protocol. 
38 Sections 893.02(21) and 893 .05(1 ), F.S. The definition of practitioner does not include ARNPs. 
39 Sees. 893.03, F.S. 
40 Sections 893.04 and 893.05 , F.S . 
41 "Chronic nonmalignant pain" is defined as pain unrelated to cancer which persists beyond the usual course of disease or the injury 
that is the cause of the pain or more than 90 days after surgery. Section 456.44(1 )(e) , F.S. 
42 Chapter 2011-141 , s. 3, Laws of Fla . (creating ss. 456.44, F.S., effective July 1, 2011). 
43 Section 465.44(3), F .S. 
44 Section 465.44(3)(d), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 6 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



a psychiatrist.45 Anyone with signs or symptoms of substance abuse must be immediately referred to a 
pain-management physician , an addiction medicine specialist, or an addiction medicine facility. 46 

Drug Enforcement Administration 

The Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), housed within the U.S. Department of Justice, enforces 
the controlled substances laws and regulations of the United States, including preventing and 
investigating the diversion of controlled pharmaceuticals.47 

Any health care professional wishing to prescribe controlled substances must apply for a registration 
number from the DEA. Registration numbers are linked to state licenses and may be suspended or 
revoked upon any disciplinary action taken against a licensee.48 The DEA will grant registration 
numbers to a wide range of health care professionals, including physicians, nurse practitioners, 
physician assistants, optometrists, dentists, and veterinarians, but such professionals may only 
prescribe controlled substances as authorized under state law.49 The DEA provides that a controlled 
substance prescription may only be issued by a registered practitioner who is: 

• Authorized to prescribe controlled substances by the jurisdiction in which the practitioner is 
licensed to practice; and 

• Registered with the DEA, or exempt from registration (e.g. , Public Health Service, Federal 
Bureau of Prisons, or military practitioners); or 

• An qualified agent or employee of a hospital or other institution acting in the normal course of 
business or employment under the DEA registration number of the hospital or other institution 
which is registered in lieu of the individual practitioner being registered. 5° 

The DEA's Practitioner Manual includes requirements for valid prescriptions. The DEA defines 
"prescription" as an order for medication which is dispensed to or for an ultimate user, but is not an 
order for a medication dispensed for immediate administration to the user, such as an order to dispense 
a drug to a patient in a hospital setting. 51 

Other States' Controlled Substance Prescriptive Authority for ARNPs and PAs 

ARNPs 

An ARNP's ability to prescribe, dispense, or administer controlled substances is dependent on his or 
her specific state's law. Forty-nine states authorize ARNPs to prescribe controlled substances.52 

Twenty-one states and the District of Columbia allow an ARNP to practice independently, including 
evaluating, diagnosing, ordering , and interpreting diagnostic tests , and managing treatment, including 
prescribing medications, of a patient without physician supervision. 53 Twenty-two states specifically 
prohibit certified registered nurse anesthetists from prescribing controlled substances.54 

45 Section 465.44(3)(e), F.S. 
46 Section 456.44(3)(g), F .S. 
47Drug Enforcement Administration, About Us, available at http://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/lnside.html (last visited Nov. 15, 2015). 
48 Registration numbers must be renewed every three years. Drug Enforcement Administration , Practitioners Manual, 7(2006), available 
at http://www.deadiversion.usdoj .gov/pubs/manuals/pract/pract manual012508.pdf (last visited Nov.19, 2015). 
49 /d. at 7. 
50 DEA, Practitioner Manual, 18. 
51 /d. 
52 Drug Enforcement Agency, Mid-Level Practitioners Authorization by State (Nov. 10, 2015), available at 
http://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/drugreg/practioners/mlp by state.pdf {last visited Nov. 19, 2015). The Commonwealth of Puerto 
Rico also prohibits ARNPs from prescribing controlled substances. 
53 Alaska, Arizona , Colorado, Connecticut, Hawaii , Idaho, Iowa, Maine, Maryland, Minnesota , Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New 
Hampshire, New Mexico, North Dakota , Oregon , Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington, and Wyoming allow for independent practice. 
See American Association of Nurse Practitioners, State Practice Environment, available at https://www.aanp.org/leqislation
regulation/state-leqislation/state-practice-environment/66-legislation-regulation/state-practice-environment/1380-state-practice-by-type 
~last visited Nov. 19, 2015). 
4 American Association of Nurse Anesthetists, AANA Journal, June 2011 ; 79(3):235, on file with committee staff. 

STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 7 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Some states have specific limitations regarding ARNPs prescribing authority for schedule II controlled 
substances, 55 for example, 7 states authorize ARNPs to prescribe all levels of scheduled drugs, except 
for schedule II. Some states have specific education requirements for those ARNPs who wish to 
prescribe schedule II substances or require additional registration for ARNPs to be authorized to 
prescribe. 56 

PAs 

A PA's ability to prescribe, dispense, or administer controlled substances is dependent on their specific 
state's law. Forty-eight states authorize PAs to prescribe controlled substances within an agreement 
with a supervisory physician , with varying limitations on administration , dispensing , and independent 
prescribing .57 Of the 48 states, some have specific restrictions on PAs' prescribing authority for 
schedule II controlled substances; for example, Texas and Hawaii only authorize PAs to order schedule 
II controlled substances in an inpatient hospital setting. Some states have medication quantity 
restrictions on prescriptions for schedule II drugs and some states give PAs' prescriptive authority for 
all levels of scheduled drugs except for schedule 11. 58 Some states also have a formulary determined by 
the relevant PA licensing board which identifies the controlled substances that PAs are authorized to 
prescribe. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill authorizes PAs licensed under ch. 458, F.S., the Medical Practice Act or under ch. 459, F.S. , 
the Osteopathic Medical Practice Act, and ARNPs certified under part I of ch. 464, F.S. , the Nurse 
Practice Act, to prescribe controlled substances under current supervisory standards for PAs and 
protocols for ARNPs. 

Physician Assistants 

The bill authorizes PAs to prescribe controlled substances by removing the requirement that the 
formulary of medicinal drugs that a PA may not prescribe include controlled substances. However, 
because the formula~ is determined by the Council on Physician Assistants pursuant to s. 
458.347(4)(f)1., F.S..S the Council may elect to add controlled substances to the formulary, prohibiting 
PAs from prescribing them. 

The bill subjects PAs to administrative disciplinary actions ins. 456.072, F.S., such as fines or license 
suspensions for violating standards of practice in law relating to prescribing and dispensing controlled 
substances.60 

Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners 

The bill authorizes ARNPs, regulated under s. 464.012(3), F.S., to prescribe, dispense, order, or 
administer controlled substances, if allowed under a supervising physician 's protocol. The bill adds 
additional acts related to the prescribing of controlled substances into s. 464.018, F.S., which an ARNP 
is prohibited from performing and which , if performed , constitute grounds for denial of license or 
disciplinary actions. 

55 Supra note 51 . 
56 /d. 
57 /d. Every state, except Florida and Kentucky, has some form of controlled substance prescriptive authority for PAs. 
58 /d. 
59 Section 459.022( 4 )(e), F .S. , of the Osteopathic Medical Practice Act refers to the formulary in the Medical Practice Act. 
60 Disciplinary sanctions against physicians apply to PAs. Sections 458.347(7)(g) and 459.022(7)(g), F.S., state that the Board of 
Medicine or the Board of Osteopathic Medicine may impose any penalty authorized under ss. 456.072 , 458.332(2), and 459.015(2 ), 
F.S., on a PA if the PA or the supervising physician has been found guilty of any prohibited acts. 
STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 8 
DATE : 12/3/2015 



Section 456.072(7), F.S., is revised to include disciplinary actions against ARNPs including specific 
fines and license suspension, which mirror actions against physicians for prescribing or dispensing a 
controlled substance other than in the course of professional practice or for failing to meet practice 
standards. 

Controlled Substances 

The bill adds PAs and ARNPs to the definition of practitioner in ch. 893, F.S. , the Florida 
Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act (Act), thus requiring these practitioners to 
comply with the prescribing and dispensing requirements and limitations under the Act. This definition 
also requires practitioners to hold a valid federal DEA controlled substance registry number. 

The bill amends s. 456.44, F.S., to require a PA or ARNP who prescribes any controlled substance 
that is listed in schedule II, schedule Ill , or schedule IV, for the treatment of chronic nonmalignant 
pain to register himself or herself as a controlled substance prescribing practitioner on his or her 
practitioner profile maintained by the DOH and to meet other statutory requirements for such 
registrants. 61 The bill also replaces the terms physician and clinician with registrant throughout this 
section of law. The bill specifies that this registration is not required to prescribe medication in a facility 
licensed under ch. 395, F.S.62 

The bill amends sections regulating pain-management clinics under the Medical Practice Act and the 
Osteopathic Medical Practice Act to only authorize physicians licensed under ch. 458, F.S., or ch. 459, 
F.S., to prescribe controlled substances in a pain-management clinic. Accordingly, PAs and ARNPs are 
prohibited from prescribing controlled substances in pain-management clinics. 

The bill makes several conforming changes to various statutes to recognize the new prescribing 
authority for PAs and ARNPs. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1. Amends s. 110.12315, F.S., relating to prescription drug program. 
Section 2. Amends s. 310.071, F.S. , relating to deputy pilot certification . 
Section 3. Amends s. 310.073, F.S., relating to state pilot licensing . 
Section 4. Amends s. 310.081 , F.S., relating to department examination and licensure of state pilots 
and certification of deputy pilots; vacancies. 
Section 5. Amends s. 456.072, F.S., relating to grounds for discipline; penalties; enforcement. 
Section 6. Amends s. 456.44, F.S., relating to controlled substance prescrib ing. 
Section 7. Amends s. 458.3265, F.S., relating to pain-management clinics. 
Section 8. Amends s. 458.347, F.S ., relating to physician assistants. 
Section 9. Amends s. 459.0137, F.S., relating to pain-management clinics. 
Section 10. Amends s. 464.012, relating to certification of advanced registered nurse practitioners ; 
fees; controlled substance prescribing. 
Section 11. Amends s. 464.018, F.S., relating to disciplinary actions. 
Section 12. Amends s. 893.02, F.S., relating to definitions. 
Section 13. Amends s. 948.03, F.S., relating to terms and conditions of probation. 
Section 14. Reenacts s. 310.071, F.S., relating to deputy pilot certification. 
Section 15. Reenacts s. 458.331, F.S., relating to ground for discipline; action by the board and 
department; s. 458.347, F.S., relating to physician assistants; s. 459.022, F.S., relating to physician 
assistants; and s. 465.0158, relating to nonresident sterile compounding permit. 

61 
Currently, PAs do not have practitioner profiles. Practitioner profiles contain information about a practitioner's education, training , and 

r:ractice and are accessible to the public. If the bill is enacted, the Department will need to develop a profile for PAs. 
2 The facilities licensed under ch . 395, F.S. , include hospitals, ambulatory surgical centers, and mobile surgical facilities . 

STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE : 9 



Section 16. Reenacts s. 456.072, F.S. , relating to grounds for discipline; penalties; enforcement and s. 
466.02751, F.S., relating to establishment of practitioner profile for designation as a controlled 
substance prescribing practitioner. 
Section 17. Reenacts s. 458.303, F.S. , relating to provisions not applicable to other practitioners; 
exceptions, etc.; s. 458.347, F.S., relating to physician assistants; s. 458.3475, F.S., relating to 
anesthesiologist assistants; s. 459.022, F.S., relating to physician assistants; and s. 459.023, F.S., 
relating to relating to anesthesiologist assistants. 
Section 18. Reenacts s. 456.041 , F.S. , relating to practitioner profile; creation ; s. 458.348, F.S. , 
relating to formal supervisory relationships, standing orders, and established protocols; notice; 
standards; and s. 459.025, F.S., relating to relating to formal supervisory relationsh ips, standing orders, 
and established protocols; notice; standards. 
Section 19. Reenacts s. 464.008, F.S., relating to licensure by examination; s. 464.009, F.S., relating 
to licensure by endorsement; s. 464.018, F.S., relating to disciplinary actions; and s. 464.0205, F.S. , 
relating to retired volunteer nurse certificate. 
Section 20. Reenacts s. 775.051, F.S. , relating to voluntary intoxication; not a defense; evidence not 
admissible for certain purposes; exceptions. 
Section 21. Reenacts s. 944.17, F.S., relating to commitments and classification; transfers; s. 948.001, 
F.S., relating to definitions; and s. 948.101, F.S., relating to terms and conditions of community control. 
Section 22. Provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures : 

The bill may have an insignificant negative fiscal impact on the Department of Health associated 
with rulemaking , the creation of practitioner profiles for PAs, and workload impacts related to 
potential additional practitioner complaints and investigations. Current budget authority and 
revenues are adequate to absorb any additional workload. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Patients may see reduced health care costs and efficiencies in health care delivery as a result of having 
their health care needs more fully addressed by the PA or ARNP without specific additional involvement 
of a physician prescribing a needed controlled substance for treatment. Any such impacts are 
indeterminate. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE: 10 



Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision : 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The Board of Nursing, Board of Medicine, Board of Osteopathic Medicine, the Department of Health, 
and the Department of Management Services have sufficient rule-making authority to implement the 
provisions of the bill. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0423b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE: 11 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 2016 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to drug prescription by advanced 

3 registered nurse practitioners and physician 

4 assistants ; amending s . 110.12315 , F.S .; expanding the 

5 categories of persons who may prescr i be brand drugs 

6 under the prescription drug program when medically 

7 necessary ; amending ss . 310 . 071 , 310 . 073 , and 310 . 081 , 

8 F. S . ; exempting controlled substances prescribed by an 

9 advanced registered nurse practitioner or a physician 

10 assistant from the disqualifications for certification 

11 or licensure , and for continued certification or 

12 licensure , as a deputy or state pi l ot; amend i ng s . 

13 456 . 072 , F . S .; applying existing penalties for 

14 violation s relating to the prescribing or dispensing 

15 of controlled subs t ances to an advanced reg i stered 

16 nurse practitioner ; amending s . 456 . 44 , F . S .; deleting 

17 an obsolete date ; r equiring advanced registe r ed nurse 

18 practitioners and phys i cian assistants who prescribe 

19 controlled substances for c e rtain pa i n to make a 

20 certain designation , comply with registration 

21 requirements , and f ollow specified standards of 

22 practice ; providing applicability ; amending ss . 

23 458 . 3265 and 459 . 0137 , F . S .; limiting the authority to 

24 prescribe a controlled substance in a pain- management 

25 clinic t o a phys i c i an licensed under chapter 458 or 

26 chapter 459 , F . S .; amending s . 458 . 347 , F . S .; 

Page 1 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 423 2016 

27 expanding the prescribing authority of a licensed 

28 physician assistant; amending s. 464.012, F . S.; 

29 authorizing an advanced registered nurse practitioner 

30 to prescribe , dispense , administer, or order drugs, 

31 rather than to monitor and alter drug therapies; 

32 amending s . 464.018 , F . S.; specifying acts that 

33 constitute grounds for denial of a license for or 

34 disciplinary action against an advanced registered 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

51 

52 

nurse practitioner; amending s . 893 . 02, F.S.; 

redefining the term "practitioner " to include advanced 

registered nurse practitioners and physician 

assistants under the Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse 

Prevention and Control Act; amending s. 948 . 03 , F . S . ; 

providing that possession of drugs or narcotics 

prescribed by an advanced registered nurse 

practitioner or physician assistant is an exception 

from a prohibition relating to the possession of drugs 

or narcotics during probation; reenacting s. 

310 . 071(3) , F.S. , relating to deputy pilot 

certification , to incorporate the amendment made by 

the act to s . 310 . 071 , F . S ., in a reference thereto; 

reenacting ss . 458 . 331(10), 458 . 347(7) (g) , 

459.015(10) , 459.022(7) (f), and 465.0158(5 ) (b) , F . S. , 

relating to grounds for disciplinary action against 

certain licensed health care practitioners or 

applicants , physician assistant licensure, the 

Page 2 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 2016 

53 imposition of penalties upon physician assistants by 

54 the Board of Osteopathic Medicine , and nonresident 

55 sterile compounding permits , respectively , to 

56 incorporate the amendment made by the act to s . 

57 456 . 072 , F. S ., in references thereto ; reenacting ss. 

58 456 . 072(1) (mm) and 466.02751 , F . S ., relating to 

59 grounds for discipline of certain licensed health care 

60 practitioners or applicants and dentist practitioner 

61 profiles , respectively, to incorporate the amendment 

62 made by the act to s . 456 . 44 , F . S ., in references 

63 thereto ; reenacting ss . 458.303 , 458 . 347(4) (e) and 

64 (9) (c) , 458 . 3475(7) (b) , 459 . 022(4) (e) and (9) (c) , and 

65 459.0 23(7) (b) , F . S ., relating to the nonapplicability 

66 of certain provisions to specified health care 

67 practitioners , the prescribing or dispensing of 

68 medications by physician assistants , the duties of the 

69 Council on Physician Assistants , and the duties of the 

70 Board of Medicine and the Board of Osteopathic 

7 1 Medicine with respect to anesthesiologist assistants , 

72 respectively, to incorporate the amendment made by the 

73 act to s . 458 . 347 , F . S ., in references thereto ; 

74 reenacting ss . 456 . 041 (1) (a) , 458 . 348 (1) and (2) , and 

75 459 . 025(1) , F . S ., relating to practitioner profiles 

76 and notice and standards for formal supervisory 

77 relationships , standing o rders, and established 

78 protocols , respectively , to incorporate the amendment 

Page 3 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 2016 

79 made by the act to s . 464 . 012 , F . S ., in references 

80 thereto ; reenacting ss. 464 . 008(2) , 464 . 009(5), 

81 464 . 018(2) , and 464 . 0205(1) (b) , (3) , and (4) (b) , F . S ., 

82 relating to licensure by examination of registered 

83 nurses and licensed practical nurses , licensure by 

84 endorsement to practice professional or practica l 

85 nursing , disciplinary actions against nursing 

86 applicants or licensees , and retired volunteer nurse 

87 certifications , respectively , to incorporate the 

88 amendment made by the act to s . 464 . 018 , F . S ., in 

89 

90 

references thereto ; reenacting s . 775 . 051 , F.S. , 

relating to the exclusion as a defense and 

91 nonadmissibility as evidence of voluntary 

92 intoxication , to incorporate the amendment made by the 

93 act to s . 893 . 02 , F . S ., in a reference thereto ; 

94 r eenacting ss . 944 . 17(3) (a) , 948 . 001(8) , and 

95 948 . 101(1) (e) , F . S ., relating to the receipt by the 

96 s tate correctiona l system of certain persons sentenced 

97 to incarceration , t he definition of the term 

98 "probation ," and the terms and conditions of community 

99 control , respectively , to incorporate the amendment 

100 made by the act to s . 948 . 03 , F . S ., in references 

101 thereto ; providing an effective date . 

102 

103 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida : 

104 

Page 4 of 28 

CODING: Words strioken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 2016 

105 Section 1 . Subsection (7) of section 110.12315 , Florida 

106 Statutes , is amended to read : 

107 110 . 12315 Prescription drug program.-The state employees ' 

108 prescription drug program is established. This program shall be 

109 administered by the Department of Management Services , according 

110 to the terms and conditions of the plan as established by the 

111 relevant provisions of the annual General Appropriations Act and 

112 imp l ementing legislation , subject to the following conditions : 

113 (7) The department shall establish the reimbursement 

114 schedul e for prescription pharmaceuticals dispensed under the 

115 program. Reimbursement rates for a prescription pharmaceutical 

116 must be based on the cost of the generic equivalent drug if a 

117 generic equivalent exists , un l ess the physician , advanced 

118 registered nurse practitioner , or physician ass i stant 

119 prescribing the pharmaceutical clearly states on the 

120 prescription that the brand name drug is medically necessary or 

121 that the drug product is included on the formulary of drug 

122 products that may not be interchanged as provided in chapter 

123 465 , in which case reimbursement must be based on the cost of 

124 the brand name drug as specified in the reimbursement schedule 

12 5 adopted by the department. 

126 Section 2. Paragraph (c) of subsection (1) of section 

127 310.071 , Florida Statutes , is amended to read : 

128 310 . 071 Deputy pilot certification .-

129 (1) I n addition to meeting other requ i rements specified in 

130 this chapter , each applicant for certification as a deputy pilot 

Page 5 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 2016 

131 must : 

132 (c) Be in good physical and mental health , as evidenced by 

133 documentary proof of having satisfactorily passed a complete 

134 physical examination administered by a licensed physician within 

135 the preceding 6 months. The board shall adopt rules to establish 

136 requirements for passing the physical examination , which ru l es 

137 shall establish minimum standards for the physical or mental 

138 capabilities necessary to carry out the professional duties of a 

139 certificated deputy pilot . Such standards shall include zero 

140 tolerance for any controlled substance regulated under chapter 

141 893 unless that individual is under the care of a physicianL 

142 advanced registered nurse practitioner , or physician assistant 

143 and that controlled substance was prescribed by that physicianL 

144 advanced registered nurse practitioner , or physician assistant. 

145 To maintain eligibility as a certificated deputy pilot , each 

146 certificated deputy pilot must annually provide documentary 

147 proof of having satisfactorily passed a complete physical 

148 examination administered by a licensed physician . The physician 

149 must know the minimum standards and certify that the 

150 certificateholder satisfactorily meets the standards . The 

151 standards for certificateholders shall include a drug test . 

152 Section 3 . Subsection (3) of section 310.073 , Florida 

153 Statutes , is amended to read : 

154 310 . 073 State pilot licensing .-In addition to meeting 

155 other requirements specified in this chapter , each applicant for 

156 license as a state pilot must : 

Page 6 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB423 2016 

157 (3) Be in good physical and mental health , as evidenced by 

158 documentary proof of having satisfactorily passed a complete 

159 physical examination administered by a licensed physician within 

160 the preceding 6 months. The board shall adopt rules to establish 

161 requirements for passing the physical examination, which rules 

162 shall establish min i mum standards for the physical or mental 

163 capabilities necessary to carry out the professional duties of a 

164 licensed state pilot . Such standards shall include zero 

165 tolerance for any controlled substance regulated under chapter 

166 893 unless that individual is under the care of a physicianL 

167 advanced registered nurse practitioner, or physician assistant 

168 and that controlled substance was prescribed by that physicianL 

169 advanced registered nurse practitioner , or physician assistant. 

170 To maintain eligibility as a licensed state pilot , each licensed 

171 state pilot must annual l y provide documentary proof of having 

172 satisfactorily passed a complete physical examination 

173 administered by a licensed physician . The physician must know 

174 the minimum standards and certify that the licensee 

175 satisfactorily meets the standards. The standards for licensees 

176 shall include a drug test. 

177 Section 4 . Paragraph (b) of subsection (3 ) of section 

178 310.081 , Fl orida Statutes , is amended to read : 

179 310 . 081 Department to examine and license state pilots and 

180 certificate deputy pilots; vacancies. -

181 (3) Pilots shall hold their licenses or certificates 

182 pursuant to the requirements of this chapter so long as they : 

Page 7 of 28 

CODING: Words strioken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 2016 

183 (b) Are in good physical and mental health as evidenced by 

184 documentary proof of having satisfactorily passed a physical 

185 examination administered by a licensed physician or physician 

186 assistant within each calendar year. The board shall adopt rules 

187 to establish requirements for passing the physical examination , 

188 which rules shall establish minimum standards for the physical 

189 or mental capabilities necessary to carry out the professional 

190 duties of a licensed state pilot or a certificated deputy pilot . 

191 Such standards shall include zero tolerance for any controlled 

192 substance regulated under chapter 893 unless that individual is 

193 under the care of a physician , advanced registered nurse 

194 practitioner , or physician assistant and that controlled 

195 substance was prescribed by that physician , advanced registered 

196 nurse practitioner , or physician assistant . To maintain 

197 eligibility as a certificated deputy pilot or licensed state 

198 pilot , each certificated deputy pilot or licensed state pilot 

199 must annually provide documentary proof of having satisfactorily 

200 passed a complete physical examination administered by a 

201 licensed physician . The physician must know the minimum 

202 standards and certify that the certificateholder or licensee 

203 satisfactorily meets the standards. The standards for 

204 certificateholders and for licensees shall include a drug test . 

205 

206 Upon resignation or in the case of disability permanently 

207 affecting a pilot ' s ability to serve , the state license or 

208 certificate issued under this chapter shall be revoked by the 

Page 8 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB423 2016 

209 department . 

210 Section 5 . Subsection (7) of section 456 . 072 , Florida 

211 Statutes , is amended to read : 

212 456 . 072 Grounds for discipline ; penalties ; enforcement .-

213 (7) Notwithstanding subsection (2) , upon a finding that a 

214 physic i an has prescribed or dispensed a contro l led substance , or 

215 caused a controlled substance to be prescr ibed or dispensed , in 

216 a manner that violates the standard of practice set forth in s . 

217 458 . 331(1) (q) or (t) , s . 459 . 015(1) (t) or (x) , s . 461.013(1) (o) 

218 or (s) , or s . 466.028 (1) (p) or (x) , or that an advanced 

219 registered nurse practitioner has prescribed or dispensed a 

220 controlled substance , or caused a controlled substance to be 

221 prescr i bed or dispensed , in a manner that violates the standard 

222 of practice set forth ins . 464 . 018(1) (n) or (p)6 ., the 

223 physician or advanced registered nurse practitioner shall be 

224 suspended for a period of not less than 6 months and pay a fine 

225 of not less than $10 , 000 per count . Repeated violations shall 

226 result in increased pena l ties . 

227 Section 6 . Subsections (2) and (3) of section 456 . 44 , 

228 Florida Statutes , are amended to read : 

229 456 . 44 Controlled substance prescribing . -

230 (2) REGISTRATION . Effee t ive Janua ry 1 , 20 12 , A physician 

231 licensed under chapter 458 , chapter 459 , chapter 461 , or chapter 

232 466 , a physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 

233 459 , or an advanced registered nurse practitioner certified 

234 under part I of chapter 464 who prescribes any controlled 

Page 9 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 423 

235 substance , listed in Schedule II , Schedule III , or Schedule IV 

236 as defined in s. 893 . 03 , for the treatment of chronic 

237 nonmalignant pain , must : 

2016 

238 (a) Designate himself or herself as a controlled substance 

239 prescribing practitioner on his or her t he physician ' s 

240 practitioner profile . 

241 (b) Comply with the requirements of this section and 

242 applicable board rules . 

243 (3) STANDARDS OF PRACTICE . -The standards of practice in 

244 this section do not supersede the level of care , skill , and 

245 treatment recognized in general law related to health care 

246 licensure . 

247 (a) A complete medical history and a physical examination 

248 must be conducted before beginning any treatment and must be 

249 documented in the medical record . The exact components of the 

250 phys i cal examination shall be left to the judgment of the 

251 registrant clinician who is expected to perform a physical 

252 examination proportionate to the diagnosis that justifies a 

253 treatment . The medical record must , at a mi nimum , document the 

254 nature and intensity of the pain , current and past treatments 

255 for pain , underlying or coexisting diseases or conditions , the 

256 effect of the pain on physical and psychological function , a 

257 review of previous medica l records , previous diagnostic studies , 

258 and history of alcohol and substance abuse . The medical record 

259 shall also document the presence of one or more recognized 

260 medical indications for the use of a controlled substance . Each 

Page 10 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 

261 registrant must develop a written plan for assessing each 

262 patient ' s risk of aberrant drug- related behavior , which may 

263 include patient drug testing . Registrants must assess each 

264 patient ' s risk for aberrant drug-related behavior and monitor 

265 that risk on an ongoing basis in accordance with the plan. 

2016 

266 (b) Each regi strant must develop a written individualized 

267 treatment plan for each patient. The treatment plan shall state 

268 objectives that wil l be used to determine treatment success , 

269 such as pain re l ief and improved physical and psychosocial 

270 funct i on , and shall indicate if any further d i agnostic 

271 evaluations or other treatments are planned . After treatment 

272 begins , the registrant physician shall ad j ust drug therapy to 

273 the individual medical needs of each patient . Other treatment 

274 modalities , includi ng a rehabilitat i on program, shall be 

275 considered depend i ng on the etiology of the pain and the extent 

276 to which the pain is associated wi th physical and psychosocial 

277 impairment . The i n terdisciplinary nature of the t reatment plan 

278 shall be documented . 

279 (c) The registrant phys i c i an shall discuss the risks and 

280 benefits of the use of contro l led substances , including the 

281 risks of abuse and addiction , as well as phys i cal dependence and 

282 its consequences , wi th the patient , persons designated by the 

283 patient , or the patient ' s surrogate or guardian if the patient 

284 i s incompetent . The registrant phys i c i an shall use a written 

285 controlled substance agreement between the reg i strant physici a n 

286 and the pat i ent outlining the patient ' s responsibilities , 

Page 11 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB423 2016 

287 including, but not limited to : 

288 1 . Number and frequency of controlled substance 

289 prescriptions and refills. 

290 2 . Patient compliance and reasons for which drug therapy 

291 may be discontinued, such as a violation of the agreement. 

292 3. An agreement that controlled substances for the 

293 treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain shall be prescribed by a 

294 single treating registrant physician unless otherwise authorized 

295 by the treating registrant physician and documented in the 

296 medical record. 

297 (d) The patient shall be seen by the registrant physician 

298 at regular intervals, not to exceed 3 months , to assess the 

299 eff i cacy of treatment, ensure that controlled substance therapy 

300 remains indicated, evaluate the patient ' s progress toward 

301 treatment objectives, consider adverse drug effects , and review 

302 the etiology of the pain . Continuation or modification of 

303 therapy shall depend on the registrant's physician's evaluation 

304 of the patient's progress. If treatment goals are not being 

305 achieved , despite medication adjustments , the registrant 

306 physic i an shall reevaluate the appropriateness of continued 

307 treatment . The registrant physician shall monitor patient 

308 compliance in medication usage , related treatment plans, 

309 controlled substance agreements , and indications of substance 

310 abuse or diversion at a minimum of 3- month intervals . 

311 (e) The registrant physician shall refer the patient as 

312 necessary for additional evaluation and treatment in order to 

Page 12 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 423 201 6 

313 achieve t r eatment objectives. Special attention shall be given 

314 to those patients who are at risk for misusing their medications 

315 and those whose living arrangements pose a risk for medication 

316 misuse or diversion. The management of pain in patients with a 

317 history of substance abuse or with a comorbid psychiatric 

318 disorder requires extra care, monitoring , and documentation and 

319 requires consultation with or referral to an addiction medicine 

320 specialist or psychiatrist . 

321 (f) A registrant physic i an registered under this section 

322 must maintain accurate , current , and complete records that are 

323 accessible and readily available for review and comply with the 

324 requirements of this section , the applicable practice act, and 

325 applicable board rules. The medical records must include, but 

326 are not limited to : 

327 1 . The comp l ete medical history and a physical 

328 examination , including history of drug abuse or dependence. 

329 2. Diagnostic , therapeutic , and laboratory results. 

330 

331 

332 

333 

3 . Evaluations and consultations . 

4 . Treatment objectives. 

5 . Discussion of r i sks and benefits . 

6 . Treatments . 

334 7. Medications , including date , type, dosage , and quantity 

335 prescribed . 

336 8 . Instructions and agreements . 

337 

338 

9 . Periodic reviews . 

10 . Results of any drug testing. 

Page 13 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB423 2016 

339 11. A photocopy of the patient ' s government - issued photo 

340 identification . 

341 

342 

343 

344 

345 

346 

347 

348 

349 

350 

351 

352 

353 

354 

355 

356 

357 

358 

359 

360 

361 

362 

363 

364 

12. If a written prescription for a control l ed substance 

is given to the patient , a duplicate of the prescription . 

13 . The registrant ' s physic i an ' s full name presented in a 

legible manner . 

(g) Patients with signs or symptoms of substance abuse 

shall be immediately referred to a board- certified pain 

management physician , an addiction medicine specialist, or a 

mental health addiction facility as it pertains to drug abuse or 

addiction unless the registrant is a physician who is board 

certified board certified or board eligible board el i gible in 

pain management. Throughout the period of time before receiving 

the consultant ' s report , a prescribing registrant physician 

shall clearly and completely document medical justification for 

cont i nued treatment with controlled substances and those steps 

taken to ensure medically appropriate use of controlled 

substances by the patient. Upon receipt of the consultant ' s 

written report , the prescribing registrant physician shall 

incorporate the consultant ' s recommendations for continuing, 

modifying, or discontinuing controlled substance therapy . The 

resulting changes in treatment shall be specifically documented 

in the patient ' s medical record . Evidence or behavioral 

ind i cations of diversion shall be followed by discontinuation of 

controlled s ubstance therapy , and the patient shall be 

discharged , and all results of testing and actions taken by the 

Page 14 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 

365 registrant physieian shall be documented in the patient ' s 

3 66 medical record . 

367 

368 This subsection does not apply to a board- eligible or board-

369 certified anesthesiologist , physiatrist , rheumatologist , or 

2016 

370 neurolog i st , or to a board-certified physician who has surg i cal 

371 privileges at a hospital or ambulatory surgery center and 

372 primarily provides surgical services . This subsection does not 

373 apply to a board- eligible or board- certified medical specialist 

374 who has also completed a fellowship in pain medicine approved by 

375 the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education or the 

376 American Osteopathic Association , or who is board eligible or 

377 board certified in pa i n medi cine by the American Board of Pain 

378 Medic i ne or a board approved by the American Board of Medical 

379 Specialties or the American Osteopathic Association and performs 

380 interventional pain procedures o f the type routinely billed 

381 using surgical codes . This subsection does not apply to a 

382 reg i strant , physician , advanced registered nurse practitioner , 

383 or physician assistant who prescribes medically necessary 

384 controlled substances for a patient during an inpatient stay in 

385 a hospital licensed under chapter 395 . 

386 Section 7 . Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 

387 458 . 3265 , Florida Statutes , is amended to read : 

388 458 . 3265 Pain- management clinics .-

389 (2) PHYSIC IAN RESPONSIBILITIES . -These responsibilities 

390 apply to any physician who provides professional services in a 

Page 15 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB423 

391 pain-management clinic that is required to be registered in 

392 subsection (1). 

393 (b) A person may not dispense any medication on the 

2016 

394 premises of a registered pain- management clinic unless he or she 

395 is a physician licensed under this chapter or chapter 459 . ~ 

396 person may not prescribe any controlled substance regulated 

397 under chapter 893 on the premises of a registered pain-

398 management clinic unless he or she is a physician li censed under 

399 this chapte r or chapter 459 . 

400 Section 8 . Paragraph (f) o f subsection (4) of section 

401 458 . 347 , Florida Statutes , is amended to read : 

402 458.347 Physician assistants .-

403 (4) PERFORMANCE OF PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS.-

404 (f) 1. The council shall establish a formulary of medicinal 

405 drugs that a fully licensed physician assistant having 

406 prescribing authority under this section or s . 459 . 022 may not 

407 prescribe. The formulary must include control l ed substances as 

408 defined in chapter 893, general anesthetics7 and radiographic 

409 contrast mater i als. 

410 2 . In establishing the formulary, the council shall 

411 consult with a pharmacist licensed under chapter 465 , but not 

412 licensed under this chapter or chapter 459 , who shall be 

413 selected by the State Surgeon General. 

414 3 . On ly the counci l shall add to , delete fr om , or modify 

415 the formulary . Any person who requests an addition, deletion , or 

41 6 modification of a medi cina l drug listed on such formulary has 

Page 16 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 

417 the burden of proof to show cause why such addition , deletion, 

418 or modification should be made. 

419 4 . The boards shall adopt the formulary required by this 

2016 

420 paragraph , and each addition , deletion, or modification to the 

421 formulary, by rule. Notwithstanding any provision of chapter 120 

422 to the contrary, the formulary rule shall be effective 60 days 

423 after the date it is filed with the Secretary of State . Upon 

424 adoption of the formulary , the department shall mail a copy of 

425 such formulary to each fully licensed physician assistant having 

426 prescribing authority under this section or s . 459 . 022 , and to 

427 each pharmacy licensed by the state. The boards shall establish , 

428 by rule , a fee not to exceed $200 to fund the provisions of this 

429 paragraph and paragraph (e) . 

430 Section 9 . Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of section 

431 459.0137, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 

432 459.0137 Pain- management clinics .-

433 (2) PHYSICIAN RESPONSIBILI TIES . -These responsibilities 

434 apply to any osteopathic physician who provides professional 

435 services in a pain- management c lini c that is required t o be 

436 registered in subsection (1) . 

437 (b) A person ma y not d ispense any medication on the 

438 premises of a registered pain- management cl inic unless he or she 

439 is a physician licensed under this chapter or chapter 458. ~ 

440 person may not prescribe any controlled substance regulated 

441 under chapter 893 on the premises o f a registered pain-

442 management clinic unless he or she is a physician licensed under 

Page 17 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB423 2016 

443 this chapter or chapter 458 . 

444 Section 10. Section 464 . 012 , Florida Statutes, is amended 

445 to read: 

446 464 . 012 Certification of advanced registered nurse 

447 practitioners ; fees ; controlled substance prescribing .-

448 (1) Any nurse desiring to be certified as an advanced 

449 registered nurse practitioner shall apply to the department and 

450 submit proof that he or she holds a current license to practice 

451 professional nursing and that he or she meets one or more of the 

452 following requirements as determined by the board: 

453 (a) Satisfactory completion of a formal postbasic 

454 educationa l program of at least one academic year , the primary 

455 purpose of which is to prepare nurses for advanced or 

456 specialized practice . 

457 (b) Certification by an appropriate specialty board. Such 

458 certification shall be required for initial state certification 

459 and any recertification as a registered nurse anesthetist or 

460 nurse midwife. The board may by rule provide for provisional 

461 state certification of graduate nurse anesthetists and nurse 

462 midwives for a period of time determined to be appropriate for 

463 preparing for and passing the national certification 

464 examination . 

465 (c) Graduation from a program leading to a master ' s degree 

466 in a nursing cl i nical specialty area with preparation in 

467 specialized practitioner skills. For applicants graduating on or 

468 after October 1 , 1998 , graduation from a master ' s degree program 

Page 18 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

H8 423 

469 shall be required for initial certification as a nurse 

4 70 practitioner under paragraph ( 4) (c) . For applicants graduating 

471 on or after October 1, 2001 , graduation from a master's degree 

472 program shall be required for initial certification as a 

4 7 3 registered nurse anesthetist under paragraph ( 4) (a) . 

474 (2) The board shall provide by rule the appropriate 

201 6 

475 requirements for advanced registered nurse practitioners in the 

476 categories of certified registered nurse anesthetist , certified 

477 nurse midwife , and nurse practitioner . 

478 (3) An advanced registered nurse practitioner shall 

479 perform those functions authorized in this section within the 

480 framework of an established protocol that is filed with the 

481 board upon biennial l i cense renewal and within 30 days after 

482 entering into a supervisory relationship with a physician or 

483 changes to the protocol . The board shall review the protocol to 

484 ensure compliance with applicable regulatory standards for 

485 protoco l s. The board shall refer to the department l icensees 

486 submitting protocols that are not compliant with the regulatory 

487 standards for protocols. A practitioner currently licensed under 

488 chapter 458 , chapter 459 , or chapter 466 shall maintain 

489 supervision for directing the specific course of medical 

490 treatment. Within the established framework , an advanced 

491 registered nurse practitioner may : 

492 (a) Prescribe , dispense, administer , or order any Hon i tor 

493 and a l ter drug therap i es . 

494 (b) Initiate appropriate therapies for certain conditions . 

Page 19 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESEN T ATIVES 

HB423 

495 (c) Perform additional functions as may be determined by 

496 rule in accordance with s . 464.003(2). 

497 (d) Order diagnostic tests and physical and occupational 

4 98 therapy . 

499 (4) In addition to the general functions specif i ed in 

500 subsection (3) , an advanced registered nurse practitioner may 

50 1 perform the following acts within his or her specialty : 

2016 

502 (a) The cert i fied registered nurse anesthet i st may , to the 

503 extent authorized by established protocol approved by the 

504 medical staff of the facility in wh i ch the anesthetic service is 

505 performed , perform any or all of the following : 

506 1 . Determine the health status of the patient as it 

507 relates to the risk f actors and to the anesthetic management of 

508 the patient throu gh the performance of the general functions. 

509 2 . Based on history , physical assessment , and supplemental 

510 laboratory results , determine , wi th the consent of the 

511 responsible phys i cian , the appropriate type of anesthesia within 

512 the framework of the protocol. 

513 3 . Order under the protocol preanesthe t ic medica t ion . 

514 4 . Perform under the protocol procedures commonly used to 

515 render the patient insensible to pain during the performance of 

516 surgical , obstetrical , therapeutic , or diagnostic clinica l 

517 procedures . These procedures include ordering and administering 

518 regional , spina l, and general anesthesia; inha l at i on agents and 

519 techniques ; intravenous agents and techniques ; and techn i ques of 

520 hypnosis. 

Page 20 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 

521 5 . Order or perform monitoring procedures indicated as 

522 pertinent to the anesthetic health care management of the 

523 patient . 

524 6 . Support life functions during anesthesia health care, 

525 including induction and intubation procedures , the use of 

201 6 

526 appropriate mechanical supportive devices, and the management of 

527 fluid, electrolyte, and blood component balances . 

528 7. Recognize and take appropriate corrective action for 

529 abnormal patient responses to anesthesia, adjunctive medication, 

530 or other forms of therapy. 

531 8. Recognize and treat a cardiac arrhythmia while the 

532 patient is under anesthetic care . 

533 9. Participate in management of the patient while in the 

534 postanesthesia recovery area , including ordering the 

535 administration of fluids and drugs. 

536 10. Place special peripheral and central venous and 

537 arterial lines for blood sampling and monitoring as appropriate. 

538 (b) The certified nurse midwife may, to the extent 

539 authorized by an established protocol which has been approved by 

540 the medical staff of the health care facility in which the 

541 midwifery services are performed, or approved by the nurse 

542 midwife's physician backup when the delivery is performed in a 

543 patient's home , perform any or all of the following: 

1. Perform superficial minor surgical procedures. 544 

545 2 . Manage the patient during labor and delivery to include 

546 amniotomy, episiotomy , and repair. 

Page 21 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 

547 3 . Order , initiate , and perform appropriate anesthetic 

548 procedu res . 

549 

550 

551 

552 

4 . Perform postpartum examination . 

5 . Order appropriate medications . 

6 . Provide family - planning services and well - woman care . 

7 . Manage t he med i cal care of the norma l obstetrica l 

553 patient a nd the initial care of a newborn patient. 

554 (c) The nurse practitioner may perform any or all of the 

555 following acts within the framework of established protocol : 

556 1 . Manage selected medical problems . 

557 2 . Order physical and occupational therapy . 

558 3 . Init i ate , monitor , or alter t h e rap i es for certa i n 

559 uncomplicated acute i llnesses . 

560 4 . Monitor and manage patients with stable chronic 

5 61 diseases . 

562 5 . Establish behavioral problems and diagnos i s and make 

563 treatment recommendations . 

564 (5) The board sha l l certify , and the department shal l 

2016 

565 issue a certificate to , any nurse meeting the qualifications in 

566 this section. The board shall establish an application fee not 

567 to exceed $100 and a biennial renewal fee not to exceed $50 . The 

568 board i s authorized to adopt such other ru l es as are necessary 

569 to implement the provisions of this section . 

570 Section 11 . Paragraph (p) is added to subsection (1) of 

571 sect i on 464 . 018 , Fl orida Statutes , to read : 

572 464 . 018 Disciplinary actions . -

Page 22 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB 423 2016 

573 (1) The following acts constitute grounds for denial of a 

574 license or disciplinary action, as specified ins . 456.072(2) : 

575 

576 

(p) For an advanced registered nurse practitioner: 

1 . Presigning blank prescription forms . 

577 2 . Prescribing for office use any medicinal drug appearing 

578 on Schedule II in chapter 893 . 

579 3 . Prescribing, ordering, dispensing, administering , 

580 supplying , selling , or giving a drug that is an amphetamine or a 

581 sympathomimetic amine drug, or a compound designated pursuant to 

582 chapter 893 as a Schedule II controlled substance, to or for any 

583 person except for: 

584 a . The treatment of narcolepsy ; hyperkinesis; behavioral 

585 syndrome in children characterized by the developmentally 

586 inappropriate symptoms of moderate to severe distractibility , 

587 short attention span , hyperactivity , emotional lability, and 

588 impulsivity ; or drug-induced brain dysfunction . 

589 b. The differential diagnostic psychiatric evaluation of 

590 depression or the treatment of depression shown to be refractory 

591 to other therapeutic modalities . 

592 c . The clinical investigation of the effects of such drugs 

593 or compounds when an investigative protocol is submitted to , 

594 reviewed by , and approved by the department before such 

595 investigation is begun. 

596 4. Prescribing , ordering , dispensing , admin i stering , 

597 supplying , selling , or giving growth hormones, testosterone or 

598 its analogs , human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG), or other 

Page 23 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 

599 hormone s for the purpose of muscle buildin g or t o e nhance 

600 athlet i c performance . As used in this subparagraph , the term 

601 "muscle bui l ding " does not include the treatment of injured 

602 muscle. A prescription written for the drug products listed in 

603 thi s paragraph may be d i spensed by a pharmacist with the 

2016 

604 presumption that the prescription is for legitimate medica l use. 

605 5 . Promoting or advertis i ng on any prescription form a 

606 community pharmacy unless the form also states : " This 

607 prescription may be filled at any pharmacy of your choice ." 

608 6. Prescrib ing , dispensing , administering , mixing , or 

609 otherwi se preparing a legend drug , including a controlled 

610 substance , other than in the course of his or her professional 

611 practice . For the purposes of this subparagraph , it is legally 

612 presumed that prescribing , dispensing, admi nistering , mixing , or 

613 otherwise preparing legend drugs , including all control l ed 

614 substances , inappropriately or in excessive or inappropriate 

615 quantit i es is not in the best i nterest of the patient and is not 

616 in the course of the advanced registered nurse practitioner ' s 

617 profess i ona l practice , without regard to his or her intent . 

618 7 . Prescribing , d i spensing , or administering a medicinal 

619 drug appea r ing on any schedule set forth in chapter 893 to 

620 himself or herself , except a drug prescr i bed , dispensed , or 

621 admin i stered to the advance d reg i stered nurse practitioner by 

622 another prac t itioner authorized to prescribe , dispense , or 

623 administer medicina l drugs . 

624 8 . Prescribing , ordering , dispensing , administering , 

Page 24 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 

625 supplying, selling, or giving amygdalin (laetrile) to any 

626 person. 

2016 

627 9 . Dispensing a controlled substance listed on Schedul e II 

628 or Schedul e III in chapter 893 in vio lation of s. 465.0276 . 

629 10. Promoting or advertising through any communication 

630 medium the use, sale , or dispensing o f a control led substance 

631 appearing on any schedule in chapte r 893. 

632 Section 12 . . Subsection (21) of section 893 . 02 , Florida 

633 Statutes, is amended to read: 

634 893.02 Defin i tions .-The fol l owing words and phrases as 

635 used in this chapter shall have the following meanings , unless 

636 the context otherwise requires : 

637 (21) " Practitioner " means a physician licensed under 

638 pursuant t o chapter 458 , a dentist licensed under pursuant to 

639 chapter 466 , a veter inarian licensed under pursuant to chapter 

640 474 , an osteopathic physician licensed under pursuant to chapter 

641 459 , an advanced registered nurse practitioner certified under 

642 chapter 464, a naturopa th licensed under pursuant to chapter 

643 462, a certified optometrist licensed under pursuant to chapter 

644 463 , B£ a podiatr i c physician licensed under pursuant to chapter 

645 461 , or a physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or 

646 chapter 459, provided such practitioner holds a valid federal 

647 cont rolled substance regis try number . 

648 Section 13. Paragraph (n) o f subsection (1) of section 

649 948.03 , Flor ida Statutes , is amended to read : 

650 948.03 Terms and conditions of probation . -

Page 25 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB 423 2016 

651 (1) The court shall determine the terms and condit i ons of 

652 probation . Conditions specified in this section do not require 

653 oral pronouncement at the time of sentencing and may be 

654 considered standard conditions of probation . These conditions 

655 may include among them the following , that the probationer or 

656 offender in community control shall : 

657 (n) Be prohibited from using intoxicants to excess or 

658 possessing any drugs or narcotics unless prescribed by a 

659 physician , advanced registered nurse practitioner , or physician 

660 assistant . The probationer or community controllee may shall not 

661 knowing l y v i sit places where intoxicants , drugs, or other 

662 dange r ous substances are unlawfully sold , dispensed , or used . 

663 Section 14 . Subsect i on (3) of s . 310 . 071 , Fl orida 

664 Statutes , is reenacted for the purpose of incorporating the 

665 amendment made by this act to s . 310.071 , Florida Statutes , in a 

666 reference thereto. 

667 Secti on 15 . Subsection (10) of s. 458 . 331 , paragraph (g) 

668 of subsection (7) of s . 458 . 347 , subsection (10) of s . 459 . 015 , 

669 paragraph (f ) of subsection (7) of s . 459 . 022 , and paragraph (b) 

670 of subsect i on (5) of s . 465.0158 , Fl or i da Statutes , are 

671 reenacted for the purpose of incorporating the amendment made by 

672 th i s act to s . 456.072 , Florida Statutes , in references thereto . 

673 Section 16. Pa r agraph (mm) of subsection (1) of s . 456.072 

674 and s . 466 . 02751 , Fl orida Statutes , are reenacted for the 

675 purpose of incorporating the amendment made by this act to s. 

676 456 . 44 , Florida Statu tes , i n references thereto . 

Page 26 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 423 2016 

677 Section 17. Section 458 . 303, paragraph (e) of subsection 

678 (4) and paragraph (c) of subsection (9) of s . 458.347 , paragraph 

679 (b) of subsection (7) of s . 458 . 3475, paragraph (e) of 

680 subsection (4) and paragraph (c) of subsection (9) of s. 

681 459.022 , and paragraph (b) of subsection (7) of s. 459.023 , 

682 Florida Statutes , are reenacted for the purpose of incorporating 

683 the amendment made by this act to s. 458.347 , Florida Statutes, 

684 in references thereto. 

685 Section 18 . Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of s. 456 . 041 , 

686 subsections (1) and (2) of s . 458.348, and subsection (1) of s. 

687 459 . 025 , Florida Statutes , are reenacted for the purpose of 

688 incorporating the amendment made by this act to s . 464.012, 

689 Florida Statutes , in references thereto. 

690 Section 19 . Subsection (2) of s. 464 . 008 , subsection (5) 

691 of s. 464 . 009 , subsection (2) of s . 464 . 018 , and paragraph (b) 

692 of subsection (1) , subsection (3) , and paragraph (b) of 

693 subsection (4) of s. 464.0205 , Florida Statutes, are reenacted 

694 for the purpose of incorporating the amendment made by this act 

695 to s . 464 . 018 , Florida Statutes, in references thereto . 

696 Section 20. Section 775.051 , Florida Statutes , is 

697 reenacted for the purpose of incorporating the amendment made by 

698 this act to s . 893 . 02, Florida Statutes , in a reference thereto . 

699 Section 21 . Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of s. 944.17 , 

700 subsection (8) of s. 948.001 , and paragraph (e) of subsection 

701 (1) of s. 948.101 , Florida Statutes , are reenacted for the 

702 purpose of incorporating the amendment made by this act to s . 

Page 27 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB423 2016 

703 948 . 03 , Florida Statu tes , in references thereto. 

704 Section 22 . This act shall take effect July 1 , 2016 . 

Page 28 of 28 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0423-00 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 437 Certificates of Need for Hospitals 
SPONSOR(S): Sprowls 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE 

1) Select Committee on Affordable Healthcare 
Access 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

ACTION 

10 Y, 4 N 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST 

Guzzo 

Clark 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Calamas 

Pridgeon , 
I 

The certificate of need (CON) program , administered by the Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA), requires 
certain health care facilities to obtain authorization from the state before offering certain new or expanded services . 
Health care facilities subject to CON review include hospitals, nursing homes, hospices, and intermediate care facilities for 
the developmentally disabled . 

Florida's CON program was established in 1973, and has undergone several changes over the years. From 1974 through 
1986, the specifics of the program were largely dictated by the federal National Health Planning and Resources 
Development Act, which established minimum requirements regarding the type of services subject to CON review, review 
procedures, and review criteria. Each state was required to have a CON program in compliance with those standards as 
a condition for obtaining federal funds for health programs. The federal health planning legislation was repealed in 1986, 
but Florida retained its CON program . Nationally, 22 states do not require CON review to add hospital beds. Of those 
states, 14 have no CON requirements for any health care facility or service . 

The Florida CON program has three levels of review: full , expedited and exempt. Expedited review is primarily targeted 
towards nursing home projects. Projects required to undergo full comparative review include: 

• Construction of a new hospital ; 
• Replacement of a hospital if the proposed project site is more than one mile from the hospital being replaced ; 
• Conversion from one type of hospital to another, including the conversion between a general hospital , specialty 

hospital , or a long-term care hospital ; and 
• Establishment of tertiary health services and comprehensive rehabilitation services . 

The CON program exempts from full CON review the addition of beds to certain existing services, including 
comprehensive rehabilitation , neonatal intensive care, and psychiatric and substance abuse services . 

An applicant for CON review must submit a fee with the application. The minimum CON application filing fee is $10,000. 
In addition to the base fee, an applicant must pay a fee of 1.5 percent of each dollar of the proposed expenditure; 
however the total fee may not exceed $50,000. The fee for a CON exemption is $250. 

HB 437 eliminates CON review requirements for hospitals and hospital services and makes necessary conforming 
changes throughout part I of chapter 408, F.S. The bill also removes the CON review requirement for increasing the 
number of comprehensive rehabilitation beds in a facility that offers comprehensive rehabilitation services . 

The bill makes a conforming change to s. 395.1055, F.S., to ensure that AHCA has rulemaking authority, after the repeal of the 
CON review process for hospitals, to maintain licensure requirements and quality standards for tertiary health services offered 
by a hospital. 

The bill is expected to have a negative fiscal impact on AHCA resulting from the loss of CON application and exemption 
fees; however, the loss will be offset by an increase in project and licensure fees for new hospitals and services . 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Hospital Licensure 

Hospitals are regulated by the Agency for Health Care Adm inistration (AHCA) under chapter 395, F.S. , 
and the general licensure provisions of part II , of chapter 408, F.S. Hospitals offer a range of health 
care services with beds for use beyond 24 hours by individuals requiring diagnosis, treatment, or care.1 

Hospitals must make regularly available at least clinical laboratory services, diagnostic X-ray services, 
and treatment facilities for surgery or obstetrical care, or other definitive medical treatment.2 

A specialty hospital , in addition to providing the same services as general hospitals, provides other 
services, including: 

• A range of medical services restricted to a defined age or gender group; 
• A restricted range of services appropriate to the diagnosis, care, and treatment of patients with 

specific categories of medical or psychiatric illnesses or disorders; or 
• Intensive residential treatment programs for children and adolescents.3 

AHCA must maintain an inventory of hospitals with an emergency department.4 The inventory must list 
all services within the capability of each hospital, and such services must appear on the face of the 
hospital's license. As of November 13, 2015, 219 of the 306 licensed hospitals in the state have an 
emergency department.5 

Hospitals must meet initial licensing requirements by submitting a completed application and required 
documentation, and the satisfactory completion of a facility survey. The license fee is $1 ,565.13 or 
$31.46 per bed, whichever is greater.6 The survey fee is $400.00 or $12.00 per bed , whichever is 
greater.7 

Section 395.1055, F.S., authorizes AHCA to adopt rules for hospitals. Separate standards may be 
provided for general and specialty hospitals.8 The rules for general and specialty hospitals must 
include minimum standards to ensure: 

• A sufficient number of qualified types of personnel and occupational disciplines are on duty and 
available at all times to provide necessary and adequate patient care; 

• Infection control , housekeeping, sanitary conditions, and medical record procedures are 
established and implemented to adequately protect patients; 

• A comprehensive emergency management plan is prepared and updated annually; 
• Licensed facilities are established, organized, and operated consistent with established 

standards and rules; and 
• Licensed facility beds conform to minimum space, equipment, and furnishing standards.9 

1 8.395.002(12), F.S. 
2 ld. 
3 S. 395 .002(28), F.S. 
4 S. 395 .1041 (2), F.S. 
5 Agency for Health Care Administration , Facility/Provider Search Results, Hospitals, available at 
http://www.floridahealthfinder.gov/facilitylocator/ListFacilities.aspx (report generated on November 13, 2015). 
6 Rule 59A-3.006(3), F.A.C. 
7 S. 395.0161(3)(a), F.S . 
8 S. 395.1055(2), F.S . 
9 S. 395.1055(1), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE : 2 



The minimum standards for hospital licensure are contained in Chapter 59A-3, F.A.C. 

Certificate of Need (CON) 

CON laws require approval by a state health planning agency before a health care facility may 
construct or expand, offer a new service, or purchase equipment exceeding a certain cost. 

CON programs are designed to restrain health care costs and provide for directed, measured planning 
for new services and facilities .10 Such programs were originally established to regulate the addition of 
new facilities, or new beds in hospitals and nursing homes, for example, and to prevent overbuying of 
expensive equipment, under the economic theory that excess capacity directly results in health care 
price inflation. 11 When a hospital or health care service provider cannot meet its obligations, fixed costs 
must be met through higher charges for the beds that are used or for the number of patients using the 
service. 12 Larger institutions have higher costs, so CON supporters say it makes sense to limit facilities 
to building only enough capacity to meet actual needs.13 

In addition to cost containment, CON regulation is intended to create a "quid pro quo" in which 
profitability of covered medical services is increased by restricting competition and , in return, medical 
providers cross-subsidize specified amounts of indigent care, or medical services to the poor that are 
unprofitable to the provider.14 Some states require facilities and providers that obtain a CON to provide 
a certain amount of indigent care to underinsured or uninsured patients. 15 

Studies have found that CON programs do not meet the goal of limiting costs in health care. A 
literature review conducted in 2004 by the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice 
concluded that: 

[O]n balance, CON programs are not successful in containing health care costs, and that 
they pose serious anticompetitive risks that usually outweigh their purported economic 
benefits. Market incumbents can too easily use CON procedures to forestall competitors 
from entering an incumbent's market. [ .. . . ] Indeed, there is considerable evidence that 
CON programs can actually increase prices by fostering anticompetitive barriers to entry. 
Other means of cost control appear to be more effective and pose less significant 
competitive concerns. 16 

Studies are split, however, on whether CON regulation has improved access to care for the 
underinsured and uninsured. 17 While there is limited research on the subject, some studies have found 

10 National Conference of State Legislators, Certificate of Need: State Laws and Programs, available at 
http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/con-certificate-of-need-state-laws.aspx (last viewed November 13, 2015). 
11 ld . 
12 ld . 
13 1d. 
14 Thomas Stratmann and Jacob Russ , "Do Certificate-of-Need Laws Increase Indigent Care?" Mercatus Center at George Mason 
University, July 2014, pg. 2, available at: http://mercatus.org/publication/do-certificate-need-laws-increase-indiqent-care (last viewed 
November 13, 2015). 
15 

For example, Delaware (Del. Code Ann. tit. 16 § 9303), Georgia (Ga. Code Ann. §111-2-2.40), Rhode Island (R.I. CodeR. 
~6.2.4(8)), and Virginia (12 Va . Admin. Code §5-230-40 and §5-220-270) require CON applicants to comply with such provisions. 
6 "Improving Health Care: A Does of Competition: A Report by the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice," July 

2004, available at: https://www.ftc.gov/reports/improvinq-health-care-dose-competition-report-federal-trade-commission-department
justice (last viewed November 13, 2015): "[t]here is near universal agreement among the authors [of studies on the economic effects of 
CON programs) and other health economists that CON has been unsuccessful in containing health care costs"); Daniel Sherman, 
Federal Trade Comm'n, The Effect of State Certificate-of-Need Laws on Hospital Costs: An Economic Policy Analysis (1988) 
(concluding , after empirical study of CON programs' effects on hospital costs using 1983-84 data, that strong CON programs do not 
lead to lower costs but may actually increase costs); Monica Noether, Federal Trade Comm'n, Competition Among Hospitals 82(1987) 
~empirical study concluding that CON regulation led to higher prices and expenditures). 

7 Supra, FN 10 at pg. 18. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



that access to care for the underserved populations has increased in states with CON programs, 18 

while another has found little, if any, evidence to support such a conclusion. 19 In Florida, the Statewide 
Medicaid Managed Care (SMMC) program requires all managed care plans to comply with provider 
network standards to ensure access to care for beneficiaries and imposes significant penalties if access 
to care is impeded within the program. While Florida maintains a CON program for several types of 
health care facilities and services, accountability standards within the SMMC program would ensure 
access to care for Medicaid patients should the CON program be repealed. 

According to one study, states with hospital CON regulations have 13 percent fewer hospital beds per 
100,000 persons than states without hospital CON regulations. 20 The impact of CON regulations in 
Florida has been examined as well. A study found that, in Miami-Dade County, CON regulations result 
in approximately 3,428 fewer hospital beds, between 5 and 10 fewer hospitals offering MRI services, 
and 18 fewer hospitals offering CT scans. 21 

Florida's CON Program 

Overview 

Florida's CON program has existed since July 1973. From 197 4 through 1986, the specifics of the program 
were largely dictated by the federal National Health Planning and Resources Development Act of 197 4 (the 
"Act), which established minimum requirements regarding the type of services subject to CON review, 
review procedures, and review criteria .22 Each state was required to have a CON program in compliance 
with the Act as a condition for obtaining federal funds for health programs. The Act was repealed in 1986. 

In Florida, a CON is a written statement issued by AHCA evidencing community need for a new, 
converted, expanded, or otherwise significantly modified health care facility or health service, including 
hospices. The Florida CON program has three levels of review: full, expedited and exempt.23 Unless a 
hospital project is exempt from the CON program , it must undergo a full comparative review. Expedited 
review is primarily targeted towards nursing home projects. 

Projects Subject to Full CON Review 

Some hospital projects are required to undergo a full comparative CON review, including: 

• New construction of general hospitals, long-term care hospitals, and freestanding specialty 
hospitals; and 

• Replacement of a hospital if the proposed project site is not located on the same site or within 
one mile of the existing health care facility. 24 

The addition of certain new or expansion of certain existing hospital services are also required to 
undergo a full comparative CON review, including: 

• Establishing comprehensive medical rehabilitation inpatient services or increasing the number 
of beds for comprehensive rehabilitation; 25 and 

18 
Tracy Yee, Lucy B. Stark, et al, "Health Care Certificate-of-Need Laws: Policy or Politics?," Research Brief, National Institute for 

Health Care Reform, No. 4, May 2011, pg . 6, available at: http://www.nihcr.org/index.php?download=119ncfl17 (citing Elana C. Fric
Shamji and Mohammed F. Shamji , "Impact of U.S. Government Regulation on Access to Elective Surgical Care," Clinical & 
Investigative Medicine, vol. 31, no. 5 (October 2008) and EllenS. Campbell and Gary M. Fournier, "Certificate-of-Need Deregulation 
and Indigent Hospital Care," Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law, vol. 18, no. 4 (Winter 1993)). 
19 Christopher J . Conover and Frank A. Sloan , "Does Removing Certificate-of-Need Regulations Lead to a Surge in Health Care 
Spending? ," Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law, vol. 23, no. 3, pg . 478 (June 1998). 
20 ld. 
21 Christopher Koopman and Thomas Stratman, "Certificate-of-Need Laws: Implications for Florida ," March 2015, pg . 2, available at: 
http://mercatus.org/sites/default/files/Koopman-Certficate-of-NeedFL-MOP.pdf. (last viewed November 13, 2015). 
22 Pub. L. No. 93-641, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300k et seq . 
23 S. 408.036, F.S. 
24 S. 408.036(1 )(b), F.S . 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



• Establishing tertiary health services. 26 

Comprehensive medical rehabilitation inpatient services shape an organized program of intensive care 
services provided by a coordinated multidisciplinary team to patients with severe physical disabilities, 
including: 

• Stroke; 

• Spinal cord injury; 

• Congenital deformity; 

• Amputation; 

• Major multiple trauma; 
• Hip fracture; 

• Brain injury; 

• Rheumatoid arthritis; 

• Neurological disorders; 

• Burns; and 

• Neurological disorders. 27 

Section 408.032(17), F.S., requires AHCA to establish by rule a list of all tertiary health services subject 
to CON review. The list of tertiary health services must be reviewed annually by AHCA to determine if 
services should be added or deleted.28 

Hospitals must undergo full comparative CON review for the establishment of the following tertiary 
health services: 

• Pediatric cardiac catheterization; 
• Pediatric open-heart surgery; 
• Neonatal intensive care units; 
• Adult open heart surgery; and 
• Organ transplantation; including 

o Heart; 
o Kidney; 
o Liver; 
o Bone marrow; 
o Lung; and 
o Pancreas. 29 

25 S. 408.0361(1)(e), F.S. 
26 S. 408.036(1)(f) , F.S. , and s. 408.032(17), F.S. , which defines "tertiary health service" as a health service which , due to its high level 
of intensity, complexity, specialized or limited applicability, and cost, should be limited to, and concentrated in, a limited number of 
hospitals to ensure the quality, availability, and cost-effectiveness of such service. Examples of tertiary health services include pediatric 
cardiac catheterization, pediatric open-heart surgery, organ transplantation, neonatal intensive care units, comprehensive rehabilitation , 
and medical or surgical services which are experimental or developmental in nature to the extent that the provision of such services is 
not yet contemplated within the commonly accepted course of diagnosis or treatment for the condition addressed by a given service. 
27 Rule 59C-1 .039(2)(c), F.A.C. 
28 Rule 59C-1.002(41), F.A.C. 
29 Rule 59C-1.002(41), F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Projects Subject to Expedited CON Review 

Certain projects are eligible for expedited CON review. Applicants for expedited review are not subject 
to the application deadlines associated with full comparative review and may submit an application at 
any time . Projects subject to an expedited review include: 

• Transfer of a CON; 
• Replacement of a nursing home within the same district; 
• Replacement of a nursing home if the proposed site is within a 30-mile radius of the existing 

nursing home; 
• Relocation of a portion of a nursing home's beds to another facility or to establish a new facility 

in the same district, or a contiguous district, if the relocation is within a 30-mile radius of the 
existing facility and the total number of nursing home beds in the state does not increase; and 

• Construction of a new community nursing home in a retirement community under certain 
conditions. 30 

Exemptions from CON Review 

Section 408.036(3), F.S. , provides many exemptions to CON review for certain hospital projects, 
including: 

• Adding swing beds31 in a rural hospital, the total of which does not exceed one-half of its 
licensed beds. 

• Converting licensed acute care hospital beds to Medicare and Medicaid certified skilled nursing 
beds in a rural hospital, as defined ins. 395.602, F.S. , so long as the conversion of the beds 
does not involve the construction of new facilities . 

• Adding hospital beds licensed under chapter 395, F.S., for comprehensive rehabilitation, the 
total of which may not exceed 10 total beds or 10 percent of the licensed capacity, whichever is 
greater. 

• Establishing a level II neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) if the unit has at least 10 beds, and if 
the hospital had a minimum of 1,500 births during the previous 12 months. 

• Establishing a level Ill NICU if the unit has at least 15 beds, and if the hospital had a minimum 
of at least 3,500 births during the previous 12 months. 

• Establishing a level Ill NICU if the unit has at least 5 beds, and is a verified trauma center, 32 and 
if the applicant has a level II NICU. 

• Establishing an adult open heart surgery program in a hospital located within the boundaries of 
a health service planning district, which: 

o Has experienced an annual net out-migration of at least 600 open heart surgery cases 
for 3 consecutive years; and 

o Has a population that exceeds the state average of population per licensed and 
operational open-heart programs by at least 25 percent. 

• For the provision of percutaneous coronary intervention for patients presenting with emergency 
myocardial infarctions in a hospital that does not have an approved adult open-heart-surgery 
program. 

30 S. 408.036(2), F.S. 
31 

S. 395.602(2)(g) , F.S., defines "swing bed" as a bed which can be used interchangeably as either a hospital , skilled nursing facility 
~SNF) , or intermediate care facility (ICF) bed pursuant to 42 C.F.R. parts 405, 435, 440,442 , and 447. 

2 S. 395.4001(14), F.S., defines "trauma center" as a hospital that has been verified by the Department of Health to be in substantial 
compliance with the requirements ins. 395.4025 , F.S., and has been approved to operate as a Levell trauma center, Level II trauma 
center, or pediatric trauma center, or is designated as a Levell I trauma center pursuant to s. 395.4025(14), F.S . 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 6 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



CON Determination of Need and Application and Review Process 

A CON is predicated on a determination of need. The future need for services and projects is known as 
the "fixed need pool"33

, which AHCA publishes for each batching cycle. A batching cycle is a means of 
grouping of, for comparative review, CON applications submitted for beds, services or programs having 
a like CON need methodology or licensing category in the same planning horizon and the same 
applicable district or subdistrict.34 Chapter 59C-1 , F.A.C., provides need formulas35 to calculate the 
fixed need pool for certain services, including NICU services36

, adult and child psychiatric services37
, 

adult substance abuse services38
, and comprehensive rehabilitation services.39 

Upon determining that a need exists, AHCA accepts applications for CON based on batching cycles. 
Section 408.032(5), F.S., establishes the 11 district service areas in Florida, illustrated in the chart 
below. 

Certificate of Need Service Areas 

Inpatient Hospital Beds and Facilities 
Comprehensive Medical Rehabilitation 

Psychiatric 
Substance Abuse 

Level II Neonatal Intensive Care 
Level Ill Neonatal Intensive Care 

33 Rule 59C-1 .002(19), F.A.C ., defines "fixed need pool" as the identified numerical need , as published in the Florida Administrative 
Register, for new beds or services for the applicable planning horizon established by AHCA in accordance with need methodologies 
which are in effect by rule at the time of publication of the fixed need pools for the applicable batching cycle. 
34 Rule 59C-1.002(5), F.A.C. 
35 Rule 59C-1 .039(5), F.A.C. , provides the need formula for comprehensive medical rehabilitation inpatient beds as follows: ((PD/P) 
x PP I (365 x .85))- LB- AB = NN where: 1. NN equals the net need for Comprehensive Medical Rehabilitation Inpatient Beds in a 
District. 2. PD equals the number of inpatient days in Comprehensive Medical Rehabilitation Inpatient Beds in a district for the 12-month 
period ending 6 months prior to the beginning date of the quarter of the publication of the Fixed Bed Need Pool. 
3. P equals the estimated population in the district. For applications submitted between January 1 and June 30, P is the population 
estimate for January of the preceding year; for applications submitted between July 1 and December 31, P is the population estimate 
for July of the preceding year. The population estimate shall be the most recent estimate published by the Office of the Governor and 
available to the Department at least 4 weeks prior to publication of the Fixed Bed Need Pool. 
4. PP equals the estimated population in the district for the applicable planning horizon. The population estimate shall be the most 
recent estimate published by the Office of the Governor and available to the Department at least 4 weeks prior to publication of the 
Fixed Bed Need Pool. 5 .. 85 equals the desired average annual occupancy rate for Comprehensive Medical Rehabilitation Inpatient 
Beds in the district. 6. LB equals the district's number of licensed Comprehensive Medical Rehabilitation Inpatient Beds as of the most 
recent published deadline for Agency initial decisions prior to publication of the Fixed Bed Need Pool. 
7. AB equals the district's number of approved Comprehensive Medical Rehabilitation Inpatient Beds . 
36 Rule 59C-1.042(3), F .A. C. 
37 Rule 59C-1 .040(4), F.A.C. 
38 Rule 59C-1 .041 (4 ), F .A. C. 
39 Rule 59C-1.039(5), F .A. C. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 7 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



The CON review process consists of four batching cycles each year, including two batching cycles 
each year for each of two project categories: hospital beds and facilities, and other beds and 
programs.40 The "hospital beds and facilities" batching cycle includes applicants for new or expanded: 

• Comprehensive medical rehabilitation beds; 
• Adult psychiatric beds; 
• Child and adolescent psychiatric beds; 
• Adult substance abuse beds; 
• NICU level II beds; and 
• NICU level Ill beds. 41 

The "other beds and programs" batching cycle includes: 

• Nursing home beds; 
• Hospice beds; 
• Pediatric open heart surgery; 
• Pediatric cardiac catheterization services; and 
• Organ transplantation services.42 

Hospital Beds & Facilities Applications for Last 4 Batching Cycles 2013-201543 

Proposed Project Applications Applications 
Received Approved 

Establish a Comprehensive 
9 1 Medical Rehabilitation Unit 

Establish an Acute Care 
4 3 Hospital 

Establish an Adult Inpatient 
4 3 Psychiatric Hospital 

Establish a Long-Term Care 
2 2 Hospital 

Establish a Replacement 
2 2 Acute Care Hospital 

Establish a Child/Adolescent 
1 1 Psychiatric Hospital 

Total 22 12 

At least 30 days prior to the application deadline for a batch cycle, an applicant must file a letter of 
intent with AHCA. 44 A letter of intent must describe the proposal, specify the number of beds sought, 
and identify the services to be provided and the location of the project.45 

Applications for CON review must be submitted by the specified deadline for the particular batch 
cycle.46 AHCA must review the application within 15 days of the fil ing deadline and, if necessary, 

40 Rule 59C-1.008(1 )(g), F.A.C. 
41 Rule 59C-1.008(1), F.A.C . 
42 ld . 
43 AHCA, CON Decisions & State Agency Action Reports, Hospital Beds and Facilities, February 2015 batching cycle , August 2014 batching 
cycle , February 2014 batching cycle , and August 2013 batching cycle , available at 
http://ahca.myflorida.com/MCHQ/CON FNBatching/decisions.shtml (last viewed November 13, 2015). Pursuant to s. 408.036, F.S., and rule 
59C-1 .004(1 ), F.A.C., requests for an expedited review or exemption may be made at any time and are not subject to batching requ irements. 
44 S. 408.039(2)(a), F.S . 
45 S. 408.039(2)(c), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 8 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



request additional information for an incomplete application .47 The applicant then has 21 days to 
complete the application or it is deemed withdrawn from consideration.48 

Within 60 days of receipt of the completed applications for that batch, AHCA must issue a State Agency 
Action Report and Notice of Intent to Award a CON for a project in its entirety, to award a CON for 
identifiable portions of a project, or to deny a CON for a project.49 AHCA must then publish the 
decision, within 14 days, in the Florida Administrative Weekly. 50 If no administrative hearing is 
requested within 21 days of the publication , the State Agency Action Report and the Notice of Intent to 
Award the CON become a final order of AHCA. 51 

CON Fees 

An applicant for CON review must pal: a fee to AHCA when the application is submitted . The minimum 
CON application filing fee is $10,000. 2 In addition to the base fee, an applicant must pay a fee of 1.5 
percent of each dollar of the proposed expenditure; however, the total fee may not exceed $50,000.53 

A request for a CON exemption must be accompanied by a $250 fee payable to AHCA.54 

CON Litigation 

Florida law allows competitors to challenge CON decisions. A Notice of Intent to Award a CON may be 
challenged by a competing applicant in the same review cycle or an existing provider in the same district 
by submitting evidence that the challenge will be substantially affected if the CON is awarded.55 A 
challenge to a CON decision is heard by an Administrative Law Judge under the Division of Administrative 
Hearings. 56 AHCA must render a Final Order within 45 days of receiving the Recommended Order of the 
Administrative Law Judge. 57 A party to an administrative hearing may challenge a Final Order to the 
District Court of Appeals for judicial review58 within 30 days of receipt of a Final Order. 59 

CON Deregulation 

Florida 's CON program has been reformed several times over the course of the past 15 years . In 2000, 
CON review was eliminated for establishing a new home health agency. 5° The number of home health 
agencies doubled over the ten-year period immediately succeeding the elimination of CON review for 
establishing a new home health agency. Since 2010, the number of home health agencies has slowly 
declined.61 

46 Rule 59C-1.008(1)(g), F.A.C. 
47 S. 408.039(3)(a), F.S. 
48 ld. 
49 S. 408.039(4)(b), F.S. 
50 S. 408.039(4)(c), F.S . 
51 S. 408.039(4){d), F.S . 
52 S. 408.038, F.S. 
53 ld. 
54 S. 408.036(4), F.S. , and Ru le 59C-1.005(2)(g), F.A.C. 
55 S. 408.039(5)(c), F.S. 
56 ld . 
57 S. 408.039{5)(e), F.S. 
58 S. 120.68{1 ), F.S., a party who is adversely affected by final agency action is entitled to judicial review. A preliminary, procedural , or 
intermediate order of the agency or of an administrative law judge of the Division of Administrative Hearings is immediately reviewable if 
review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy. 
59 S. 408.039(6), F.S. 
6° Ch. 2000-256, Laws of Fla. 
61 AHCA, Current Status of Certificate of Need, Effects of Deregulation, October 20 , 2015, available at 
http://healthandhospitalcommission.com/Meetings.shtml {last viewed November 13, 2015). 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 9 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



-- ------ ----

Number of Home Health Agencies2000-2015 

3,000 
...... 

2,000 
..,.,..,.... 

~ 2,362 
2,064 

1,000 1,437 
1,123 

I 0 
2000 2005 2010 2015 

In 2007, CON review was eliminated for adult cardiac catheterization and adult open heart surgery 
services. 62 Since the elimination of CON review for adult cardiovascular services, the number of 
hospitals with a Level 163 adult cardiovascular services license has doubled while the number of 
hospitals with a Level II adult cardiovascular services license has only marginally increased.64 

100 

0 

Number of Hospitals with Adult Cardiovascular Services 
25 30 35 45 48 48 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

..... statewide Levell Adult Cardiovascular Hospitals 

-+-Statewide Level II Adult Cardiovascular Hospitals 

50 

2015 

In 2014, the moratorium on the granting of CONs for additional community nursing home beds was 
repealed. 65 In addition to the repeal, the legislature imposed limitations on the issuance of CONs for 
community nursing home beds to limit the growth through July 1, 2017. AHCA may not approve a CON 
application for new community nursing home beds following the batching cycle in which the cumulative 
number of new community nursing home beds approved from July 1, 2014, to June 30, 2017, equals or 
exceeds 3, 750.66 As of October, 2015, 3,373 nursing home beds have been approved since the 
moratorium has been lifted.67 

62 Ch. 2007-214, Laws of Fla. 
63 S. 408.0361, F .S., requires AHCA to adopt rules for the establishment of two hospital program licensure levels: a Level I program 
authorizing the performance of adult percutaneous cardiac intervention without onsite cardiac surgery and a Levell I program 
authorizing the performance of percutaneous cardiac intervention with onsite cardiac surgery. Rule 59A-3.2085(16) and (17), F.A.C., 
r,rovides the licensure requirements for Levell and Levell I adult cardiovascular services licensure. 

4 Supra, FN 62 at pg. 7. 
65 Ch. 2014-110, Laws of Fla. 
66 S. 408.0436, F.S. 
67 AHCA, Nursing Home Licensure and Regulation , Presentation to the Health Innovation Subcommittee, October 6, 2015, (on file with 
Select Committee on Affordable Healthcare Access staff) . 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 10 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Bed Need 
Published 

Notices of 
Intent Filed 

Applications 
Submitted 

Approved 
Beds 

Denied 
Beds 

New 
Facilities 

Additions to 
Existing 
Facilities 

CON Nationwide 

3,115 

179 

87 

2,447 

5,827 

22 

12 

April 2015 70 

Reviews 
Exemptions Total 

657 3,772 

28 207 

19 106 

381 240 305 3,373 I 

519 6,346 

2 2 26 

8 20 

Fourteen states do not have CON requirements for any type of health care facility or service.71 Eight 
additional states have CON laws for other facilities and services, but do not have CON requirements 
relating specifically to the addition of hospital beds. 72 

-

• CON Req u ired 0 No CON Req uired 

68 ld. 
69 The decision date for this batching cycle was February 20, 2015. 
70 The decision date for this batching cycle was August 21 , 2015 . 

D No CON Program 

71 National Conference of State Legislators, Certificate of Need: State Laws and Programs, available at 
http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/con-certificate-of-need-state-laws.aspx (last viewed November 13, 2015}. 
72 ld . 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE: 11 



The states that have repealed their CON program, and the dates of repeal, are: 

• Arizona (1985- still retains CON requirements for ambulance service providers); 
• California ( 1987); 
• Idaho (1983); 
• Indiana (1996); 
• Kansas (1985); 
• Minnesota ( 1985); 
• New Mexico (1983); 
• North Dakota (1995); 
• Pennsylvania ( 1996); 
• South Dakota (1988); 
• Texas (1985); 
• Utah (1984); 
• Wisconsin (2011 ); and 
• Wyoming (1989).73 

On average, states with CON programs regulate 14 different services, devices, and procedures.74 

Florida's CON program currently regulates 11 , which is slightly below the national average.75 Vermont 
has the most CON laws in place. Arizona has the least number of CON laws. 76 

73 ld . 

Vermont 
Washington. DC 

Hawaii 
North Carolina 

Maine 
West Virginia 

Tennessee 
South Carolina 

Rhode Island 
Alabama 

Virginia 
Alaska 

New York 
Mississippi 

Michigan 
Kentucky 

Washington 
Georgia 

Connecticut 
Maryland 
Missouri 

Massachusetts 
Illinois 

New Jersey 
New Hampshire 

Florida 
Iowa 

Delaware 
Montana 
Arkansas 

Oregon 
Oklahoma 

Nevada 
Louisiana 
Nebraska -

Ohio • 
Arizona -

0 

74 Supra, FN 18 at pg . 3. 
75 ld . 
76 ld. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

5 

State Ranking by Number of CON Laws 

11 

10 15 20 25 30 35 

PAGE: 12 



CON Reform in Other States 

Georgia 

The State Commission on the Efficacy of the Certificate of Need Program recommended that CON be 
maintained and improved after spending 18 months examining the role of CON. The final Commission .. 
report, issued in 2006, recommended that Georgia maintain existing CON regulations for hospital beds, 
adult open heart surgery, and pediatric cardiac catheterization and open heart surgery. 77 The report 
did not recommend deregulation of any hospital CON project. The CON program for hospital facilities 
and services remains intact. 

Illinois 

In 2006, the Legislature passed a law requiring the Commission (Commission) on Government 
Forecasting and Accountability to "conduct a comprehensive evaluation of the Illinois Health Facilities 
Planning Act, including a review of the performance of the Illinois Health Facilities Planning Board, to 
determine if it is meeting the goals and objectives that were originally intended in the law .. . ". 78 The 
Commission contracted with The Lewin Group to conduct a study on CON, which found that CONs 
rarely reduce health care costs and, on occasion , increase cost in some states. The study 
recommended that, while the traditional arguments for CON are empirically weak, based on the 
preponderance of hard evidence, the CON program should be allowed to sunset. However, the study 
cautioned that, given the potential for harm to specific critical elements of the health care system, the 
Legislature should move forward with an abundance of caution. 79 

In 2008, the Legislature decided to study the issue further and passed legislation to create the Task 
Force on Health Planning Reform (task force). 80 The task force evaluated the current CON program 
and recommended changes to the structure and function of both the Health Facilities Planning Board 
and the Department of Public Health in the review of applications to establish, expand, or modify health 
facilities and related capital expenditures.81 The task force recommended that the state maintain the 
CON process and extend the sunset date.82 Currently, the CON program is scheduled to sunset on 
December 31,2019. 

Washington State 

In 1999, the Joint Legislative Audit Review Committee contracted with the Health Policy Analysis 
Program of the University of Washington to conduct a legislatively mandated study of the CON 
program.83 The study examined the effects of CON, and its possible repeal, on the cost, quality, and 
availability health care. The results of the study were based on a literature review, information gathered 
from service providers and other experts in Washington, and analyses of states where CON has been 
completely or partially repealed.84 

The study concluded that CON has not controlled overall health care spending or hospital costs and 
found conflicting or limited evidence of the effects of CON on the quality and availability of other health 
care services or of the effects of repealing CON. The study included three policy options for 

77 Supra, FN 71 at pgs. 62 and 82 . 
78 Ill. House Resolution 1497 (2006). 
79 The Lewin Group, An Evaluation of Illinois' Certificate of Need Program, Prepared for the State of Illinois Commission on Government 
Forecasting and Accountability, February 15, 2007, available at http://cgfa.ilga.gov/Upload/LewinGroupEvaiCertOfNeed.pdf (last viewed 
November 13, 2015). 
80 Ill. Senate Bill 244 (PA 95-0005) of the 95th General Assembly, 2008 
81 The Illinois Task Force on Health Planning Reform , Final Report, December 31, 2008. 
82 ld. 
83 State of Washington, Senate Bill 6108, 55th Legislature, 1998 Regular Session. 
84 

State of Washington Joint Legislative Audit and Review Committee, Effects of Certificate of Need and its Possible Repeal , Report 99-
1, January 8, 1999, available at http://www.leg .wa.gov/JLARC/AuditAndStudyReports/1999/Documents/99-1.pdf (last viewed October 
27, 2015). 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 13 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



consideration: reform CON to address its current weaknesses; repeal the program while taking steps to 
increase monitoring and ensure that relevant goals are being met; or conduct another study to identify 
more clearly the possible effects of repeal. Washington State decided to keep the CON program. 

Virginia 

The Virginia General Assembly adopted legislation during the 2015 legislative session requiring the 
Secretary of Health and Human Resources to convene a workgroup to review the state's Certificate of 
Public Need (COPN) process.85 

The workgroup is required to develop specific recommendations for changes to the COPN process to 
be introduced during the 2016 Session of the General Assembly and any additional changes that may 
require further study or review.86 In conducting its review and developing its recommendations, the 
work group must consider data and information about the current COPN process, the impact of such 
process, and any data or information about similar processes in other states.87 A final report with 
recommendations must be provided to the General Assembly by December 1, 2015.88 

In response to a request by the Virginia House of Delegates, the Federal Trade Commission and the 
Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice (the agencies) submitted a joint statement to the 
COPN workgroup.89 The statement explains that the agencies historically have urged states to consider 
repeal or reform of their CON laws because they can prevent the efficient functioning of health care 
markets, and thus can harm consumers.90 As the statement describes, CON laws create barriers to 
expansion, limit consumer choice, and stifle innovation.91 Additionally, incumbent providers seeking to 
thwart or delay entry by new competitors may use CON laws to that end.92 Finally, the statement 
asserts that CON laws can deny consumers the benefit of an effective remedy for antitrust violations 
and can facilitate anticompetitive agreements.93 For these reasons, the agencies suggested that the 
workgroup and the General Assembly consider whether Virginia 's citizens are well served by its COPN 
laws and , if not, whether they would benefit from the repeal or retrenchment of those laws.94 

Currently, both North Carolina and South Carolina are considering legislation to repeal or limit their 
CON programs.95 

85 SB 1283, Virginia General Assembly, 2015. 
86 2015 Va. Acts Chapter 541 . 
87 ld. 
88 ld . 
89 Joint Statement of the Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice to the Virginia 
Certificate of Public Need Work Group, October 26, 2015, available at 
http://wvvw.vdh.state.va .us/Administration/documents/COPN/Federai%20Trade%20Commission%20and%20Department%20of%20Just 
L~e . pdf (last viewed November 12, 2015). 

Supra, FN 87 at pg. 2. 
91 ld. 
92 ld. 
93 ld. 
94 Supra , FN 87 at pg . 13. 
95 The North Carolina General Assembly is considering two bills to reform their CON program during the 2016 legislative session . 
Senate Bill 702 proposes to repeal the CON program in its entirety. House Bill 200 proposes to provide exemptions from CON review 
for diagnostic centers, ambulatory surgical centers , gastrointestinal endoscopy rooms, and psychiatric hospitals. The legislative 
session begins in April. The South Carolina General Assembly is also considering legislation during the 20161egislative session to 
reform the CON program. Currently, South Carolina 's CON program requires review for 20 different health care projects and services 
including hospitals. House Bill 3250 proposes to repeal the CON program effective January 1, 2018, and proposes to reduce CON 
regulations in the interim by providing several exemptions from CON review. The legislative session begins in January. 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 14 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill eliminates CON review requirements for hospitals and hospital services and makes necessary 
conforming changes throughout part I of chapter 408, F.S. The bill also removes the CON review 
requirement for increasing the number of comprehensive rehabilitation beds in a facility that offers 
comprehensive rehabilitation services. Hospitals will be able to expand the number of beds and the 
types of services without seeking prior authorization from the state. Similarly, facilities that offer 
comprehensive rehabilitation services will be able to increase the number of beds to meet demand 
without first seeking prior authorization from the state. 

The bill also makes a conforming change to s. 395.1055, F.S. , to ensure that AHCA has rulemaking 
authority, after the repeal of the CON review requirements for hospitals, to maintain quality 
requirements for tertiary services that may be offered by a hospital. Current CON rules for tertiary 
services, such as comprehensive medical rehabilitation, neonatal intensive care services, organ 
transplantation, and pediatric cardiac catheterization, include quality standards for those programs.96 

The bill deletes the definition of "tertiary health service" ins. 408.032, F.S., to repeal the CON review 
requirement for a hospital to establish such services. This eliminates authority for CON rules, including 
quality standards. The conforming change transfers rulemaking authority for the quality standards from 
the CON law to the hospital licensure law. The change eliminates any implication or interpretation that 
AHCA loses rulemaking authority to impose and maintain licensure requirements for tertiary health 
services as a result of the repeal of the CON review requirements for hospitals. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 408.032, F.S. , relating to definitions relating to Health Facility and Services 
Development Act. 

Section 2: Amends s. 408.034, F.S. , relating to duties and responsibilities of the agency; rules. 
Section 3: Amends s. 408.035, F.S., relating to review criteria. 
Section 4: Amends s. 408.036, F.S., relating to projects subject to review; exemptions. 
Section 5: Amends s. 408.037, F.S., relating to application content. 
Section 6: Amends s. 408.039, F.S, relating to review process. 
Section 7: Amends s. 408.043, F.S., relating to special provisions. 
Section 8: Amends s. 395.1055, F.S., relating to rules and enforcement. 
Section 9: Repeals s. 395.6025, F.S., relating to rural hospital replacement facilities. 
Section 10: Amends s. 395.603, F.S., relating to deactivation of general hospital beds; rural hospital 

impact statement. 
Section 11: Amends s. 395.604, F.S., relating to other rural hospital programs. 
Section 12: Amends s. 395.605, F.S. , relating to emergency care hospitals. 
Section 13: Amends s. 408.0361 , F.S., relating to cardiovascular services and burn unit licensure. 
Section 14: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

AHCA will experience a reduction in revenue resulting from the loss of CON application and 
exemption fees for hospital services which may be mitigated by a reduction in workload . Fees 

96 The current CON rules which include quality standards, in addition to the CON market-entry requirements, are 59C-1.039, F.A.C. 
(comprehensive medical rehabilitation); 59C-1 .042, F.A.C. (neonatal intensive care services); 59C-1 .044, F.A.C. (organ 
transplantation); 59C-1 .032, F .A. C. (pediatric cardiac catheterization); 59C-1.033 , F .A. C. (adult and pediatric open heart surgery 
programs); and 59A-3.2085(16)-(17), F.A.C. (adult cardiovascular services). 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 15 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



collected in Fiscal Year 2014-2015 resulted in revenue of approximately $450,000.97 Any decrease 
in CON application fees will be offset by an approximate 10 percent increase in hospital projects 
resulting in almost $450,000 in new plans and construction fees .98 

2. Expenditures: 

AHCA will experience increased workload resulting from an increase in hospital licensure 
applications. The expenditure associated with any increase in workload is indeterminate yet likely 
insignificant; however, the increased workload will be offset by the reduced workload resulting from 
the repeal of the CON review process for hospitals. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Hospitals will experience a significant positive fiscal impact resulting from the elimination of CON fees , 
which range from $10,000 to $50,000. 

By removing the CON review program for hospitals, the hospital industry is likely to realize increased 
competition in services offered by hospitals. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipal ity/County Mandates Provision : 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

No additional rulemaking authority is necessary to implement the provisions of the bill. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

97 AHCA, Agency Bill Analysis of HB 437 , October 26, 2015 (on file with the Select Committee on Affordable Healthcare Access staff). 
98 Id . 
STORAGE NAME: h0437b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 16 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 2016 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to certificates of need for hospitals ; 

3 amending s . 408 . 032 , F.S .; revising definitions ; 

4 amending s . 408.034 , F.S .; revising duties and 

5 responsibilities of the Agency for Health Care 

6 Administration in the exercise of its authority to 

7 issue licenses to health care facilities and health 

8 service providers ; amending s . 408 . 035 , F . S .; revising 

9 review criteria for applications for certificate-of-

10 need determinations for health care facilities and 

11 health services ; excluding general hospitals from such 

12 review ; amending s . 408 . 036 , F.S. ; revising health-

13 care - related projects subject to review for a 

14 certificate of need and exemptions therefrom; amending 

15 s . 408 . 037 , F . S .; revising content requirements with 

16 respect to an application for a certificate of need ; 

17 amending s . 408 . 039 , F . S .; revising the review process 

18 f or certificates of need ; amending s . 408 . 043 , F . S. ; 

19 revising special provisions to eliminate provisions 

20 relating to osteopathic acute care hospitals ; amending 

21 s . 395 . 1055 , F . S .; revising the agency ' s rulemaking 

22 authority with respect to minimum standards for 

23 hospitals ; requiring hospitals that provide certain 

24 services t o meet specified li censure requirements; 

25 deleting requirements for submitting data by hospitals 

26 for certificate-of-need reviews , to conform to changes 

Page 1 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESEN T ATIVES 

HB 437 201 6 

27 made by the act; repealing s . 395.6025, F.S., relating 

28 to rural hospital replacement facilities; amending ss. 

29 395 . 603 , 395 . 604 , and 395.605, F . S.; conforming 

30 references; amending s. 408 . 0361 , F.S. ; deleting 

31 outdated licensure provisions for cardiovascular 

32 services and burn units ; providing an effective date . 

33 

34 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

35 

36 Section 1. Subsections (8) through (17) of section 

37 408 . 032 , Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 

38 408.032 Definitions relating to Health Facility and 

39 Services Development Act . -As used in ss. 408.031 - 408.045, the 

40 term: 

41 ( 8) " Health care facility " means a hospital, long tenR 

42 care hospital , skilled nursing facility , hospice, or 

43 intermediate care facility for the developmentally disabled. A 

44 facility relying solely on spiritual means through prayer for 

45 healing is not included as a health care facility . 

4 6 ( 9) " Health services " means inpatient diagnostic, 

47 curative , or comprehensive medical rehabilitative services and 

48 inc l udes me n tal hea l th services . Obstetric services are not 

49 hea l th services for purposes of ss . qo8 . 031 qos . oqs. 

50 ill-t±-8+ " Hospice " or "hospice program" means a hospice as 

51 defined in part IV of chapter 400. 

52 ( 11) "Hospital" means a health care facility licensed 

Page 2 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB437 2016 

5 3 under chapter 3 95 . 

5 4 Jl.Ql~ " Int e rmedia t e ca r e fa c ility f o r the 

55 d eve l opmentally disab led " me ans a r esid ential f ac ili ty licensed 

5 6 und er part VI II o f c hapter 400 . 

57 (13) " Long terffi c a re hospital " ffieans a hosp i tal licensed 

58 under chapter 395 Hh i ch ffieets the requireffients of 42 C.F. R. s . 

59 412 . 23(e) and seeks eHc l usion froffi the acute care Hedicare 

60 prospective payffient systeffi for inpatient hospital services . 

61 ( 14 ) "Hental hea l th servi c es " ffieans inpatient services 

62 provided in a hospital licensed under chapt er 395 and listed on 

63 the hosp i ta l license as psychiatric beds for adu lts; psychia t ric 

64 beds for chi l dren and ado l escents ; intensive residentia l 

65 tre atffien t beds for children and adolescents ; substance abuse 

66 beds for adults ; or substan ce abuse beds for chi l dren and 

67 adolescents . 

68 J..l..ll+±-5+ " Nursing home geographi c all y unde rs erved a rea " 

69 means : 

70 (a ) A cou n t y in whi c h the re i s n o exi s ting o r a pproved 

7 1 nursing h ome ; 

72 (b ) An are a with a rad ius of at least 20 mi les in which 

73 there is no exi s ting or a pproved nu rs i ng h ome ; or 

74 (c) An area with a r adius of at l e a st 20 mil e s i n wh ich 

75 a ll ex is t ing nursi n g h omes h ave ma i nta ined a t least a 95 p e r cent 

76 occupancy rat e f o r t he mo s t recent 6 months o r a 90 pe r c en t 

77 occupancy rate f o r the most recen t 12 months. 

7 8 J.111_-f-±-6+ " Ski l led nursi ng f ac il i t y " me a ns a n ins t i t uti o n , 

Page 3 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB437 2016 

79 o r a distinct part of an instituti on, whi c h i s primarily engaged 

80 in providing , t o inpati e nts, skill e d nursing ca re and related 

81 service s f o r patient s wh o require medi cal o r nur s ing c are, o r 

82 rehabilitation serv i ce s fo r t he rehabilitation o f injured , 

83 d is abled , o r sick persons . 

8 4 ( 17 ) " Tert i ary health service" FReano a health service 

85 v:hieh , due to ito high level of intensity , eoFRpleHity, 

8 6 specialized or liFRited applicabili t y , and coot, shou l d be 

8 7 l iFRited to , and concentrated in, a liFRited number of hospitals 

88 to ens u re t he qua li ty, availability , and cost effectiveness of 

8 9 such service. Ei JWFRples of ouch service include, b u t a r e not 

90 liFRited to, pediatric cardiac catheterization , pediatric open 

91 hear t surge r y , organ transplantation , neonatal intensive care 

92 units , coFRp r ehenoive rehabilitation , and FRedical or surgical 

93 serv i ces ·,:h i ch are eHperiFRental or developFRental in nature t o 

94 the eHtent that the provision of such services i s not yet 

95 conteFRplated v:ithin the coffiffion l y accepted course of diagnosis or 

96 t reatFRent for the condition addressed by a give n service. The 

97 agency shall estab l ish by rule a list of a ll tertiary health 

98 serv i ces . 

99 Se c tion 2 . Subsec tion (2) of secti on 408 . 03 4 , Fl orida 

10 0 Statut e s , is ame nded t o read : 

101 408 . 03 4 Duties a nd resp onsib ili t ie s o f a gency ; rul e s . -

1 02 (2) In the e xerc i s e of i ts a uthority t o i ssue li cens e s to 

103 hea lth c a re faciliti e s a nd h e a lth serv i c e provide rs , as provided 

10 4 unde r c hap t er chap t ers 393 and 395 a nd part s II , IV , and VIII of 

Page 4 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATI V ES 

HB 437 2016 

105 chapter 400 , the agency may not issue a license to any health 

106 care facility or health service provider that fails to receive a 

107 certificate of need or an exemption for the licensed facility or 

108 service. 

109 Section 3 . Section 408.035 , Florida Statutes, is amended 

110 to read : 

111 408.035 Review criteria . -

112 +±t The agency shall determine the reviewability of 

113 applications and shall review applications for certificate-of-

114 need determinations for health care facilities and health 

115 services in context with the following criteria , except for 

116 general hospitals as defined in s. 395.002: 

117 Jll+a+ The need for the health care facilities and health 

118 servi ces being proposed. 

119 (2)+6+ The availability , quality of care, accessibility, 

120 and extent of utilization of existing health care facilities and 

121 health services in the service district of the applicant . 

122 Jll+e+ The ability of the applicant to provide quality of 

123 care and the app l icant ' s record of providing quality of care. 

124 Jil+frt The availability of resources , including health 

125 personnel , management personnel , and funds for capital and 

126 operating expenditures , for project accomplishment and 

127 operation. 

128 ~+et The extent to which the proposed services will 

129 enhance access to health care for residents of the service 

130 district . 

Page 5 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

131 (6)+£+ The immediate and long-term financial feasibility 

132 of the proposal. 

133 Jll~ The extent to which the proposal will foster 

134 competition that promotes quality and cos t - effectiveness . 

2016 

135 ~+fit The costs and methods of the proposed construction, 

136 including the costs and methods of energy provision and the 

137 availability of alternative , less costly , or more effective 

138 methods of construction . 

139 (9)+±+ The applicant's past and proposed provision of 

140 health care services to Medicaid patients and the medically 

141 indigent . 

142 l!Ql+tt The applicant ' s designation as a Gold Seal Program 

143 nursing facility pursuant to s. 400 . 235 , when the applicant is 

144 requesting additional nursing home beds at that facility. 

145 (2) For a general hospital , the agency shall consider only 

146 the criteria specified in paragraph (1) (a), paragraph (1) (b) , 

14 7 occept for quality of care in paragraph (1) (b), and paragraphs 

148 (1) (e) , (g) , and (i) . 

14 9 Section 4. Section 408.036, Florida Statutes, is amended 

150 to read : 

151 408.036 Projects subject to review; exemptions . -

152 (1) APPLICABILITY. - Unless exempt under subsection (3) , all 

153 health- care-related projects, as described in this subsect i on 

154 paragraphs (a) (f) , are subject to review and must file an 

155 application for a certificate of need with the agency. The 

156 agency is exclusively responsible for determining whether a 

Page 6 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

157 health-care - related pro ject is s ub j e ct t o rev iew unde r ss . 

158 40 8 . 03 1- 408 . 045 . 

159 (a) The additi on of b e ds in communit y nursing h omes o r 

2016 

1 60 intermediate c are f ac iliti es f or the devel opmentall y disab led b y 

1 61 new constructi on o r altera t i on. 

1 62 (b) The new c ons truc ti on o r e stabli s hmen t o f additi onal 

16 3 health c are fa c ilities , inc l uding a repl acement h e alth c are 

1 64 facilit y when t he prop o sed pro ject s ite is n o t l ocated on the 

1 65 same site as o r within 1 mi l e o f t he e xi s ting heal t h ca re 

1 66 fa c ility , if the number o f b eds i n e ach li c ensed bed c atego r y 

1 67 will n o t inc r e a s e. 

1 68 (c) The c onvers i on fr om o ne typ e o f h ea lth c are fa c ility 

169 t o ano ther , including the conversion froffi a general hospital , a 

170 specialty hospi t al , or a long terffi care hospita l. 

17 1 (d) The e stabli s hme nt o f a h ospice o r ho spi c e inpat ien t 

1 72 fa c ility , except as provi d ed in s . 408 . 043 . 

17 3 (e ) An increase in the number of beds for coffiprehensive 

17 4 rehab i litation . 

17 5 (f) The establishffient of tertiary health serv i ces , 

176 including inpatient coffiprehensive rehabil i tation servi ces . 

17 7 (2) PROJECTS SUBJECT TO EXPEDITED REVIEW .-Unles s exempt 

17 8 pursua nt t o s ubsection (3) , the f o llowing p ro ject s are s ubjec t 

1 7 9 t o e xpedited rev iew: 

180 (a) Transfer o f a certifi c at e o f n eed , eHcept that ,,;hen an 

18 1 eHisting hospital is acquired by a purchaser, a ll cert i ficates 

182 of need issued to the hospital v<hich are not yet operational 

Page 7 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 201 6 

183 shall be acquired by the purchaser without need for a transfer. 

184 (b) Replacement of a nursing home , if the proposed project 

185 site is within a 30 - mile radius of the replaced nursing home . If 

186 the proposed project site is outside the subdistrict where the 

187 replaced nursing home is located , the prior 6- month occupancy 

188 rate for licensed community nursing homes in the proposed 

189 subdistrict must be at least 85 percent in accordance with the 

190 agency ' s most recently published inventory . 

191 (c) Replacement of a nursing home within the same 

192 district , if the proposed project site is outside a 30 - mile 

193 radius of the replaced nursing home but within the same 

194 subdistrict or a geographically contiguous subdistrict . If the 

195 proposed project site is in the geographically contiguous 

196 subdistrict , the prior 6- month occupancy rate for licensed 

197 community nursing homes for that subdistrict must be at least 85 

198 percent in accordance with the agency ' s most recently published 

199 inventory. 

200 (d) Relocation of a portion of a nursing home ' s licensed 

201 beds to another facility or to establish a new facility within 

202 the same district or within a geographically contiguous 

203 district , if the relocation is within a 30 - mile radius of the 

204 existing facility and the total number of nursing home beds in 

205 the state does not increase. 

206 (e) New construction of a community nursing home in a 

207 retirement community as further provided in this paragraph . 

208 1 . Expedited review under this paragraph is available if 

Page 8 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 2016 

209 all of the f o llowing criteria are met: 

210 a. The residential use area of the retirement community is 

211 deed-restricted as housing for older persons as defined in s . 

212 760.29(4) (b). 

213 b . The retirement community is located in a county in 

214 whi ch 25 percent or more of its population is age 65 and o lder . 

215 c. The retirement community i s located in a county that 

216 has a rate o f no more than 16 .1 beds per 1,000 persons age 65 

217 years or older . Th e rate shall be determined by using the 

218 current number of licensed and approved community nursing home 

219 beds in the county per the agency's most recent published 

220 invento r y . 

22 1 d . The retirement community has a population of at least 

222 8 , 000 residents within the county , based on a population data 

223 source accepted by the agency . 

224 e. The number of proposed community nursing home beds in 

225 an app lication does not exceed the projected bed need after 

226 applying the r ate o f 16 . 1 beds per 1 , 000 persons aged 65 years 

227 and older projected for the county 3 years into the future using 

228 the estimates adopted by the agency reduced by the agency ' s most 

229 recently published inventory of licensed and approved communit y 

230 nursing home beds in the count y . 

23 1 2 . No more than 120 community nursing home beds shall be 

232 approved for a qualified retirement communit y under each request 

233 for expedited review. Subsequent requests for expedited review 

234 unde r this process may not be made until 2 years after 

Page 9 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB437 

235 construction of the facility has commenced or 1 year after the 

236 beds approved through the initial request are licensed , 

237 whichever occurs first . 

238 3. The total number of community nursing home beds which 

239 may be approved for any single deed-restricted community 

240 pursuant to this paragraph may not exceed 240 , regardless of 

24 1 whether the retirement community is located in more than one 

242 qualifying county . 

243 4 . Each nursing home facility approved under this 

244 paragraph must be dually certified for participation in the 

245 Medicare and Medicaid programs. 

246 5 . Ea ch nursing home facility approved under this 

247 paragraph must be at least 1 mile , as measured over publicly 

2016 

248 owned roadways , from an existing approved and licensed community 

249 nursing home. 

250 6. A retirement community requesting expedited review 

251 under this paragraph shall submit a written request to the 

252 agency for expedited review . The request must include the number 

253 of beds to be added and provide evidence of compliance with the 

254 criteria specified in subparagraph 1 . 

255 7 . After verifying that the retirement community meets the 

256 criteria for expedited review specified in subparagraph 1. , the 

257 agency shall publicly notice in the Florida Administrative 

258 Register that a request for an expedited review has been 

259 submitted by a qualifying retirement community and that the 

260 qualifying retirement community intends to make land available 

Page 10 of 37 

CODING: Words strioken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 2016 

261 for the construction and operation of a community nursing home . 

262 The agency ' s notice must identify where potential applicants can 

263 obtain information describing the sales price of, or terms of 

264 the land lease for , the property on which the project will be 

265 located and the requirements established by the retirement 

266 community. The agency notice must also specify the deadline for 

267 submission of the certificate- of - need application, which may not 

268 be earlier than the 91st day or later than the 125th day after 

269 the date the notice appears in the Florida Administrative 

270 Register . 

271 8 . The qualified retirement community shall make land 

272 available to applicants it deems to have met its requirements 

273 for the construction and operation of a community nursing home 

274 but may sell or lease the land only to the applicant that is 

275 issued a certificate of need by the agency under this paragraph. 

276 a . A certificate- of-need application submitted under this 

277 paragraph must identify the intended site for the project within 

278 the retirement community and the anticipated costs for the 

279 project based on that site. The application must also include 

280 written evidence that the retirement community has determined 

281 that both the provider submitting the application and the 

282 project satisfy its requirements for the project . 

283 b. If the retirement community determines that more than 

284 one provider satisfies its requirements for the project , it may 

285 notify the agency of the provider it prefers . 

286 9. The agency shall review each submitted application . If 

Page 11 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



------------- -

FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

28 7 multiple applica t ions are submitted f o r a pro ject published 

288 purs u an t t o subpa ragra ph 7., the agen cy sha ll rev iew t he 

289 competing applicat i on s . 

2 90 

2016 

291 The age nc y shall d e vel op r u les t o impl ement the e xpedi t e d revie w 

2 92 p r oce s s , inc luding time s c he dule, a pplicati on con t ent t ha t may 

2 93 be r e duced f r om the full requ i reme nt s o f s . 408 . 037( 1 ) , and 

2 94 appli c ati on proces s ing . 

295 (3 ) EXEMPTI ONS .-Upon r equest , t he f o llowin g projec t s are 

296 sub j ec t t o e x empti on fr om t he p r ovisions o f s ubsection (1 ) : 

297 (a) For hospi c e serv i c e s or for SHing beds in a rural 

298 hospital, as defined ins . 3 95.602, in a numb e r that does not 

299 eJceeed one half o f its licensed beds. 

300 (b) For the conversion of licensed acute care hospital 

30 1 beds to Hedicare and Hedicaid certified skilled nursing beds in 

302 a rural hospital, as defined in s. 395.602, so long as the 

303 conversion of the beds does not involve the construction of nevJ 

30 4 facilities. The total number of skilled nursing beds, including 

30 5 svJing beds, may not eJceeed one half of the total number of 

306 licensed beds in the rural hospital a s o f July 1, 1993. 

307 Certified skill e d nursing beds designated under this paragraph, 

308 eHcluding sv:ing beds, shall be included in the community nursing 

309 home bed invent o ry. A rural hospital that subsequently 

3 10 decertifies any acute care beds eHempted under this paragraph 

3 11 shall notify the agency of the decertification, and the agency 

3 12 shall adjust the community nursing home bed inventory 

Page 12 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB437 2016 

313 accordingly . 

314 Jel+et For the addition of nursing home beds at a skilled 

315 nursing facility that is part of a retirement community that 

316 provides a variety of residential settings and supportive 

317 services and that has been incGrporated and operated in this 

318 state for at least 65 years on or before July 1 , 1994 . All 

319 nursing home beds must not be available to the public but must 

320 be for the exclusive use of the community residents. 

321 (c){e+ For an inmate health care facility built by or for 

322 the exclusive use of the Department of Corrections as provided 

323 in chapter 945 . This exemption expires when such facility is 

324 converted to other uses . 

325 (d)+et For mobile surgical facilities and related health 

326 care services provided under contract with the Department of 

327 Corrections or a private correctional facility operating 

328 pursuant to chapter 957. 

329 (e)~ For the addition of nursing home beds licensed 

330 under chapter 400 in a number not exceeding 30 total beds Or 25 

331 percent of the number of beds licensed in the facility being 

332 replaced under paragraph (2) (b) , paragraph (2) (c), or paragraph 

333 ill +f7t, whichever is less . 

334 J!l~ For state veterans ' nursing homes operated by or on 

335 behalf of the Florida Department of Veterans ' Affairs in 

336 accordance with part II of chapter 296 for which at least 50 

337 percent of the construction cost is federally funded and for 

338 which the Federal Government pays a per diem rate not to exceed 

Page 13 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I V E S 

HB 437 201 6 

339 one-half of the cost of the veterans ' care in such state nursing 

340 homes . These beds shall not be included in the nursing home bed 

341 inventory. 

3 42 Jgl+fi+ For combination within one nursing home facility of 

343 the beds or services authorized by two o r more certificates of 

3 44 need issued in the same planning subdistrict. An exemption 

345 granted under this paragraph shall extend the validity period of 

346 the certificates of need to be consolidated by the length of the 

347 period beginning upon submission of the exemption request and 

348 ending with issuance of the exemption. The longest valid ity 

349 period among the certificates shall be applicable to each of the 

350 combined certificates . 

351 Jbl+±+ For division into two or more nursing home 

352 facilities of beds or services authorized by one certificate of 

353 need issued in the same planning subdistrict . An exemption 

354 granted under this paragraph shall extend the validity period of 

355 the certificate of need to be divided by the length of the 

356 period beginning upon submission of the exemption request and 

357 ending with issuance o f the exemption . 

358 (j) For the addition of hospital beds licensed under 

359 chapter 395 for comprehensive rehabilitation in a number that 

360 may not eHeeed 10 total beds or 10 percent of the licensed 

361 capacity , whichever is greater . 

3 62 1. In addition to any other documentation othen•ise 

363 required by the agency , a request for eHemption submitted under 

364 this paragraph must: 

Page 14 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESE N TATIVES 

HB437 2016 

365 a. Certify that the prior 12 month average occupancy rate 

366 for the licensed beds being eJ{panded meets or eneeeds 80 

3 67 percent . 

368 b. Certify that the beds have been licensed and 

369 opera t iona l for at least 12 months. 

370 2. The timeframes and monitoring process specified in s . 

371 408 . 040 (2) (a) (c) apply to any eJwmption i ssued under this 

372 paragraph . 

373 3 . The agency shal l count beds authorized under this 

374 paragraph as approved beds in the published inventory of 

375 hospital beds until the beds are licensed . 

376 Jll+*+ For the addition of nursing home beds licensed 

377 under chapter 400 in a number not exceeding 10 total beds or 10 

378 percent of the number of beds licensed in the facility be ing 

379 expanded , whichever is greater; or , f or the addition of nu rsing 

380 home beds li c ensed under chapte r 400 at a facility that has been 

381 designated as a Gold Seal nursing home under s. 400 . 235 in a 

382 number no t exceeding 20 total beds or 10 percent of the number 

383 o f licensed beds in the fa cil ity being expanded , whichever is 

38 4 greater . 

38 5 1. In addition to any other documentation required by the 

386 agency , a request for exempti on submitted under this paragraph 

387 must ce rtify that: 

388 a . The facility has not had an y class I o r c lass II 

389 deficiencies within the 30 months preced ing the request . 

390 b . The prior 12 -month average occupa ncy rate for the 

Page 15 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPR E SEN T ATIVES 

HB 437 

391 nursing home beds at the facility meets or exceeds 94 percent . 

392 c . Any beds authorized for the facility under this 

393 paragraph before the date of the current request f or an 

394 exemption have been licensed a nd operational for at least 12 

395 months . 

396 2. The timeframes and monitoring process spec ified in s . 

3 97 4 08. 04 0 ( 2) (a) - (c) apply to any exemption issued under this 

3 98 paragraph . 

399 3 . The agency shall count beds authorized under this 

201 6 

400 paragraph as approved beds in the published inventory of nursing 

401 home beds until the beds are licensed . 

40 2 ( 1) For the establishment of: 

403 1 . A Level II neonatal intensive care unit v:ith at least 

404 10 beds, upon documentation to the agency that the applicant 

405 hospital had a minimum of 1,500 births during the previous 12 

406 months ; 

407 2. A Level III neonatal intensive care unit with at least 

408 15 beds, upon documentation to the agency that the applicant 

409 hospital has a Level II neonatal intensive care unit of at least 

410 10 beds and had a minimum of 3,500 births during the previous 12 

411 months; or 

412 3. A Level III neonatal intensive care unit Hith at least 

413 5 beds , upon documentation to the agency that the applicant 

414 hospital is a verified trauma center pursuant to s . 

415 395 . 4001(14) , and has a Level II neonatal intensive care unit, 

416 

Page 16 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are add itions. 

hb0437-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTA TI VES 

HB437 2016 

417 if the applicant demonstrates that it meets the requirements for 

41 8 quality of care , nurse staffing, physician staffing , physical 

41 9 plant , equipment , emergency transportation, and data reporting 

420 found in agency certificate of need rules for Level II and Level 

421 III neonatal intensive care units and if the applicant commits 

422 to the provision of se rvices to Hedieaid and charity patient s at 

423 a leve l equal to or greater than the dist r ict average. Such a 

42 4 commi t ment i s subject to s . 40 8 . 04 0 . 

425 (m ) l . For the provi sion of adult open heart services in a 

426 hospita l located within the boundaries of a health service 

427 planning district , as def i ned in s. 408 . 032 ( §) , ·,;hieh has 

428 eHperienced an annual net out migration of at least 600 open 

429 hea r t s u rgery cases for 3 consecutive years according to the 

430 most recent data reported to the agency , and the district ' s 

431 population per licensed and operational open heart programs 

432 eHeeeds the state average of population per li censed and 

433 operationa l open heart programs by at least 2§ percent . Al l 

43 4 hospita l s Hithin a health service planning district ,;hich meet 

435 the c ri ter i a reference i n sub subparagraphs 2 . a . h . shall be 

436 e l igib l e for this eJcemption on July 1 , 2004 , and shall rece ive 

437 the eHemption upon filing for it and subject to the follo·.:ing : 

438 a . A hospital that has received a notice of intent to 

439 grant a certificat e of need or a final order o f the agency 

440 gran t i ng a certificate of need for the establishment of an open 

4 41 heart s u rgery program is entit l ed to receive a letter of 

44 2 enemption for the establishment of an adult open heart sur gery 

Page 17 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 437 

4 4 3 prograFA: upon filing a request for eneFA:ption and coFA:plying ·.vith 

444 the criteria enuFA:erat e d in sub subparagraphs 2.a. h., and is 

44 5 entitled t o iffl:Ffl:ediately coffl:Ffl:ence operation of the prograFA:. 

2016 

44 6 b. An otherwise eligible hospital that has not received a 

44 7 notice of intent to grant a certificate of need or a final order 

44 8 of the agency granting a certificate of need for the 

44 9 establishFA:ent of an open heart surgery prograFA: is entitled to 

4 50 iffl:Ffl:ediately receive a letter of uwFA:ption for the establishFA:ent 

451 of an adult open heart surgery program upon filing a request for 

452 CJWFA:ption and coFA:plying ·.vith the criteria enuFA:erated in sub 

453 subparagraphs 2.a. h., but is not entitled to coffl:Ffl:ence operation 

45 4 of its prograFA: until DeceFA:ber 31, 200 6 . 

455 2. A hospital shall be eHeFA:pt froFA: the certificate of need 

456 revievJ for the establishFA:ent of an open heart surgery prograffl: 

457 ·.vhe n the application for eneFA:ption subFA:itted under this 

458 paragraph coFA:plies v.·ith the follov<ing c riteria: 

459 a. The appli c ant FA:ust certify that it ',Jill FA:eet and 

4 60 continuously FA:aintain the FA:iniFA:uFA: licensure requireFA:ents adopted 

4 61 by the agency governing adult open heart prograFA:s, including the 

462 FA:ost current guidelines of the Ameri c an College of Cardiology 

463 and P~erican Heart Association Guidelines for Adult Open Heart 

4 64 PrograFA:s. 

4 65 b. The appli c ant FA:ust c e rtify that it ·.:ill FA:aintain 

466 sufficient appropriate equipFA:ent and health personnel to ensure 

467 quality and safety. 

4 68 c. The applicant FA:ust certify that it ·,Jill maintain 

Page 18 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

469 appropriate times of operation and protocols to ensure 

470 availability and appropriate referrals in the event of 

471 emergencies. 

2016 

472 d. The applicant can demonstrate that it has discharged at 

473 least 300 inpatients ·.:ith a principal diagnosis of ischemic 

47 4 heart disease for the most recent 12 month period as reported to 

4 7 5 the agency. 

47 6 e. The applicant is a general acute care hospital that is 

477 in operation for 3 years or more. 

478 f. The applicant is performing more than 300 diagnostic 

47 9 cardiae catheterization procedures per ye ar, combined inpatient 

480 and outpatient. 

481 g. The applicant's payor miH at a minimum reflects the 

482 eorereunity average for Hedicaid, charity care, and self pay 

483 patients or the applicant must certify that it 'n'ill provide a 

484 minimum of 5 percent of Hedieaid, charity care, and self pay to 

485 open heart surgery patients. 

486 h. If the applicant fails to meet the established criteria 

487 for open heart programs or fails to reach 300 surgeries per year 

488 by the end of its third year o f operation, it must show cause 

4 8 9 r,,·hy its eHemption should not be revoke d. 

49 0 3. By December 31, 2004, and annually thereafter, the 

491 agency shall submit a report to the Legislature providing 

4 92 information concerning the number of requests for eJwmption it 

493 has received under this paragraph during the calendar year and 

4 94 the number of eJwmptions it has granted or denied during the 

Page 19 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB437 2016 

495 calendar year. 

496 (n) For the provision of percutaneous coronary 

4 97 intervention for patients presenting >Jith eFRergency FRyoeardial 

4 98 infarctions in a hospital '.Jithout an approved adult open heart 

49 9 surgery prograFR. In addition to any other docuFRentation required 

500 by the agency, a request for an eJreFRption subFRitted under this 

501 paragraph FRust coFRply ·,•ith the follovJing: 

502 1. The applicant FRust certify that it '.Jill FReet and 

50 3 continuously FRaintain the requireFRents adopted by the agency for 

504 the provision of these services. These licensure requireFRents 

505 shall be adopted by rule and FRust be consistent '.J ith the 

506 guidelines published by the AFRerican College of Cardio logy and 

507 the American Heart Association for the provision of percutaneous 

508 coronary interventions in hospitals ·,Jithout adult open heart 

509 services. At a FRiniFRuFR, the rules FRust require the folloHing: 

51 0 a. Cardiologists FRust be eHperienced interventionalists 

511 '.Jho have perforFRed a FRiniFRuFR of 75 interventions ·,Jithin the 

512 previous 12 FRonths. 

51 3 b. The hospital FRust provide a FRiniFRuFR of 36 eFRergency 

514 interventions annually in order to continue to provide the 

515 service. 

5 1 6 c. The hospital FRust offer sufficient physician, nursing, 

517 and laboratory staff to provide the services 2q hours a day, 7 

518 days a Heelc. 

519 d. Nursing and technical staff FRust have deFRonstrated 

520 eHperience in handling acutely ill patients requiring 

Page 20 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 437 2016 

521 intervention based on previous mrperience in dedicated 

522 inte r ventional laboratories or surgical centers . 

523 e. Cardiac care nursing staff must be adept in hemodynamic 

524 monitoring and Intra aortic Balloon Pump (IABP) management . 

52 5 f. Formalized vJritten transfer agreements must be 

52 6 deve l oped Hith a hospital r,;ith an adult open heart surgery 

527 program, and r,;ritten transport protocols must be in place to 

528 ensure safe and efficient transfer of a patient Hithin 60 

52 9 minutes. Transfer and transport agreements must be revier.;ed and 

5 30 tested , Hith appropriate documentation maintained at least every 

531 3 months . Hov;ever , a hospital located more than 100 road miles 

532 from the closest Level II adult cardiovascular services program 

5 33 does not need to meet the 60 minute transfer time protocol if 

534 the hospital demonstrates that it has a formalized, r,;ritten 

5 35 transfer agreement r,;ith a hospital that has a Level II program . 

536 The agreement must include Hritten transport protocols that 

537 ensure the safe and eff i cient transfer of a patient, taking into 

53 8 consideration the patient ' s clinical and physical 

539 characteristics , road and Heather conditions , and viability of 

5 40 ground and air ambulance service to transfer the patient . 

541 g . Hospitals implementing the service must first undertake 

542 a training program of 3 to 6 months' duration , ·,;hich includes 

543 establishing standards and testing logistics , creating quality 

5 44 assessment and error management practices, and formalizing 

54 5 patient selection cri t eria. 

54 6 2 . The applicant must certify that it Hill use at all 

Page 21 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



-------

FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB437 

5 47 tiffies the patient selection criteria for the perforffiance of 

5 48 priffiary angioplasty at hospitals Hithout adult open heart 

2016 

5 49 surgery prograffis issued by the Affierican College of Cardiology 

550 and the ,"rffierican Heart Association. At a ffiiniffiuffi, these criteria 

55 1 ·,JOuld provide for the folloHing: 

552 a. Avoidance of interventions in heffiodynaffiically stable 

553 patients ·,vho have identified syffiptoffis or ffiedical histories. 

55 4 b. Transfer of patients Hho have a history of coronary 

555 disease and clinical presentation of heffiodynaffii c instability. 

55 6 3 . The applicant ffiust agree to subffiit a quarterly report 

55 7 to the agency detailing patient chara c teristics, treatffient, and 

558 outcoffies for all patients receiving effie rgency percutaneous 

559 coronary interventions pursuant to this paragraph. This rep ort 

5 60 ffiust be subffiitted ·.vi thin 15 days after the close o f e ach 

56 1 calendar quarter. 

5 62 q. The eJWffiption provided by this paragraph does not apply 

5 63 unl e ss the agency deterffiines that the hospital has taken all 

5 64 necessary steps to be in coFRpliance r,vith all requireffients of 

5 65 this paragraph, including the training prograffi required under 

5 66 sub subparagraph 1.g. 

567 5. Failure of the hospital to continuously coffiply Hith the 

5 68 requireffients of sub subparagraphs 1.c. f. and subparagraphs 2. 

5 69 and 3. ·.vill result in the iffiffiediate eJ{piration of this 

57 0 e}{effipt ion . 

57 1 6 . Failure of the hospital to ffieet the voluffie requireffients 

572 of sub subparagraphs 1. a. and b. ·.vithin 18 ffionths after the 

Page 22 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB437 2016 

573 program begins offering the service ·.vill result in the iffiffiediate 

57 4 eHpiration of t h e eHemption . 

57 5 

57 6 If the eHempt i on for this service eHpires under subparagraph 5 . 

577 or subparagraph 6. , the agency may not grant another ocemption 

57 8 for this servi ce to the same hospital for 2 years and then only 

57 9 upon a shm;ing t hat the hospital ·,;ill remain in comp l iance Hith 

5 80 the requirements of this paragraph through a demonstration of 

58 1 corrections to the deficiencies that caused eJcpiration of the 

582 eHemp t ion . Compliance r,vith the requirements of th i s paragraph 

583 includes compliance ·.v i th the rules adopted pursuant to this 

58 4 paragraph. 

58 5 (e ) For the addition of mental health services or beds if 

58 6 the app l icant eoffiffiits to providing services to Hedieaid or 

587 charity care pa t ien t s at a level equal to or greater than the 

588 d i strict average . Such a coffiffiitment is subject to s . 408 . 0 40 . 

5 89 Jil~ Fo r repl aceme nt o f a li c ensed nu rs i ng h ome on t h e 

59 0 s ame site , o r within 5 miles o f the s ame si t e i f within t he s ame 

59 1 s ubdistri c t , if the n umbe r o f li ce n s e d b eds d o e s no t increa s e 

592 except a s p e rmitted unde r p arag r aph ~ ~-

5 93 ~~ Fo r cons o lidat i on or combi na tion of li c ensed 

594 nursing h omes o r t r ans f e r o f bed s b etween l icen sed nur sing home s 

595 within the same p l ann ing dis t r i c t , b y nur s ing h omes wi th any 

596 sha r ed c ontro lled int erest wi th in t ha t pl a nning di s t ri ct , i f 

597 the re is no inc r e as e i n the planni ng d i s t rict t ota l numbe r o f 

598 nu r s i ng home beds and the sit e o f t he r elocat i o n i s no t more 

Page 23 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

599 than 30 miles fr om the original location. 

600 Jll+Tt For beds in state mental health treatment 

601 facilities defined in s. 394 .455 and state mental health 

602 forensic facilities operated under chapter 916. 

603 ~+e+ For beds in state developmental disabilities 

604 centers as defined in s. 393 . 063 . 

2016 

605 ~+t+ For the establishment of a health care facility or 

606 project that meets all of the following criteria : 

607 1 . The applicant was previously licensed within the past 

608 21 days as a health care facility or provider that is subject to 

609 subsection (1) . 

610 2. The applicant failed to submit a renewal application 

61 1 and the license expired on or after January 1, 2015. 

612 3 . The applicant does not have a license denial or 

613 revocation action pending with the agency at the time of the 

614 request . 

615 4. The applicant ' s request is for the same service type , 

616 distr i ct , service area, and site for which the applicant was 

617 previously licensed . 

618 5 . The applicant ' s request, if applicable , includes the 

619 same number and type of beds as were previously licensed . 

620 6 . The applicant agrees to the same conditions that were 

621 previously imposed on the certificate of need or on an exemption 

622 related to the applicant's previously licensed health care 

623 facility or project . 

624 7 . The applicant applies for initial licensure as required 

Page 24 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB 437 201 6 

625 under s . 408.806 within 21 days after the agency approves the 

626 exemption request. If the applicant fails to apply in a timely 

627 manner, the exemption expires on the 22nd day following the 

628 agency ' s approval of the exemption . 

629 

630 Notwithstanding subparagraph 1., an applicant whose license 

631 expired between January 1, 2015, and the effective date of this 

632 act may apply for an exemption within 30 days of this act 

633 becoming law . 

634 (4) REQUESTS FOR EXEMPTION. - A request for exemption under 

635 subsection (3) may be made at any time and is not subject to the 

636 batching requirements of this section. The request shall be 

637 supported by such documentation as the agency requires by rule. 

638 The agency shall assess a fee of $250 for each request for 

639 exemption submitted under subsection (3). 

640 (5) NOTIFICATION. - Health care facilities and providers 

641 must provide to the agency notification of7 

642 +a+ replacement of a health care facility when the 

643 proposed project site is located in the same district and on the 

644 existing site or within a 1- mile radius of the replaced health 

645 care facility , if the number and type of beds do not increase. 

646 (b) The terffiination of a hea l th care service , upon 30 

647 days ' writ t en notice to the agency . 

648 (c) The addition or delieensure of beds. 

649 

650 Notification under this subsection may be made by electronic , 

Page 25 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 437 

651 facsimile , or written means at any time before the described 

652 action has been taken . 

653 Section 5. Section 408.037 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

654 to read : 

655 

656 

408 . 037 Application content.-

(1) EJEeept as provided in subsection (2) for a genera l 

2016 

657 hospital, An application for a certificate of need must contain : 

658 (a) A detailed description of the proposed project and 

659 statement of its purpose and need in relation to the district 

660 health plan . 

661 (b) A statement of the financial resources needed by and 

662 available to the applicant to accomplish the proposed project . 

663 This statement must include: 

664 1. A complete listing of all capital projects , including 

665 new health faci l ity development projects and health facility 

666 acquisitions applied for , pending , approved , or underway in any 

667 state at the time of application , regardless of whether or not 

668 that state has a\ certificate-of- need program or a capital 

669 expenditure review program pursuant to s. 1122 of the Social 

670 Security Act. The agency may, by rule , require less - detailed 

671 information from major health care providers. This listing must 

672 include the applicant ' s actual or proposed financial commitment 

673 to those projects and an assessment of their impact on the 

674 applicant ' s abi l ity to provide the proposed project. 

675 2 . A detailed listing of the needed capital expenditures, 

676 including sources of funds . 

Page 26 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 2016 

677 3 . A detailed financial projection , including a statement 

678 of the proje c ted revenue and expenses for the first 2 year s of 

679 operat i on after completi on of the propos ed project . This 

680 statement must include a detailed evaluati on of the impact of 

68 1 the proposed project on the cost of other services provided by 

682 the applicant . 

683 (c) An audited financial s tatement o f the applicant o r the 

684 applicant ' s paren t corporation if audited finan c ial sta tements 

685 of the applicant do not e x ist . In an application submi tted by an 

686 existing health care fa ci lit y , health maintenance organizat i on , 

687 or hospice, finan cial condition documentat i on must include , but 

688 need n o t be limited to , a balance sheet and a profit - and - loss 

689 statement of the 2 pre vious fiscal years ' operat i on . 

690 (2) An application for a certificate of need for a general 

691 hospital must contain a detailed description of the proposed 

692 general hospital project and a statement of its purpose and the 

693 needs it Hill meet. The proposed project ' s location , as Hell as 

694 its primary and secondary service areas , must be identified by 

695 zip code. Primary service area is defined as the zip codes from 

696 'dhich the applicant projects that it Hill draH 75 percent of its 

697 discharges . Secondary service area is defined as the zip codes 

698 from ·,vhich the applicant projects that it vvill dra~>< its 

699 remaining discharges . If , subsequent to issuance of a final 

700 order approving the certificate of need , the proposed location 

701 of the general hospital changes or the primary service area 

702 mater i ally changes , the agency shall revoke the certificate of 

Page 27 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

70 3 need. However, if the agency determines that such changes are 

7 0 4 deemed to enhance access to hospital services in the service 

705 district , the agency may permit such changes to occur . A party 

7 0 6 participating in the administrative hearing regarding the 

2016 

707 issuan ce of the certificate of need for a general hospital has 

708 standing to participate in any subsequen t proceeding regarding 

709 the revocation of the certificate of need for a hospital for 

710 ·,Jhich the location has changed o r f o r which the primary service 

711 area has materially changed. In addition , the app lication for 

712 the certificate of need for a ge neral hospital must include a 

713 statemen t of intent that , if appr oved by final order of the 

71 4 agency , the applicant shall within 12 0 days after issuance of 

715 the fina l order or , if there is an appeal of the final o rder , 

716 Hith i n 120 days after the issuance of the court ' s mandate on 

717 appeal , furnish satisfactory proof of the appli c ant ' s financial 

718 ability t o operate . The agency shall establish documentation 

719 requi r ements , to be completed by e ach appli c ant, whi c h she'd 

72 0 a n tic i pated provider revenues and eHpenditures, the basis f or 

72 1 f i nanc i ng t he antic i pated cash floH requirements of the 

722 provider , and an applican t ' s a ccess to contingenc y financing . A 

723 party participating in the administrative hearing regarding the 

724 issuance of the cert i ficate of need for a general hospital may 

725 provide ·,:ritten comments concerning t he adequa c y o f the 

726 financial information provided , but such party does not have 

727 standing t o participate i n an administrative proceed i ng 

7 28 regard i ng proof of the app l icant ' s financial ability to operate. 

Page 28 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB437 2016 

729 The agency may require a licensee to provide proof of financial 

730 ability to operate at any time if there is evidence of financial 

731 instability , including , but not limited to, unpaid enpenses 

7 32 necessary for the basic operations of the provider . 

733 J11+3+ The a ppl i c ant must cert ify tha t i t will l i cense and 

73 4 op e rate the h e al t h care f acil i t y . For a n e xi sting h ea lth c are 

73 5 fa c ility , the a pp lic ant must be the li c enseholder o f the 

736 f ac ility . 

73 7 Section 6 . Pa ragraphs (c) a nd (d) of s ubsection (3) , 

738 p aragraphs (b) and (c) o f s ub sect i o n (5 ) , a nd p a rag r aph (d) o f 

739 s ubse c ti on (6) o f secti o n 408 . 039 , Fl o rida Statute s, ar e ame nded 

740 t o r e a d : 

7 41 40 8 . 039 Rev i ew proces s . -The r ev iew process f o r 

742 certifi c ates o f ne e d shall be as fo ll ows : 

74 3 (3) APPLICATI ON PROCESSI NG . -

744 (c) Encept for competing applicants , in order to be 

745 eligible to challenge the agency decision on a general hospital 

7 4 6 application under revie'n' pursuan t to paragraph ( 5 ) (c ) , enisting 

7 47 hospi t als must submit a detailed Hritten statement of oppos i tion 

7 48 to the agency and to the appli c ant . The detailed Hritten 

749 statement must be received by the agency and the applicant 

7 50 ·,;ithin 21 days after the general hospital application is deemed 

75 1 complete and made available to the public . 

7 52 (d) In those cases Hhere a 'nTitten statement of opposition 

753 has been time l y f i led regarding a certificate of need 

754 application for a general hospital , the applicant for the 

Page 29 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB437 

755 general hospital may submit a r,:ritten response to the agency . 

7 56 Such response must be received by the agency Hithin 10 days of 

7 57 the ·.nitten s t atement due date. 

758 (5) ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS . -

759 (b) Hearings shall be held in Tallahassee unless the 

760 administrative law judge determines that changing the location 

761 will facilitate the proceedings . The agency shall assign 

2016 

762 proceedings requiring hearings to the Division of Administrative 

763 Hearings of the Department of Management Services within 10 days 

764 after the time has expired for requesting a hearing . Except upon 

765 unanimous consent of the parties or upon the granting by the 

766 administrative law judge of a motion o f continuance , hearings 

767 shall commence within 60 days after the administrative law judge 

768 has been assigned . For an application for a general hospital, 

7 69 admin i strative hearings shall commence ·.vithin 6 months after the 

770 admin i strative law judge has been assigned , and a continuance 

771 may not be granted abse n t a finding of eHtraordinary 

7 7 2 c i rcumstances by the administrative lm• j udge. All parties , 

773 except the agency , shall bear their own expense of preparing a 

774 transcript . In any application for a certificate of need which 

775 is referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings for 

776 hearing , the administrative law judge shall complete and submit 

777 to the parties a re commended order as provided in ss . 120.569 

778 and 120 . 57 . The recommended order shall be issued within 30 days 

779 after the receipt of the proposed recommended orders or the 

780 deadline for submission of such proposed recommended orders , 

Page 30 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESEN T ATI V ES 

HB 437 

781 whi c hever is earlier. The division shall adopt procedures for 

782 administrative hearings which shall maximize the use of 

2016 

783 stipulated facts and shall provide for the admission of prepared 

784 testimony . 

785 (c) In administrative proceedings challenging the issuance 

786 or denial of a certificate of need, only appli cant s considered 

787 by t he agency in the same batching cycle ar e entitled to a 

788 comparative hearing on their applications. Existing heal th care 

789 facilities may init iate or intervene in an administrative 

790 hearing upon a showing that an established program will be 

791 substantially affected by the issuance o f any certificate o f 

792 need, whether reviewed under s . 408.036(1) or (2) , to a 

793 competing proposed facility o r program within the same district . 

794 With respect to an application for a general hospital , competing 

795 applicants and only those enisting hospitals that submitted a 

796 detailed ·.vritten statement of opposition to an application as 

797 provided in this paragraph may initiate or intervene in an 

798 admin i strative hearing. Such challenges to a general hospital 

799 application shall be limited in scope to the issues raised in 

800 the detailed written statement of opposition that was provided 

801 to the agency . The administrative la·.: judge may , upon a motion 

802 sho,;ing good cause, ocpand the scope of the issues to be heard 

803 at the hearing. Such motion shall include substantial and 

804 deta il ed facts and reasons for failure to include such issues in 

805 the original written statement of opposition. 

806 (6) JUDIC IAL REVIEW . -

Page 31 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB437 

8 07 (d) The party appealing a final order that grants a 

8 08 general hospital certificate of need shall pay the appellee's 

8 09 attorney's fees and coots, in an amount up to $1 million, from 

8 10 the beginning of the original administrative action if the 

8 11 appealing party loses the appeal, subject to the following 

812 limitations and requirements: 

81 3 1. The party appealing a final order must post a bond in 

814 the amount of $1 million in order to maintain the appeal. 

815 2. Except as provided under s. 120.595(5), in no event 

2016 

8 1 6 shall the agency be held liable for any other party's attorney's 

8 17 fees or costs. 

8 18 Se c tion 7 . Sub s e ct ion (1 ) o f s ecti on 408 . 043 , Fl o rida 

8 19 Statute s, is amend e d t o read : 

820 408 .043 Sp ec i a l prov i s i on s .-

82 1 (1) OSTEOPATHIC ACUTE CARE HOSPITALS. When an application 

822 is made for a certificate of need to construct or to expand an 

823 osteopathic acute care hospital, the need for such hospital 

82 4 shall be determined on the basis of the need for and 

825 availability of osteopathic services and osteopathic acute care 

826 hospitals in the district. When a prior certificate of need to 

82 7 establish an osteopathic acute care hospital has been issued in 

82 8 a district, and the facility is no longer used for that purpose, 

829 the agency may continue to count ouch facility and beds as an 

830 existing osteopathic facility in any subsequent application for 

83 1 construction of an osteopathic acute care hospital. 

832 Se ct i on 8 . Para graph (f ) o f s ubsection (1) o f se c tion 

Page 32 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 2016 

833 395.1055 , Florida Statutes, is amended to read : 

834 395 .1055 Rules and enforcement.-

835 (1) The agency shall adopt rules pursuant to ss . 

836 120.536(1) and 120.54 to implement the provisions o f this part, 

837 which shall include reasonable and fair minimum standards for 

838 ensuring that: 

839 (f ) All hospitals providing pediatric cardiac 

840 catheterization , pediatric open-heart surgery , o rgan 

841 transplantation, neonatal intensive care services , psychiatric 

842 services , or comprehensive medical rehabilitation meet the 

843 minimum licensure requirements adopted by the agency . Such 

84 4 licensure requirements shall include quality o f care , nurse 

845 staffing, physician staffing, physical plant , equipment , 

846 emergency transportation , and data reporting standards submit 

8 4 7 such data as necessary to conduct certificate of need revie·,Js 

848 required under part I of chapter 408. Such data shall include, 

849 but shall not be limited to, patient origin data, hospital 

850 utilization data, type of service reporting, and facility 

851 staffing data. The agency may not collect data that identifies 

852 or could disclose the identity of individual patients. The 

8 53 agency shall utilize eHisting uniform stateJide data sources 

854 when available and shall minimize reporting costs to hospitals. 

855 Section 9 . Section 395.6025 , Flor ida Statutes , is 

856 repealed . 

857 Section 10. Subsection (1) of section 395 . 603 , Florida 

858 Statutes , is amended to read : 

Page 33 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

859 395 . 603 Deactivation of general hospital beds; rural 

8 60 hospital impact statement . -

861 (1) The agency shall establish , by rule , a process by 

862 which a rural hospital, as defined ins. 395 . 602 , that seeks 

863 licensure as a rural primary care hospital or as an emergency 

864 ca re hospital , o r becomes a certif i ed rural health c lini c as 

2016 

865 defined in Pub. L. No. 95-210, or becomes a primary care program 

866 such as a county health department , community health center , or 

867 other similar outpatient program that provides preventive and 

868 curative services, may deactivate general hospital beds . Rural 

869 primary care hospitals and emergency care hospitals shall 

870 maintain the number of actively li censed general hospital beds 

871 necessary for the facility to be certified for Medicare 

872 reimbursement . Hospitals that discontinue inpatient ca re to 

873 become rural health care clinics or primary care programs shall 

874 deactivate all licensed general hospital beds . All hospitals, 

875 clinics , and programs with inactive beds shall provide 24 -hour 

876 emergency medical care by staffing an emergency room . Providers 

877 with inactive beds shall be subject to the criteria in s . 

878 395 .1 041 . The agency shall specify in rule requirements for 

879 making 24 - hour emergency care available . Inactive general 

880 hospital beds shall be included in the acute care bed inventory, 

881 maintained by the agency for certificate of need purposes , for 

882 10 years from the date of deactivation of the beds. After 10 

883 years have elapsed, inactive beds shall be owluded from the 

884 inventory. The agency shall , at the request of the licensee, 

Page 34 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

885 reactivate the inactive general beds upon a showing by the 

886 licensee that licensure requirements for the inactive general 

887 beds are met . 

888 Sect ion 11 . Subsection (1) of section 395 . 604 , Florida 

889 Statutes , is amended to read : 

890 395.604 Other rural hospital programs . -

891 (1) The agency may license rural primary care hospitals 

892 subject to federal approval for participation in the Medicare 

893 and Medicaid programs . Rural primary care hospitals shall be 

2016 

894 treated in the same manner as emergency care hospitals and rural 

895 hospitals with respect toss . 395.605(2) - (7) (a) 395 . 605(2) 

896 (8) (a) , 408 . 033(2) (b)3 ., and 408.038 . 

897 Section 12 . Subsection (5) of section 395 . 605 , Florida 

898 Statutes , is amended to read : 

899 395 . 605 Emergency care hospitals . -

900 (5) Rural hosp ita l s t hat FRalce appl i cat i on unde r the 

901 certifica t e of need program to be licensed as eFRergency care 

902 hospita l s shall r ece i ve eHpedited r evi eH as def i ned i n s . 

903 408 . 032 . EFRergency care hospi ta l s see ki ng relicensure as acute 

904 care gene r a l hospita l s shall also rece i ve Clfpedi ted r evi e·,J . 

905 Section 13 . Subsections (2) and (4) of section 408.0361 , 

906 Florida Statutes , are amended to read : 

907 408 . 0361 Cardiovascular services and burn unit licensure.-

908 (2) Each provider of adult cardiovascul ar services or 

909 operator of a burn unit shall comply with rules adopted by the 

910 agency that establ ish licensure standards that govern the 

Page 35 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 437 2016 

911 provision of adult cardiovascular services or the operation of a 

912 burn unit. Such rules shall consider , at a minimum, staffing, 

913 equipment , physical plant, operating protocols, the provision of 

914 services to Medicaid and charity care patients, accreditation, 

915 licensure period and fees, and enforcement of minimum standards . 

916 The cert i ficate of need rules for adult cardiovascu l ar services 

917 and burn units in effect on June 30, 2004, are authoriLed 

918 pur suant to this subsection and shall remain in effect and shall 

919 be enforceable by the agency until the licensure rules are 

920 adopted . Existing providers and any provider with a notice of 

921 intent to grant a certificate of need or a final order of the 

922 agency granting a certificate of need for adult cardiovascular 

923 services or burn units shall be considered grandfathered and 

924 receive a license for their programs effective on the effective 

925 date of this act. The grandfathered licensure shall be for at 

926 least 3 years or until July 1 , 2008, whichever is longer , but 

927 shall be required to meet licensure standards applicable to 

928 existing programs for every subsequent licensure period . 

929 (4) In order to ensure continuity of available services , 

930 the holder of a cert i ficate of need for a neHly licensed 

931 hospital that meets the requirements of this subsection may 

932 app l y for and sha l l be granted Level I program status regard l ess 

933 of whether rules relating to Level I programs have been adopted. 

934 To qualify for a Level I program under this subsection , a 

935 hosp i ta l seelc ing a Level I program must be a ne·,Jly licensed 

936 hospita l estab l ished pursuant to a certificate of need in a 

Page 36 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 437 

93 7 physical location previously licensed and operated as a 

93 8 hospital, the former hospital must have provided a minimum of 

93 9 300 adult inpatient and outpatient diagnostic cardiac 

2016 

940 catheterizations for the most recent 12 month period as reported 

941 to the agency, and the neHly licensed hospital must have a 

94 2 formalized, Hritten transfer agreement Hith a hospital that has 

94 3 a Level II program, including ·.vritten transport protocols to 

94 4 ensure safe and efficient transfer of a patient vJithin 60 

945 minutes. A hospital meeting the requirements of this subsection 

94 6 may apply for certification of Level I program status before 

947 taking possession of the physical location of the former 

948 hospital, and the effective date of Level I program status shall 

94 9 be concurrent Hith the effective date of the nevlly issued 

950 hospital license. 

95 1 Secti on 14. Thi s act s hal l t ake ef f ect J ul y 1, 2016 . 

Page 37 of 37 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0437-00 



~ - --- -~-- ------- ---



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 581 State Veterans' Nursing Homes 
SPONSOR{S): Magar 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Innovation Subcommittee 10 Y, 0 N Guzzo 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee Garner 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche 

Pridgeon 

HB 581 creates a site selection process for new state veterans' nursing homes to be administered by the Florida 
Department of Veterans' Affairs (FDVA). 

The State Veterans' Homes Program, administered by FDVA, provides care to eligible veterans in need of either long
term skilled nursing care or assisted living services. Currently, there are six state veterans' nursing homes in Florida . . 
Because of the size and age of the veteran population , Florida is near the top of the list of states with a "Great Need" for 
veterans' nursing home beds as determined by the U.S. Department of Veterans' Affairs (VA). As a result, Florida will 
receive priority over other states applying to the VA for grants for the construction of new state veterans' nursing homes. 

Currently, no Florida law governs FDVA's site selection process. FDVA's current process is two-tiered . First, FDVA 
contracts for a Site Selection Study (Study) to rank each county based on greatest need using certain measureable 
criteria . Second, FDVA sends applications to the top ten counties identified in the Study. Each county that wishes to be 
considered in the selection process must submit an application, which includes other measureable criteria, to FDVA by a 
specified date. The application is scored by a Site Selection Committee appointed by the Executive Director of FDVA. 
The county with the highest score is awarded the site, subject to approval by the Governor and the Cabinet. 

The bill creates a single-step site selection process, in news. 296.42, F.S. The bill requires FDVA to contract for a study 
to determine the most appropriate county for construction of a nursing home based on the greatest level of need. The 
study must be delivered to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives 
by November 1, 2016, and a new study must be conducted and submitted every 4 years thereafter. 

The bill requires that the study rank each county using the following criteria: 
• The distance from the geographic center of the county to the nearest existing state veterans' nursing home; 
• The number of veterans aged 65 years and older living in the county; 
• The availability of emergency health care in the county; 
• The presence of an existing Veterans' Health Administration Medical Center or Outpatient Clinic in the 

county; 
• The number of existing nursing home beds per 1 ,000 elderly male residents of the county; 
• The presence of accredited education institutions with health care programs in the county; and 
• The county poverty rate. 

FDVA must select the county with the highest ranking as the site for the new home, subject to approval by the Governor 
and the Cabinet. The bill requires the next highest ranked county to be selected if a higher ranked county cannot 
participate. The study must be used to determine the site of any new veterans' nursing home authorized before July 1, 
2020. The bill requires the Site Selection Study dated February 7, 2014, to be used to select a county for a new veterans' 
nursing home before November 1, 2016, if authorized. 

The bill requires the FDVA to contract for a Site Selection Study which was competitively procured in previous years at the 
cost of $38,692. This additional cost can be absorbed with existing appropriations. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0581b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



t 

FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

State Veterans' Homes Program 

The Florida Department of Veterans' Affairs (FDVA) operates the State Veterans' Homes Program 
(Program) as authorized by Chapters 292 and 296, F.S.1 The Program provides care to eligible 
veterans in need of either long-term skilled nursing care or assisted living services. Care is provided to 
veterans with qualifying war or peacetime service, who are residents of Florida and who require skilled 
care as certified by a U.S. Department of Veterans' Affairs (USDVA) physician.2 There are over 
700,000 veterans aged 65 years and older in the state.3 

Currently, there are six state veterans' nursing homes in Florida. Five of the six homes have dementia
specific care. 4 The six nursing homes are located in Daytona Beach, Land 0 ' Lakes, Pembroke Pines, 
Panama City, Port Charlotte, and St. Augustine. Currently, the Program has a total of 720 skilled
nursing beds and an average occupancy rate of 99%.5 In 2014, St. Lucie County was selected as the 
site for the seventh nursing home. The home is currently in the initial planning stages.6 

Funding 

The construction of a new nursing home is subject to approval by the Governor and Cabinet. Funding 
is based on a 65% I 35% federal/state split of the cost. 7 Florida is near the top of the list of states with 
a "Great Need" for veterans' nursing home beds as determined by the USDVA.8 As a result , Florida 
will receive priority over other states applying to USDVA for grants for the construction of new state 
veterans' nursing homes. The estimated cost to build a new nursing home can range from $37 million 
to $50 million, depending on style, land condition, materials used, weather resistance and energy 
efficiency.9 

According to FDVA, the total cost of the seventh nursing home in St. Lucie County is $39.8 million .10 

The state pro-rata share of cost is $13.9 million and will be paid from the FDVA Operations and 
Maintenance Trust Fund.11 Funding for future nursing homes will need to be supported by General 
Revenue funding. 12 

1 S. 292 .05(7), F.S. "The Department shall administer this chapter and shall have the authority and responsibility to apply for and 
administer any federal programs and develop and coordinate such state programs as may be beneficial to the particular interests of the 
veterans of this state."; part II of ch. 296 , F .S., titled "The Veterans' Nursing Home of Florida Act" provides for the establishment of 
basic standards by FDVA for the operation of veteran 's nursing homes for eligible veterans in need of such services. 
2 S. 296.36, F.S. 
3 Florida Department of Veterans' Affairs , Long Range Program Plan Fiscal Years 2016-17 through 2020-21, page 1 0, available at 
http://floridavets.org/about-us/long-range-program-plan/ (last viewed on November 24, 2015). 
4 AHCA, Florida Health Finder.gov, Facility Provider Locator; General Search by Nursing Home; Advanced Search (Special Programs 
and Services) by Alzheimer's, available at http://www.floridahealthfinder.gov/facilitvlocator/FacilitySearch .aspx (last viewed November 
24, 2015). 
5 FDVA, Presentation to the House Health Care Appropriations Committee on November 3, 2015, State Veterans ' Homes Program and 
Fixed Capital Outlay Projects, at pg . 3 (on file with Health Innovation Subcommittee staff). 
6 FDVA, Fourth Quarter Report, Administrative Highlights, Current Issues Concerns, New State Veterans' Nursing Home, (April1 -
June 30 , 2015). 
7 38 CFR §59.80 
8 38 CFR §59.50(1 )(iii); see also 38 CFR §§59.40 and .50. 
9 E-mail correspondence, FDVA, February 12, 2015, (on file with Health Innovation Subcommittee staff). 
10 Supra , FN 5 at pg . 10, "Changes in the construction schedule of state veteran ' home number 7 may result in differences in actual 
expenditures by fiscal year. However, total cost of the project is not expected to vary from the total amount of $39.75 million . 
11 ld . 
12 Supra, at FN 8. 
STORAGE NAME: h0581b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Site Selection Process for Recently Authorized State Veterans' Nursing Homes 

State Veterans ' Nursing Home Seven (St. Lucie County) 

In 2013, the Legislature appropriated funds for FDVA to contract with a private entity to conduct a Site 
Selection Study (Study).13 The purpose of the Study was to identify five communities, defined as 
single-county or multi-county areas, to be given priority for development of a new state veterans' 
nursing home. 

Counties that did not meet certain minimum threshold criteria, including access to emergency care and 
the availability of health care professionals, were eliminated from consideration before the Study 
began. Counties with an existing state veterans' nursing home and those located within 25 miles of an 
existing home were also eliminated from consideration. 

The Study used the following criteria to score the counties, rank ordered from greatest to least value 
assigned: 

• Number of elderly veterans in the county; 
• Ratio of existing nursing home beds per/1 ,000 elderly male residents in the county; 
• County poverty rate ; 
• Distance to an existing state veterans' nursing home; 
• Presence of an existing veterans' health care facility in the county; and 
• Presence of nursing education programs in the county. 

The Study identified the following top ten counties with the greatest need for a new state veterans' 
nursing home, ranked in order of greatest need based on the scoring criteria : 

Study Ranking County 
1 Collier 
2 Lee 
3 Polk 
4 Manatee 
5 Marion 
6 Putnam 
7 St. Lucie 
8 Hillsborough 
9 Palm Beach 
10 Sumter 

FDVA sent applications to all ten counties listed in the Study. Six of the counties submitted 
applications: Collier County, Polk County, Manatee County, Marion County, Putnam County, and St. 
Lucie County. A Site Selection Committee (Committee) was created by the Executive Director of FDVA 
to evaluate each application . 

The Committee established factors for consideration , and assigned a score of 0 to 50 points for each of 
the following criteria : 

• Number of veterans aged 65 or older living within a 75 mile radius of the proposed site; 
• Number of nursing home beds and assisted living facility beds located within 10 miles of the 

proposed site; 

13 Hoy & Stark Architects , Site Selection Study; Phase I State Veterans' Nursing Homes Statewide , February 7, 2014, (on file with the 
Health Innovation Subcommittee staff) . 
STORAGE NAME: h0581b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



• Suitability of the donated site in terms of its general surroundings and support capabilities; 
• Availability of emergency health care, as determined by: 

o Number of hospitals and/or emergency care centers within 25 miles of the proposed site; 
o Number of emergency room holding beds per facility; 
o Presence of in-house physicians on staff in the emergency room 24 hours/day, 7 

days/week; and 
o The nursing workforce. 

• Availability of health care professionals, as determined by the number of accredited educational 
institutions located within 50 miles of the proposed site; and 

• Availability of infrastructure at the site, including roads , water, sewer, telephone lines, and 
electricity/natural gas services, all of which must link to the property line of the proposed site at 
no cost to the state. 

The Committee's final rankings were: 

Committee Ranking County Study Ranking 
1 St. Lucie 7 
2 Marion 5 
3 Collier Site B 1 
4 Collier Site A 1 
5 Polk Site A 3 
6 Polk Site B 3 

St. Lucie County was selected as the site for the seventh nursing home, and approved by the Governor 
and Cabinet on September 23, 2014. 

State Veterans ' Nursing Home Six (St. Johns County) 

The same site selection process was used to determine the site of the sixth nursing home. A Study 14 

was conducted in 2004 and the home was built in 2010. The extended length of time between site 
selection and construction of the nursing home was due to a lack of funds caused by the economic 
recession in the mid-2000s. 

The Study identified the following top twelve areas, which included counties and multi-county groups, 
with the greatest need for a veterans' nursing home: 

Study Ranking County or Area 
1 Lake/Marion/Sumter 
2 Duval 
3 Brevard 
4 Escambia/Santa Rosa/Okaloosa 
5 Indian River/Martin/St. Lucie 
6 Orange/Seminole 
7 Collier/Lee 
8 Palm Beach 
9 Sarasota/Manatee 
10 Polk 
11 Citrus/Hernando 
12 Pinellas 

The Committee selected St. Johns County as the site for sixth veterans' nursing home. St. Johns 
County was not identified in the Study as an area of need . 

14 
Health Strategies, Inc. , Nursing Home Site Selection Study, February 2004, (on file with the Health Innovation Subcommittee staff). 

STORAGE NAME: h0581b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



Site Selection Process Workshop 

In February 2015, FDVA conducted a state veterans' nursing home site selection process workshop 
(workshop). The goal of the workshop was to review the existing site selection process and determine 
if the process is valid and useful for future site selections.15 

The final report from the workshop included the following recommendations: 

• Follow the 2014 site selection study recommendations but allow up to three adjoining counties 
to combine and submit a single application; 

• Revise weighting of the application, but not the site selection study; 
• Outline weighted factors in the application packet; 
• Limit counties to a single site proposal to ensure counties put their best product forward and 

apply resources to that site accordingly; 
• Keep the site selection committee intact, but change the point of contact to a non-voting 

member; 
• Redesign the application form; 
• Revise the score sheet to add a scoring scale and train site selection committee members 

accordingly; 
• Rank order sites in the next site selection process from one through four and award homes 

8,9, and 10 to the top three sites with the fourth site being an alternate if site number three is 
disqualified by FDVA or the USDVA; and 

• Allow runner-up sites in scoring to become alternate sites.16 

On November 10, 2015, FDVA presented the recommendations to the Governor and Cabinet for 
approval. The Governor and Cabinet approved all but one of the recommendations. Specifically, the 
recommendation to rank order sites in the next site selection process from one through four and award 
homes 8,9, and 10 to the top three sites was not accepted. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill creates a single-step site selection process, in news. 296.42, F.S. The bill requires FDVA to 
contract for a study to determine the most appropriate county for construction of a new nursing home 
based on the greatest level of need. The study must be delivered to the Governor, President of the 
Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives by November 1, 2016, and a new study must 
be conducted and submitted every 4 years thereafter. 

The bill requires the study to use the following criteria to rank each county: 

• The distance from the geographic center of the county to the nearest existing state veterans' 
nursing home; 

• The number of veterans aged 65 years and older living in the county; 
• The availability of emergency health care in the county, as determined by: 

o The number of general hospitals; 
o The number of emergency room holding beds per hospital; and 
o The number of in-house physicians per hospital on staff in the emergency room 24 

hours per day. 
• The presence of an existing Veterans' Health Administration Medical Center or Outpatient Clinic 

in the county; 
• The number of existing nursing home beds per 1 ,000 elderly male residents of the county; 
• The presence of accredited education institutions with health care programs in the county; and 

15 FDVA, State Veterans ' Nursing Home Site Selection Process Workshop Results and Recommendations, Final Report, (March 12, 
2015). 
16 ld. 
STORAGE NAME: h0581b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 12/3/2015 



• The county poverty rate. 

The county with the highest ranking must be selected as the site for the new home, subject to approval 
by the Governor and the Cabinet. The bill requires the next highest ranked county to be selected if a 
higher ranked county cannot participate. The study must be used to determine the site for any 
veterans' nursing home authorized before July 1, 2020. For any veterans' nursing home authorized 
before November 1, 2016, the bill requires the FDVA to use the 2014 Site Selection Study. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Creates s. 296.42, F.S., relating to the site selection process for state veterans' nursing 
homes. 

Section 2: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

The bill requires FDVA to contract for a study to rank each county according to greatest need to 
determine the most appropriate site for a new veterans' nursing home. The Site Selection Study for 
the determination of the seventh state nursing home location was competitively procured and a 
contract was awarded to Hoy+ Stark Architects, P.A. for a total cost of $38,692.17 This additional 
cost can be absorbed with existing appropriations. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

None. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

17 E-mail correspondence, FDVA, March 19, 2015, (on file with Health Innovation Subcommittee staff). 
STORAGE NAME: h0581b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE: 6 



Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

Not applicable. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0581b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/3/2015 

PAGE: 7 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB581 2016 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to state veterans ' nursing homes ; 

3 creating s . 296 .4 2 , F.S.; directing the Department of 

4 Veterans ' Affairs to contract for a study to determine 

5 the need for addit i onal state veterans ' nursing homes 

6 and the most appropriate counties in which to locate 

7 the homes; directing the department to submit the 

8 study to the Governor and Legislature; providing study 

9 criteria for ranking each county according to need; 

10 requiring the department to use specified studies to 

11 select new nursing home sites; directing the 

12 department to contract for subsequent studies and 

13 submit the studies to the Governo r and Legislature; 

14 providing an effective date. 

15 

16 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

17 

18 Section 1. Section 296.42 , Florida Statutes , is created to 

19 read : 

20 296 . 42 Site selection process for state veterans' nursing 

21 homes. -

22 (1) The department shall contract for a study to determine 

23 the need for new state veterans ' nursing homes and the most 

24 appropriate counties in which to l o cate the homes based on the 

25 greatest level of need . The department shall submit the study to 

26 the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0581-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 581 2016 

27 the House of Representatives by November 1 , 2016 . 

28 (2) The study shall use the following criteria to rank 

29 each county according to need: 

30 (a) The distance from the geographic center of the county 

31 to the nearest existing state veterans ' nursing home. 

32 (b) The number of veterans age 65 years or older residing 

33 in the county . 

34 (c) The presence of an existing federa l Veterans' Health 

35 Administration medical center or outpatient clinic in the 

36 county. 

37 (d) Elements o f emergency health care in the county , as 

38 determined by : 

39 1. The number of general hospitals . 

40 

41 

2. The number of emergency room holding beds per hospital . 

3 . The number of in - house physicians per hospital on staff 

42 in the emergency room 24 hours per day. 

43 (e) The number of existing community nursing home beds per 

44 1 , 000 males age 65 years or older residing in the county. 

45 (f) The presence of an accredited educational institution 

46 offering health care programs in the county. 

(g) The county poverty rate. 47 

48 (3) The department shall use the study ranking to select 

49 each new state veterans ' nursing home site authorized before 

50 July 1 , 2020 , s ubject to approval by the Governor and Cabinet. 

51 For each new nursing home , the department shall select the 

52 h i ghes t- ranked county in the study which does not have a 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0581-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 581 2016 

53 veterans ' nursing home. If the highest-ranked county cannot 

54 serve as the site , the department shall select the next-highes t -

55 ranked county . The department shall use the 2014 Site Selection 

56 Study to select a count y for any new state veterans ' nursing 

57 home authorized before November 1, 2016, subject t o approval by 

58 the Governor and Cabinet. 

59 (4) The department shall contract for and submit a new 

60 study in accordance with this section by November 1 , 2020 , and 

61 every 4 years thereafter . 

62 Sect i on 2 . This act shall take effect July 1, 2016. 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0581-00 



(") 
en -::I: 
OJ 
c.n 
<0 
c.n 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: CS/HB 595 Reimbursement to Health Access Settings for Dental Hygiene Services for 
Children 
SPONSOR(S): Health Innovation Subcommittee; Plasencia 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 580 

REFERENCE 

1) Health Innovation Subcommittee 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

ACTION 

10 Y, 0 N, As 
cs 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST 

McElroy 

Clark 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche 

Pridgeon 

Section 466.024(2), F.S., authorizes licensed dental hygienists to perform a limited number of unsupervised 
remediable tasks in health access settings, such as county health departments, Head Start programs, and 
other facilities , as defined ins. 466.003(14), F.S. These remediable tasks are reimbursable pursuant to s. 
466.024(4), F.S.; however, reimbursement is barred under the Managed Medical Assistance (MMA) program 
ass. 409.906(6), F.S., authorizes reimbursement for dental services only when performed under the 
supervision of a licensed dentist. 

CS/HB 595 eliminates the conflict by amending s. 409.906(6), F.S. , to allow for reimbursement to the health 
access setting by the Agency for Health Care Administration for the remediable tasks that a licensed dental 
hygienist is authorized to perform under s. 466.024(2), F.S., on children under the age of 21 in the MMA 
program. 

The bill has an indeterminate but likely insignificant fiscal impact on the Agency for Health Care Administration. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/4/2015 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Oral Health 

Oral health has a significant impact on an individual's physical and mental health . It can influence how 
individuals grow, enjoy life, look, speak, chew, taste food and socialize, as well as their feelings of 
social well-being. 1 It can also affect, be affected or contribute to various diseases and conditions 
including:2 

• Endocarditis; 
• Cardiovascular disease; 
• Diabetes; 
• HIV/AIDS; 
• Osteoporosis; and 
• Alzheimer's disease. 

For children, poor oral health can result in pain, discomfort, disfigurement, acute and chronic infections, 
eating and sleep disruption and an overall reduction of quality of life.3 Children with poorer oral health 
are also more likely to miss school , have a lower grade-point average and otherwise perform poorly in 
school.4 In fact, one study concluded that visits or dental problems accounted for 117,000 hours of 
school lost per 100,000 children .5 

Tooth decay is one of the most common, and easily preventable, chronic conditions of childhood in the 
United States.6 About 20% of children aged 5-11 and 13% of adolescents aged 12-19 have at least one 
untreated tooth decay.7 The prevalence of tooth decay is more than twice as high, 25% compared to 
11%, for children from low-income families. 8 

Dental Workforce 

Currently, there is a national workforce shortage of dentists, and it is projected to worsen in the future. 
In 2012, there were 190,800 dentists with an estimated need of 197,800 dentists, resulting in a 
shortage of 7,000 dentists.9 By 2025, projections have 202,600 dentists in practice with a need for 

1 Oral Health, General Health and Quality of Life, World Health Organization , Aubrey Sheiham, Volume 83, Number 9, September 
2005, 641-720. http://www.who.inVbulletin/volumes/83/9/editorial30905html/en/ (last visited November 23, 2015). 
2 What Conditions May be Linked to Oral Health, Mayo Clinic. http://www.mayoclinic.org/healthy-lifestyle/adult-health/in
depth/dental/art-20047475?pg=2 (last visited on November 23, 2015}. 
3 1d. 
4 Impact of Poor Oral Health on Children's School Attendance and Performance, Stephanie L. Jackson, DDS, MS, corresponding 
author William F. Vann , Jr, DMD, PhD, Jonathan B. Kotch , MD, MPH, Bhavna T. Pahel, PhD, MPH, BDS, and Jessica Y. Lee, DDS, 
PhD, MPH, American Journal of Public Health, Am J Public Health . 2011 October; 101(10}: 1900-1906. 
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3222359/ (last visited on November 23, 2015); The Impact of Oral Health on the 
Academic Performance of Disadvantaged Children , Hazem Seirawan, DDS, MPH, MS, Sharon Faust, DDS, and Roseann Mulligan, 
DDS, MS, American Journal of Public Health, Am J Public Health. 2012 September; 102(9): 1729-1734. 
http://www.ncbi .nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3482021/ (last visited on November 23, 2015). 
5 Supra footnote 1 . 
6 Children 's Oral Health , Centers for Disease Control and Prevention , Division of Oral Health , National Center for Chronic Disease 
Prevention and Health Promotion. http://www.cdc.gov/oralhealth/children adults/child.htm (last visited November 23, 2015). 
7 ld. 
8 1d . 
9 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, National Center for Health 
Workforce Analysis. National and State-Level Projections of Dentists and Dental Hygienists in the U.S., 2012-2025. Rockville , 
STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 12/4/2015 



211,200 dentists. 10 This projected shortage of 8,600 dentists, combined with the 2012 shortage, results 
in a shortage of 15,600 dentists by the year 2025. All 50 states and the District of Columbia are 
projected to have a shortfall of dentists with Florida projected to have the second highest shortfall in the 
nation ( 1, 152) by 2025. 11 

Dental hygienists are trending in the opposite direction of dentists. There is currently an excess supply 
of dental hygienists and by 2025 the national excess supply is projected to be 28,100.12 Florida again 
follows the national trend and is projected to have the third largest excess supply of dental hygienists 
(2, 768) by 2025. 13 However, not all states are projected to have an excess supply. 14 

Medicaid 

Medicaid is the health care safety net for low-income Floridians. Medicaid is a partnership of the federal 
and state governments established to provide coverage for health services for eligible persons. The 
program is administered by the Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) and financed by federal 
and state funds. AHCA delegates certain functions to other state agencies, including the Department of 
Children and Families, the Agency for Persons with Disabilities, and the Department of Elderly Affairs. 

The structure of each state's Medicaid program varies and what states must pay for is largely 
determined by the federal government, as a condition of receiving federal funds. Federal law sets the 
amount, scope, and duration of services offered in the program, among other requirements. These 
federal requirements create an entitlement that comes with constitutional due process protections. The 
entitlement means that two parts of the Medicaid cost equation - people and utilization - are largely 
predetermined for the states: Some populations are entitled to enroll in the program; and enrollees are 
entitled to certain benefits. 

The federal government sets the minimum mandatory benefits to be covered in every state Medicaid 
program. These benefits include physician services, hospital services, home health services, and family 
planning. 15 States can add benefits, with federal approval. Florida has added many optional benefits, 
including prescription drugs, dental services, and dialysis. 16 

Statewide Medicaid Managed Care17 

In 2011, the Legislature established the Statewide Medicaid Managed Care (SMMC) program as Part 
IV of Chapter 409, F.S. The SMMC program is an integrated managed care program which provides all 
the mandatory and optional Medicaid benefits to enrollees. Within the SMMC program, the Managed 
Medical Assistance (MMA) program provides primary and acute medical assistance and related 
services, including dental services. 18 

Maryland, 2015. http://www.google .com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd= 1 &ved=OahUKEwjv
aSQyKfJAhUBZiYKHRIGCSMQFqgdMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fbhpr.hrsa.gov%2Fhealthworkforce%2Fsupplydemand%2Fdentistry%2 
Fnationalstatelevelprojectionsdentists.pdf&usq=AFQjCNG2CoEtGnpv0ZgQmrtmRhCMWC85BA&bvm=bv.1 08194040,d .eWE {last 
visited on November 23, 2015). 
10 ld . 
11 ld. 
12 ld. 
13 1d. 
14 ld . 
15 S. 409.905, F.S. 
16 S. 409.906, F.S. 
17 The delivery of Medicaid services through managed care is not expressly authorized by federal law. If a state wants to use a 
managed care delivery system, it must seek a waiver of certain requirements of Title XIX of the Social Security Act (Medicaid). To 
implement the SMMC program, AHCA applied for and obtained section 1115 waiver authority. 
18 The other component of the SMMC program is the Long-Term Care Managed Care Program. 
STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 12/4/2015 



- --- - -------- ~--~~ 

In the SMMC program, each Medicaid recipient has one managed care organization to coordinate all 
health care services, rather than various entities.19 Such coordinated care is particularly important in 
the area of oral health, which is connected to overall health outcomes.20 

In December 2012, AHCA released an Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) to competitively procure managed 
care plans on a regional basis for the MMA program. 21 AHCA selected 19 managed care plans and 
executed 5-year contracts in February, 2014. The MMA program was fully implemented statewide as of 
August 1, 2014. 

Dental Care in the MMA Program 

Dental services are an optional Medicaid benefit. Florida provides full dental services for children and 
only dentures and medically necessary, emergency dental procedures to alleviate pain or infection for 
adults.22 As of November 2015, approximately 3.1 million Medicaid recipients are enrolled in the MMA 
program and receive their dental services through managed care plans that offer a full array of medical, 
behavioral, and dental health benefits.23 

Dental Service Accountability and Performance in the MMA Program 

The MMA program contracts impose various accountability provisions and performance measures on 
the MMA plans specific to dental services, which include requirements for: 24 

• Network adequacy; 
• Annual medical loss ratio for the first full year of MMA program operation; 
• Preventive dental services rate for children enrolled for 90 continuous days; 
• Transportation to and from the child 's dental appointment, if needed; and 
• Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set scores.25 

MMA plans are subject to corrective actions and liquidated damages for failure to meet accountability 
provisions and performance measures set forth in the contracts. 

In addition , under federal terms and conditions, AHCA must work with MMA plans on an oral health 
quality improvement initiative. For this initiative, the MMA contracts26 have specific performance goals 
for pediatric dental services and penalties for not reaching the performance standards. 

Dental Care Reimbursement for Children's Dental Services 

The MMA program authorizes reimbursement for children 's dental services rendered by dentists, dental 
hygienists and dental assistants. A dentist may delegate remediable tasks27 to dental hygienists or 

19 This comprehensive coordinated system of care was successfully implemented in the 5-county Medicaid reform pilot program, 2006-
2014. 
20U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Oral Health in America: A Report of the Surgeon General. Rockville , MD: U.S. 
Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research, National Institutes of Health , 2000. 
http://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/ps/retrieve/ResourceMetadata/NNBBJT/ {last visited on November 23, 2015). 
21 AHCA Invitation to Negotiate, Statewide Medicaid Managed Care, Addendum 2 Solicitations Number: AHCA ITN 017-12/13; dated 
February 26, 2013 http://www.govcb.com/Statewide-Medicaid-Manaqed-Care-ADP13619273520001182.htm {last visited on November 
23, 2015); AHCA Invitation to Negotiate, Statewide Medicaid Managed Care, Solicitation Number: AHCA ITN 017-12/13; dated 
December 28, 2012 http://www.govcb.com/Statewide-Medicaid-Managed-Care-ADP13619273520001182.htm {last visited on 
November 23, 2015). 
22 S. 409.906(1 ), (6), F.S. 
23 Comprehensive Medicaid Managed Care Enrollment Reports, AHCHA, November 2015. 
http://www.fdhc.state.fl .us/MCHQ/Manaqed Health Care/MHMO/med data.shtml {last visited on November 23, 2015). .._ 
24 The Managed Medical Assistance Model Contract is available at https://ahca.myf!orida.com/medicaid/statewide mc/plans.shtml (last 
visited on November 23, 2015). 
25 AHCA measures the performance of the MMA plans based on standards established by the National Committee for Quality 
Assurance called the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS ). 
26 Supra footnote 25. 
STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 12/4/2015 



dental assistants when such tasks pose no risk to the patient.28 AHCA is statutorily authorized to pay 
for diagnostic, preventive, or corrective procedures, including orthodontia in severe cases, provided to a 
recipient under age 21, by or under the supervision of a licensed dentist.29 Thus, a dentist must 
supervise any delegable tasks performed by a dental hygienist or dental assistant if reimbursement is 
being sought under the MMA. 

Dental Hygienists 

Dental Hygienists are regulated by ch . 466, F.S., and by the Board of Dentistry (Board) within the 
Department of Health. Dental hygienists are focused on preventing dental disease. They are educated 
and trained to evaluate the patient's oral health; expose, process and interpret dental X-ray films; and 
remove calculus deposits, stains, and plaque above and below the gumline.30 They also apply 
preventive agents such as fluorides and sealants to teeth when allowed by state regulations. 31 Dental 
hygienists may also perform certain tasks which are delegated by a licensed dentist. These delegable 
tasks are established either in statute or by rule and include:32 

• Taking impressions for study casts but not for the purpose of fabricating any intraoral 
restorations or orthodontic appliance; 

• Placing periodontal dressings; 
• Removing periodontal or surgical dressings; 
• Removing sutures; 
• Placing or removing rubber dams; 
• Placing or removing matrices; 
• Placing or removing temporary restorations; 
• Applying cavity liners, varnishes, or bases; 
• Polishing amalgam restorations; 
• Polishing clinical crowns of the teeth for the purpose of removing stains but not changing the 

existing contour of the tooth; 
• Dental charting33

; 

• Obtaining bacteriological cytological specimens not involving cutting of the tissue; and 
• Administering local anesthesia pursuant to s. 466.017(5). 

The Board establishes by rule whether these tasks are to be performed under direct, indirect, or 
general supervision of the dentist. 34 A dental hygienist may perform these tasks in multiple settings, 
including: 35 

• In the office of a licensed dentist; 

27 "Remediable tasks" are those intraoral treatment tasks which are reversible and do not create unalterable changes within the oral 
cavity or the contiguous structures and which do not cause an increased risk to the patient. S. 466.003(12), F.S. 
28 S. 466.024(1 ), F.S. 
29 S. 409.906 (6), F.S . 
30 S. 466.023, F.S. 
31 See Rule 6485-16.006, F.A.C. 
32 S. 466.024 (1 ), F.S . 
33 "Dental Charting" is a recording of visual observations of clinical conditions of the oral cavity without the use of X rays , laboratory 
tests, or other diagnostic methods or equipment, except the instruments necessary to record visual restorations, missing teeth , 
suspicious areas, and periodontal pockets. S. 466.0235. 
34 S. 466.023(1 ), F.S . "Direct supervision" means supervision whereby a dentist diagnoses the condition to be treated , a dentist 
authorizes the procedure to be performed, a dentist remains on the premises while the procedures are performed, and a dentist 
approves the work performed before dismissal of the patient. "Indirect supervision" means supervision whereby a dentist authorizes the 
procedure and a dentist is on the premises while the procedures are performed. "General supervision" means supervision whereby a 
dentist authorizes the procedures which are being carried out but need not be present when the authorized procedures are being 
performed. The authorized procedures may also be performed at a place other than the dentist's usual place of practice. The issuance 
of a written work authorization to a commercial dental laboratory by a dentist does not constitute general supervision. S. 466.003 (8), 
~9) and (10), F.S. 

5 S. 466.023(2), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 12/4/2015 



• In public health programs and institutions of the Department of Children and Families, 
Department of Health, and Department of Juvenile Justice under the general supervision of a 
licensed dentist; and 

• In a health access setting. 

Scope of Practice in Health Access Settings 

In 2011, the Legislature expanded the scope of practice for dental hygienists providing dental services 
to children under the age of 21 in health access settings36 in an effort to maximize the existing dental 
workforce. The legislation authorized licensed dental hygienists to perform certain remediable tasks in a 
health access setting without the physical presence, prior examination or authorization of a dentist. 37 

These tasks include: 

• Perform dental charting as defined in s. 466.0235 and as provided by rule ; 
• Measure and record a patient's blood pressure rate , pulse rate , respiration rate, and oral 

temperature; 
• Record a patient's case history; 
• Apply topical fluorides , including fluoride varnishes, which are approved by the American Dental 

Association or the Food and Drug Administration; 
• Apply dental sealants; and 
• Remove calculus deposits, accretions, and stains from exposed surfaces of the teeth and from 

tooth surfaces within the gingival sulcus. 38 

Numerous safeguards are in place to ensure patient safety when unsupervised services are provided in 
health access settings. For example, when a dental hygienist performs one of the above procedures, 
the patient must be notified that the visit with the dental hygienist is not a substitute for a 
comprehensive dental exam.39 Additionally, a dentist is required to conduct an oral examination within 
13 months of a dental hygienist removing calculus deposits, accretions, and stains from a patient's 
teeth .40 Also, a dental hygienist providing such services must maintain professional malpractice 
insurance coverage that has minimum limits of $100,000 per occurrence and $300,000 in the 
aggregate through the employing health access setting or through an individual policy. i41 

Reimbursement for Children 's Dental Care Services Provided in Health Access Settings 

The absence of dentist supervision of the tasks performed by a dental hygienist in a health access 
setting does not preclude reimbursement for those services. Specifically, s. 466.024(4), F.S., states: 

This section does not prevent a program operated by one of the health access 
settings as defined in s. 466.003 or a nonprofit organization that is exempt from 
federal income taxation under s. 501 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code and 
described ins. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code from billing and obtaining 
reimbursement for the services described in this section which are provided by a 
dental hygienist or from making or maintaining any records pursuant to s. 
456.057 necessary to obtain reimbursement. 

36 "Health access setting" means a program or an institution of the Department of Children and Families , the Department of Health , the 
Department of Juvenile Justice, a nonprofit community health center, a Head Start center, a federally qualified health center or look
alike as defined by federal law, a school-based prevention program, a clinic operated by an accredited college of dentistry, or an 
accredited dental hygiene program in this state if such community service program or institution immediately reports to the Board of 
Dentistry all violations of s. 466.027 , s. 466.028, or other practice act or standard of care violations related to the actions or inactions of 
a dentist, dental hygienist, or dental assistant engaged in the delivery of dental care in such setting . S. 466.003(14), F.S. 
37 S. 466.024 (2), F.S . 
38 ld . 
39 S. 466.024 (3)(a), F.S. 
40 S. 466 .024 (2)(f) 2, F.S . 
41 S. 466.024 (5)(c), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX PAGE: 6 
DATE: 12/4/201 5 



As such, programs providing dental care in health access settings may seek reimbursement for 
specified dental services provided by dental hygienists , irrespective of whether those services 
were supervised by a dentist. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

Section 466.024(2), F.S. , authorizes licensed dental hygienists to perform a limited number of 
unsupervised remediable tasks in health access settings, such as county health departments, Head 
Start programs, and other facilities , as defined ins. 466.003(14), F.S. These remediable tasks are 
reimbursable pursuant to s. 466.024(4), F.S. ; however, reimbursement for these unsupervised tasks is 
barred under the MMA program ass. 409.906{6), F.S. , authorizes reimbursement for children's dental 
services only if the tasks were performed under the supervision of a licensed dentist. 

HB 595 eliminates this conflict by amending s. 409.906(6), F.S., to allow for the reimbursement to the 
health access setting by AHCA for the remediable tasks that a licensed dental hygienist is authorized to 
perform under s. 466.024(2), F.S., without supervision by a licensed dentist, when the services are 
provided to children under the age of 21 in the MMA program. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amending s. 409.906, F.S. , relating to optional Medicaid services. 
Section 2: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2016. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

AHCA would be permitted to reimburse health access settings for remediable tasks performed by 
licensed dental hygienists, as outlined ins. 466.024(2), F.S., on children under age 21 in the MMA 
program. The majority of the expenditures for this reimbursement would be through Medicaid 
capitation payments to managed care organizations participating in the MMA program . It is 
unknown how many additional services would be provided by licensed dental hygienists in lieu of 
services provided and reimbursed under the supervision of a dentist. The potential costs to 
managed care organizations would not be reflected in the capitation rates for at least one year as 
capitation rates are set each September. Additionally, the increased costs would likely be minimal 
and result in an immaterial increase or no increase at all to managed care capitation rates. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/4/2015 

PAGE: 7 



Health access settings may be reimbursed for remediable tasks performed by licensed dental 
hygienists, as authorized under s. 466.024(2), F.S., on children under age 21 in the MMA program. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

In Fiscal Year 2014-15 AHCA reported that approximately $16.2 million was reimbursed to health care 
access settings under the supervision of a dentist either through the fee-for-service system or through 
encounters with managed care organizations under contract with AHCA. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision : 
Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

None. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

On December 2, 2015, the Health Innovation Subcommittee adopted one amendment and reported the bill 
favorably as a committee substitute. The amendment clarified that the health access setting could be 
reimbursed by AHCA for remediable tasks performed by licensed dental hygienists, as authorized under s. 
466.024(2), F.S., on children under age 21 in the MMA program. 

The analysis is drafted to the committee substitute as passed by the Health Innovation Subcommittee. 

42 Email from Agency from Health Care Administration dated January 6, 2016, on file with Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 
Staff. 

STORAGE NAME: h0595b.HCAS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/4/2015 

PAGE: 8 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

CS/HB 595 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to reimbursement to health access 

3 settings for dental hygiene services for children; 

4 amending s . 409 . 906, F . S .; authorizing reimbursement 

5 for children ' s dental services provided by licensed 

6 dental hygienists in certain circumstances ; providing 

7 an effective date . 

8 

9 Be I t Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Fl orida : 

10 

11 Section 1 . Subsection (6) of section 409 . 906 , Florida 

12 Statutes , is amended to read : 

13 409.906 Optional Medicaid services .-Subject to specific 

2016 

14 appropriations , the agency may make payments for services which 

15 are optional to the state under Title XIX of the Social Security 

16 Act and are furnished by Medicaid providers to recipients who 

17 are determined to be eligible on the dates on which the services 

18 were provided . Any optional service that is provided shall be 

19 provided only when medically necessary and in accordance with 

20 state and federal law . Optional services rendered by providers 

21 in mobile units to Medicaid recipients may be restricted or 

22 proh i bited by the agency . Nothing in this section shall be 

23 construed to prevent or limit the agency from adjusting fees , 

24 reimbursement rates , lengths of stay, number of visits , or 

25 numbe r of serv i ces , or making any other adjustments necessary to 

26 comply with the availability of moneys and any limitations or 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0595-01-c1 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

CS/HB 595 2016 

27 directions provided for in the General Appropriations Act or 

28 chapter 216 . If necessary to safeguard the state's systems of 

29 providing services to elderly and disabled persons and subject 

30 to the notice and review provisions of s . 216 . 177 , the Governor 

31 may direct the Agency for Health Care Administration to amend 

32 the Medicaid state plan to delete the optional Medicaid service 

33 known as " Intermediate Care Facilities for the Developmenta l ly 

34 Disabled ." Optional services may include : 

35 (6) CHILDREN ' S DENTAL SERVICES . -The agency may pay for 

36 diagnostic , preventive , or corrective procedures , including 

37 orthodontia in severe cases , provided to a recipient under age 

38 21 , by or under the supervision of a licensed dentist . The 

39 agency may also reimburse a health access setting as defined in 

40 s . 466 . 003 for the remediable tasks that a licensed dental 

41 hygien i st is authorized to perform under s . 466.024(2) . Services 

42 provided under this program include treatment of the teeth and 

43 assoc i ated structures of the oral cavity , as well as treatment 

44 of disease , injury , or impairment that may affect the oral or 

45 general hea l th of the i ndividua l. However , Medicaid will not 

46 provi de reimbursement for dental services provided in a mobile 

47 dental unit , except for a mobile dental unit : 

48 (a) Owned by , operated by , or having a contractual 

49 agreement with the Department of Health and complying with 

50 Medicaid ' s county health department clinic services program 

51 specifications as a county health department clinic services 

52 provider . 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0595-01-c1 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

CS/HB 595 

53 (b) Owned by , operated by , or having a contractua l 

54 arrangement with a federally qualified health center and 

55 complying with Medica i d ' s federally qualified health center 

2016 

56 specif ications as a federally qualif i ed health center provider . 

57 (c) Rende ring dental services t o Medicaid rec i pients , 21 

58 yea r s o f age and o l de r, a t nursing facilities . 

59 (d) Owned by , operated by , o r havi ng a contractual 

60 ag r eement with a state- approved dental educational institut i on . 

61 Section 2 . This act shall take effect July 1 , 2016 . 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0595-01-c1 



z 
1:1) 

:s. 
cc 

1:1) 
:I -:::0 
C'D 

"C 
0 
~ 



Outpatient Prospective Payment System 
Design for Florida Medicaid 

Prepared for: 

Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 

November 30, 2015 

navigant.com/healthcare 



Table of Contents 
Table of Contents .......... .... ........ ...... .... ......... ... .... ... ............... .... ... ... ............. ............................................ ... 2 

1 Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

2 Evaluating an Outpatient Prospective Payment Method .............................................................. 6 

3 OPPS Payment Modeling ................................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 Dataset Description .............................................. ........ .. .............. ............. ...................... .... .... ... 8 

3.2 Re-Pricing Historical Claims ..................................................................................................... 9 

3.3 Hospitals Removed from Dataset .......................................................................................... 10 

3.4 Manual Adjustments ................................................................................................................ 12 

3.5 Description of Grouping and Discounting Options Used ................................................ .. 12 

3.6 Modeling OPPS Pricing ..................................... ... ................................................................... 13 

3.7 Calculation of Cost ....................................................................... ...................... ...................... 14 

4 Grouping Algorithms in Outpatient Payment Methods ............................................................. 15 

4.1 Basics of an Outpatient Prospective Payment System .......... ................ .............................. 15 

4.2 Ambulatory Patient Classifications (APCs) ..................... ..................................................... 16 

4.2.1 Basics of an APC Payment Method ................................................................................... 16 

4.2.2 Services Covered Under APCs .............................. .. ...... ........ ............................................. 17 

4.2.3 Medical Visits in an APC Payment Method ..................................................................... 17 

4.3 Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups (EAPGs) .............. ............ ....................................... 17 

4.3.1 Basics of an EAPG Payment Method ................................ ............ ..................................... 17 

4.3.2 Calculating Payment in an EAPG-Based OPPS ............................................................... 18 

4.4 Grouping Algorithm Recommendations .............................................................................. 21 

5 Payment Policy Option- Included and Excluded Provider Types ........ ................................... 21 

5.1 Included and Excluded Provider Types- Discussion ........................................................ 22 

5.2 Included and Excluded Provider Types- Recommendation ............................................ 22 

6 Payment Policy Option- Included and Excluded Services .................................................... .... 23 

6.1 Included and Excluded Services- Discussion ..................................................................... 23 

6.2 Included and Excluded Services- Recommendation ........ ................................................. 23 

7 Payment Policy Option- Base Rate(s) .. .. ................ ............................................ ........................... 24 

7.1 Provider Base Rates- Discussion ................................ .. ......................................................... 24 

7.1.1 Base Rates for Different Provider Categories ................................................................... 24 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page2 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



7.1.2 Base Rate Adjustment for Wage Area Differences ..... .... .... ..................................... ........ 25 

7.2 Provider Base Rates - Recommendation ............ ... ..... ........................................................... 26 

8 Payment Policy Option- Distribution of Automatic Rate Enhancements ................... ............ 27 

8.1 Distribution of Automatic Rate Enhancements- Discussion ...... ... ........................... ...... .. 27 

8.2 Distribution of Automatic Rate Enhancements- Recommendation ................................ 27 

9 Payment Policy Option- Policy Adjustor(s) ................................... ... ... ...... .. .... .... ............ ..... ... ... . 27 

9.1 Policy Adjustors- Discussion ............. .... .... ........ ..... ... ....................... ....... ....... ............ ... ...... .. 29 

9.2 Policy Adjustors- Recommendation ........ .................................. ........ .. ........................... ..... 31 

10 Payment Policy Option- Outlier Payments .... .. .... .... .... ............................. ...... ..... ....... .... ........ 32 

10.1 Outlier Payments- Discussion ........... ................. .... ...... .. ... ..... .......... ............. ........................ 32 

10.2 Outlier Payments- Recommendation ................ ................ ....... ........ ................ ................ .... 33 

11 Payment Policy Option- Transitional Period ................... ...... .... .. ...... ................. .............. ...... 33 

11.1 Transitional Period- Discussion ... ........ .......... .... ...................... .... ..... ... ............... ............... ... 34 

11.2 Transition Period -Recommendation ..... ....... ...................... ........ ....... ...... .. .... ..... ........ ...... ... 35 

12 Payment Policy Option -Adjustment for Anticipated Improvement in Documentation 
and Coding .... ......... .... ....... .... ......... ............................. ....... ....... ............... .......... ..... .... ............. ........ .... .... . 35 

12.1 Adjustment for Anticipated Improvement in Documentation and Coding- Discussion 
35 

12.2 Adjustment for Anticipated Improvement in Documentation and Coding-
Recommendation .................................................................................................................................. 36 

13 Payment Policy Option- Hospital Outpatient Benefit Limit... ......................................... .... . 36 

13.1 Hospital Outpatient Benefit Limit- Discussion .................................................................. 37 

13.2 Hospital Outpatient Benefit Limit- Recommendation ... ................................. ... ..... .... ...... 37 

14 Payment Policy Option- Charge Cap .................. .. .. .... ... ............ .............................. ................ 37 

14.1 Charge Cap- Discussion ......................................................................................................... 37 

14.2 Charge Cap- Recommendation ............................................................................................. 39 

15 Impact of OPPS on 340B Drug Pricing Program .............. ...... ....... ................................. .... .... .. 39 

15.1 Background ............................................................................................................................... 39 

15.2 Impact of OPPS on 340B Drug Pricing Program ........................... .. ..... ........ ............ .... ....... .41 

16 Timing of Implementation ... ............. ......... ... ....... ..... .................. ...... ...... ..... .... ..... ... ... ..... ... ....... . 41 

17 Appendix A- Summary of OPPS Payment Method Options .............................................. .42 

18 Appendix B -Hospital Specific Payment Estimates from EAPG Pricing Simulations .. ... .44 

19 Appendix C- ASC Specific Payment Estimates from EAPG Pricing Simulations ...... .... ... 51 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page3 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Ad ministra tion 



20 Appendix D- Budget Calculations .... ... .......... ........... .... ......... ............. ..................................... 63 

21 Appendix E- OPPS Payment Simulation Parameter Summary ........................................... 64 

22 Appendix F -Payment to Cost Comparisons by Service Line ........................ ............ ....... ... 66 

23 Appendix G- Payment to Cost Comparisons by Provider Category ............................... ... 68 

24 Appendix H- Manual Adjustments to Improve EAPG Assignrnent.. .... ...... ....................... 69 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page4 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



1 Introduction 
This document describes a recommended design for an Outpatient Prospective Payment System 
(OPPS) to meet the needs of the Florida Medicaid program. Florida Medicaid currently 
reimburses hospital outpatient services using hospital specific cost-based rates which pay a flat 
rate referred to as a "per diem" to each payable revenue code submitted on an outpatient claim. 
Hospital outpatient payments are then cost settled based on audited cost reports and 
retrospectively adjusted a few years after payments were made for outpatient medical care 
provided to Medicaid fee-for-service recipients. 

The study and design of an OPPS for Florida Medicaid was authorized by the Florida 
Legislature during the 2015 Legislative Session. Specific language in the General 
Appropriations Act regarding this study is, 

"From the funds in Specific Appropriation 181, $500,000 in nonrecurring funds from the 
Medical Care Trust Fund is provided to the Agency for Health Care Administration to 
contract with an independent consultant to develop a plan to convert Medicaid 
payments for outpatient services from a cost based reimbursement methodology to a 
prospective payment system. The study shall identify steps necessary for the transition 
to be completed in a budget neutral manner. The report shall be submitted to the 
Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives 
no later than November 30, 2015." 1 

The Florida Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA), which administers the Medicaid 
program in Florida, contracted with Navigant Consulting, Inc. (Navigant) to perform this study 
and author this report. 

During the time period of July through November 2015, Navigant and AHCA collaborated in 
the design of an OPPS that will allow the Agency to shift away from cost-based rates and the 
current retrospective cost settlement process. This effort included five meetings between 
Navigant and an Agency Governance Committee comprised of AHCA management staff. In 
addition, four public meetings were held during this timeframe to communicate to, and solicit 
feedback from, the medical provider community regarding the proposed new OPPS. 

Recommendations for the new OPPS were determined based on the guiding principles 
described in Chapter 2 of this report. In addition, historical outpatient claim data was used to 
model options for the new prospective payment system, and many options selected for the 
payment method were based on results of these models. Chapter 3 includes a detailed 
description of the historical claims dataset and the data processing performed to model a new 
OPPS for Florida Medicaid. This is followed by Chapter 4, which describes outpatient 
prospective payment systems and compares the two most commonly used categorization 
schemes for OPPSs, Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groupings (EAPGs) and Ambulatory Patient 

1 The Florida State Senate Bill No. 2500-A; Chapter 2015-232. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 PageS 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



Classifications (APCs). Subsequent chapters, 5 through 14, describe options available within an 
OPPS payment method, which Navigant refers to as "payment policy options." Included in 
each of these chapters is a discussion of the option and a recommendation for the Florida 
Medicaid OPPS. Chapter 15 offers more detail explaining concerns about the impact of the new 
OPPS on the 340B Drug Pricing Program, and Chapter 16 discusses potential timing for 
implementation. Following this text, Appendix A in this document summarizes the policy 
recommendations in a concise table. Finally, a few additional appendices are included which 
contain data tables and figures that compare payments under the current method to payments 
under the proposed new method. 

2 Evaluating an Outpatient Prospective Payment Method 
Developing a Medicaid outpatient payment method requires balancing a variety of trade-offs 
and competing priorities. Payment methods have an impact on beneficiaries, medical 
providers, taxpayers, and program administrators, each with their own point of view on what 
makes a payment method successful. To balance the priorities of these different stakeholders, it 
is helpful to establish a set of guiding principles that describe the goals of the payment method 
and offer a structure against which various system design options can be evaluated. The list 
below offers a series of guiding principles and discusses how these principles can affect an 
outpatient payment method. 

» Efficiency. A payment method should be consistent with promoting provider 
efficiency, rewarding providers that increase efficiency while continuing to provide 
quality care. To enable this, the payment method should minimize reliance on 
individual provider charges or costs, and create opportunities for providers to increase 
margins by more effectively managing resources. For example, in the design of an OPPS 
payment system, selecting a single standardized base rate can create incentives for 
providers to better manage their resources to achieve improved margins. Conversely, 
establishing facility-specific base rates that fluctuate annually with increases or 
decreases in facility-specific costs would provide little incentive for cost effectiveness. 

» Access. A payment method should promote beneficiary access to care. This guiding 
principle is consistent with the requirements specified in federal regulation. In the State 
Plan for Medical Assistance (State Plan), AHCA must make certain assurances to the 
federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) with respect to its level of 
payments to Medicaid providers. In particular, the State Plan must: 

" ... provide such methods and procedures relating to the utilization of, and the 
payment for, care and services available under the plan ... as may be necessary 
to safeguard against unnecessary utilization of such care and services and to 
assure that payments are consistent with efficiency, economy, and quality of care 
and are sufficient to enlist enough providers so that care and services are 
available under the plan at least to the extent that such care and services are 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 6 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



available to the general population in the geographic area[.]" 42 U.S.C. § 
1396a(a)(30)(A) ("Section 30(A)") (emphasis added). 

Within an outpatient payment method, policy adjustors, provider peer groups (used for 
setting base rates), and outlier payment parameters are items that can be adjusted to 
affect access to care. 

» Equity. A payment method should generate fair payments both across providers and 
across types of care. Generally, providers should be paid similar amounts for the same 
services, with the potential exception being when there are necessary and measurable 
differences in the costs associated with those similar services. Within an OPPS utilizing 
either EAPGs or APCs, the payment amount for an individual outpatient service is 
calculated by multiplying a provider base price times an EAPG or APC relative weight. 
Both types of relative weights are determined using average costs from many providers, 
so the relative weights help ensure similar payment for similar services, independent of 
where those services are provided. If adjustments do need to be made for reasonable, 
measurable differences in provider cost structures, those can be made through 
modifications to the provider base price via rate adjustments (for example, wage area 
adjustments) and/or provider peer groupings (for example, giving specialty children's 
hospitals a separate base rate than other hospitals or giving Ambulatory Surgical 
Centers (ASCs) a separate base rate than hospitals). 

» Predictability. A payment method should generate stable, predictable payments. Both 
the state Medicaid agency and providers have to manage their budgets, and that can 
best be facilitated through a payment method which generates consistent, predictable 
reimbursements. OPPS payment methods are predictable if patient acuity and volume 
are understood. 

» Transparency. A payment method that is transparent promotes trust from provider 
administrators, clinicians, legislators, and Medicaid program administrators. An OPPS 
payment method can be made transparent by selecting a grouping algorithm that is 
openly documented, and by making relative weights, provider base rates, and pricing 
logic publicly available. 

» Simplicity. A payment method that is relatively simple will be easier to implement, 
easier for provider organizations to understand, and easier to administer and maintain. 
For a Medicaid program, implementing a new OPPS will require significant MMIS 
changes, regulation changes, and program monitoring changes. For providers, a change 
in payment method may impact medical coding practices, billing procedures, and 
internal information systems. The complexity of these changes is limited if the payment 
method is kept relatively simple. At the same time, over-simplifying the payment 
method may negatively impact payment equity and, in tum, negatively impact access to 
care. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 7 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



» Quality. It is generally known that it is a mission of all healthcare providers to offer 
high quality care. Payment methods should be consistent with promoting quality care 
where possible. In truth, very few payment methods specifically reward quality. Most 
payment methods, including most outpatient payment methods, pay the same 
independent of whether high quality care is provided. At the same time, some payment 
components, such as outlier payment parameters, can contribute to (or detract from) 
facilitating the effective use of provider resources in a way that is consistent with the 
provider's mission to provide high quality care. 

From a logistical point of view, a payment method is a framework or structure created to 
determine reimbursement for medical services and supplies. The structure includes 
organization of data, numerical formulas, and specific parameters or values used in the 
formulas . This structure should be carefully developed as it controls the distribution of large 
amounts of state and federal funding, and is intended to meet the needs of people and 
organizations with competing priorities. The guiding principles presented above can be helpful 
in evaluating various options for the payment structure so that the final design best meets the 
needs of beneficiaries, providers, taxpayers and program administrators. 

3 OPPS Payment Modeling 

3.1 Dataset Description 

Modeling of a new payment method is generally performed using historical claim data. For this 
study, the dataset used included claims from State Fiscal Year (SFY) 2013/14- that is, claims 
with first date of service between July 1, 2013 and June 30, 2014. The claim data included 
services provided to recipients in both the fee-for-service program and Medicaid managed care 
program. Given this time frame, the managed care encounter claims came from both Medicaid 
managed care plans defined for the five pilot counties prior to implementation of the Managed 
Medical Assistance (MMA) program, and from MMA plans.2 Also, Medicare crossover claims 
were excluded from the dataset as were claims denied for payment. Lastly, in cases where 
claims were adjusted, only the final claim in each "adjustment chain" was included. 

Claims included in the final dataset were from both hospitals (provider types "01" and "04") 
and from Ambulatory Surgical Centers (ASCs) (provider type "06"). The hospital claims 
included were submitted on an institutional claim form (8371 or UB-04) and had an outpatient 
type of bill. The ASC claims were submitted on a professional claim form (837P or CMS-1500). 
In total there were 4,794,891 outpatient hospital claims with 21,724,655 claim lines and 63,453 
ASC claims with 99,979 claim lines. Thus, the initial dataset included 4,858,344 claims and 
21,824,634 claim lines prior to manipulation by Navigant. 

2 The Managed Medical Assistance (MMA) program was implemented over a four month period beginning on May 1, 2014 and completing on 
August 1, 2014. Each month during that timeframe, Medicaid recipients in a few of the 11 regions defined within the State were migrated to an 
MMA plan. As of August 1, 2014, all11 regions had been migrated to MMA. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 PageS 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



During the outpatient claims analysis, 19 hospitals were identified as having a high percentage 
of claim lines without procedure codes. These 19 hospitals and all claim lines associated with 
them were removed from the dataset and not included in any EAPG modeling. (Please see 
section 3.3 for more information regarding removal of all data from specific hospitals.) In 
addition, claims were removed from the modeling dataset in cases where every line on the 
claim received an error EAPG (equal to 999) even after all attempts by Navigant to manually 
assign a procedure code or EAPG to claim lines. (Please see section 3.4 for more information 
regarding Navigant's efforts to assign procedure codes and EAPG codes to claim service lines 
submitted without a procedure code.) In total, 605,974 claims and 2,381,425 claim lines were 
excluded either because of an insufficient total percentage of procedure codes submitted by the 
hospital, or because no valid EAPG codes were assigned to the claim. 

In addition, 28,895 claim lines were added to the dataset in order to more accurately assign 
EAPG codes on claims for observation services. The final EAPG dataset includes 19,472,104 
claim lines representing 4,252,370 claims. All of these removals and additions of claims is 
summarized in Table 1. 

Table 1. Claim dataset build summary. 

I 

Bashne Payment Baseline Auto 
Submitted Amount Rate Bashne Payment 

Descnpbon Cla1ms 1 Cla1m L1nes Charges GR/PMATF Enhancements Total 
Hospttals - SFY 2013/14 4,794,891 21,724,655 $ 13,048,656,330 $ 1,248,916,963 $ 133,997,697 $ 1,382,91 4,659 
Ambulatory Surgery Centers- SFY 2013/14 63,453 99,979 $ 230,088,766 $ 35,658,535 $ $ 35,658,535 
Total starting point- SFY 2013/14 4,858,344 21,824,634 $ 13,278,7 45,095 $ 1,284,575,497 $ 133,997,697 $ 1,418,573,194 

Unes Rem oved- Greater than one-third of claim lines wtth blank procedure code 1 557,942 2,325,398 $ 1,41 3,116,586 $ 117,362,335 $ 38,105,236 $ 155,467,571 
Unes Removed - All lines have EAPG '999' 48,032 56,027 $ 52,678,243 $ 6,010,028 $ $ 6,010,028 
Lines Removed • Total 605,974 2,381,425 $ 1 ,465, 794,828 $ 123,372,384 $ 38,105,236 $ 161,477,599 

Lines added - correction for EAPG grouping errors - observation services 28,895 $ $ $ 

Final Dataset 4,252,370 19,472,104 11,812,950,267 1,161,203,134 95,892,461 $ 1,257,095,595 
Note(sl: 
1) Percentage of claim lines wtth blank procedure codes was calculated when excluding the following service lines: Pharmacy, Laboratory, Supplies, Therapies, Dialysis, Radiology and Nuclear 
Medicine. 

3.2 Re-Pricing Historical Claims 

As mentioned in the previous section, the historical claims in our OPPS modeling dataset had 
dates of service in SFY 2013/14. Total historical payment from state general revenue (GR) and 
the Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund (PMA TF) was used as the basis for the amount of 
money modeled to be spent under the new OPPS. To get this total historical payment amount, 
the portion of the current year (SFY 2015/16) outpatient per diem coming from GR and PMATF 
was applied to each line item with a covered revenue code on both FFS and managed care 
encounter claims. This resulted in a total historical payment amount (which Navigant refers to 
as the "baseline payment amount") of $1.16 billion, as shown above in Table 1. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page9 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



In the calculation of the baseline payment amount, the individual recipient hospital outpatient 
annual benefit limit of $1,500 was included in the formulas and was applied with the same rules 
as currently exist in the legacy payment method. As in the legacy payment method, claims 
were excluded from this limit if they contained at least one surgical procedure code in the 
exclusion list and/or at least one line item with a revenue code or Healthcare Common 
Procedure Coding System (HCPCS) procedure code in the exclusion list. Also, the $1,500 
annual benefit was not applied to recipients under the age of 21. AHCA understands that some 
MMA managed care plans have chosen a higher outpatient benefit limit (a value above $1,500), 
and other plans have chosen to do away with the annual hospital outpatient annual benefit 
limit all together. However, the benefit limit is considered when calculating MMA capitation 
rates, so it was applied to the OPPS payment modeling. 

3.3 Hospitals Removed from Dataset 

Navigant and the AHCA Governance Committee chose to remove 19 hospitals from EAPG 
modeling due to an insufficient percentage of procedure codes present on claim lines. Under 
Florida Medicaid's current hospital outpatient payment method, a procedure code must be 
submitted on a claim line to receive payment for only a small set of services- specifically 
laboratory services. Most other services may be submitted without a procedure code and will 
still be considered for reimbursement. However, under the OPPS payment method, the 
primary field on which payment is determined is the procedure code. Any claim service line 
submitted without a procedure code will be ignored for the purposes of calculating 
reimbursement. 

In truth, under an APC and/or EAPG-based OPPS, some services may not be covered or may 
receive payment equal to $0 because payment for the service was bundled in with payment for 
another service. (Please see Chapter 4 for a detailed discussion of APC and EAPG-based OPPS 
payment methods.) For these services, payment will be the same whether the services are billed 
with or without a procedure code. Given this fact, we did not require the claim data to include 
a procedure on every single service line. But we did feel a reasonably high complement of 
procedure codes was necessary on each hospital's data in order to accurately model the new 
OPPS payment method and to estimate a hospital's shift in Medicaid outpatient reimbursement 
resulting from implementation of an OPPS. 

Navigant and the AHCA Governance Committee settled on a threshold of two-thirds. A 
hospital needed to have procedure codes on at least two-thirds of its service lines to be included 
in the OPPS modeling. Any hospital with one-third or more of its claim lines missing a 
procedure code was removed from the modeling.3 Using this criteria, 19 hospitals were 
identified as having incomplete data and were dropped from the OPPS modeling dataset. 

3 As described in Section 3.4, procedure codes and/or EAPG codes were 'manually" assigned based on revenue code to some claim lines 
submitted without a procedure code. This 'manual ' manipulation was only performed for specific service lines for which estimation of a 
procedure code could be made reasonably accurately. With this 'manual ' manipulation in mind, the calculation of percentage of service lines 
without a procedure code by hospital was calculated excluding the service lines for which a procedure code and/or EAPG code could be 
'manually" assigned . 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 10 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



These hospitals are listed in Table 2. In total, 557,942 claims and 2,325,398 claim lines associated 
with these 19 hospitals were removed from the dataset. 

Table 2. Hospitals removed from OPPS payment modeling due to lack of procedure codes. 

Florida Hosp~al at Connerton · L TAC $45,353 
008135900 Univers~y Behavioral Center 2 100% 2 $3,000 
008135300 Emerald Coast Behavioral Hosp~al , LLC 154 154 100% 154 $9,555 
010102800 Florida Hosp~al Tampa 18,271 52,903 35% 173,105 $115,882,262 
010345400 Memorial Hosp~al Miramar 24,111 30,829 78% 101 ,409 $60,200,676 
010020000 Memorial Regional Hosp~al 105,348 137,570 77% 419,733 $335,944 ,853 
010252100 Memorial Hosp~al West 40,381 53,903 75% 191 ,714 $144,551 ,040 
010222900 Memorial Hosp~al Pembroke 22,706 31 ,917 71 % 94,442 $52,790,777 
010260100 Florida Hosp~al Wauchula 6,895 10,392 66% 35,962 $16,621 ,964 
010003000 UF Health Shands Hosp~al 60,494 93,064 65% 397,145 $180,094 ,812 
010090100 Florida Hosp~al Heartland Med Cntr 14,336 26,776 54% 95,693 $46,143,550 
010190700 Northwest Florida Cm nty Hosp~al 3,863 7,694 50% 32,071 $10,017 ,686 
010823300 Wind moor Hea~hcare, Inc. 14 28 50% 28 $29,100 
010067600 UF Hea~h Jacksonville 44,781 92,479 48% 398,500 $230,451 '128 
010109500 Florida Hosp~al Waterman 17,142 36,647 47% 139,059 $70,530,246 
005456800 Florida Hosp~al Wesley Chapel 6,325 15,385 41% 55,227 $33,596,727 
010094300 Florida Hosp~al Carrollwood 8,827 22,390 39% 76,348 $49,583,510 
010161300 Florida Hosp~al North Pinellas 4,779 12,812 37% 42,694 $24,151 ,233 
010149400 Florida Hosp~al Zephyrhills 7,091 21 ,235 33% 72,044 $42,469,113 

Total 385,548 646,208 " 60% 2,325,398 $1,413,116,586 

in these columns exclude the and Nuclear Medicine. 

AHCA is hopeful to be able to collect the procedure codes for services performed from these 
hospitals during the months of December 2015 and January 2016 so that the hospitals may be 
included in future OPPS modeling. As an example, one hospital, All Children's Hospital, has 
already submitted to AHCA a separate claim extract that was used to reduce the percentage of 
service lines with blank procedure codes from 32 percent to 20 percent for this facility. All 
Children's Hospital is included in the modeling presented in this report. 

Lastly, the lack of procedure code data was not an issue for the Ambulatory Surgical Centers 
(ASCs) . ASCs bill on a professional claim form (837P or CMS-1500) for which procedure code is 
already a required field. Thus, all the historical ASC claim data was sufficient for inclusion in 
the OPPS modeling. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 11 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



3.4 Manual Adjustments 

Before manual manipulation by Navigant, a total of 3,252,012 claim lines without a procedure 
code were included in the modeling dataset. Navigant, with help from 3M Health Information 
Systems (HIS), was able to assign procedure codes and/or EAPG codes to 2,692,359 of those 
claim lines. In some cases, a procedure code was added and then the claim was processed 
through the EAPG grouper to assign a valid EAPG code. In other cases, an EAPG code was 
assigned by Navigant without addition of a procedure code. 

This manual manipulation of the data was performed on a select subset of services for which a 
small number of revenue codes and procedure codes are normally billed, and a small number of 
EAPG codes gets assigned. Specifically claim service lines with a revenue code identifying one 
of the following types of service were considered for manual adjustment: pharmacy, laboratory, 
supplies, therapies, dialysis, or radiology and nuclear medicine. In addition, the adjustments 
were applied only to service lines billed without a procedure code. For each claim line meeting 
this criteria, a procedure code was manually assigned based on the types of procedure codes 
billed on similar claims in the dataset or based on logic provided by 3M HIS. The intention of 
manually assigning procedure codes was to keep as many claims in the modeling dataset as 
possible while still maintaining accuracy of modeled payments. 

In the manual claim adjustment process, none of the baseline payment amounts on claim lines 
were changed, thus ensuring that the total baseline payment amount for these services was not 
altered. In total, 673,330 claim lines were manually assigned an EAPG for supplies, 1,889,302 
claim lines were manually assigned an EAPG for pharmacy services, 93,114 claim lines were 
assigned a procedure code for therapy services, 28,895 claim lines were added for observation 
procedures, 7,082 claim lines were assigned a procedure code for radiology and nuclear 
medicine services, and 636 claim lines were assigned a procedure code for dialysis services. 
Details of the logic used to assign procedure codes and EAPG codes is given in" Appendix H
Manual Adjustments to Improve EAPG Assignment." 

3.5 Description of Grouping and Discounting Options Used 

The grouping of claims for OPPS modeling followed the recommendations listed later in this 
document. Claims were grouped to version 3.10 of the Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups 
(EAPGs) using the 3M Core Grouping Software. Within the Core Grouping Software, several 
configuration options can be set to customize the grouping and pricing logic. For the most part, 
we used default options for assignment of EAPG codes (grouping) . A few of those options are 
listed below: 

• Claims with more than one date of service were considered separate, independent 
outpatient visits unless the claim was for observation or emergency department services. 
Claims were identified as being for observation or emergency department services if at 
least one of the service lines on the claim contained on of these revenue codes: 

o 0450 - 0459 Emergency Room 
o 0760- 0769 Specialty Services (includes observation and Treatment Room) 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 12 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



• The following procedure modifiers were allowed to affect assignment of EAPG codes: 
o 25 Separately identifiable evaluation and management service 
o 27 Multiple outpatient hospital evaluation and management encounters on 

the same date 
Distinct procedure service 0 59 

o GN Service delivered under an outpatient speech-language pathology plan of 
care 

o GO Service delivered under an outpatient occupational therapy plan of care 
o GP Service delivered under an outpatient physical therapy plan of care 

• No limit was put on the minimum number of hours of observation 
• Packaging was not performed for radiology services 

In addition, multiple discounting options are available to customize the EAPG pricing logic. 
The options used in our modeling are listed below: 

• Discounting at 50 percent was performed for: 
o Clinically similar significant procedures 
o Repeat ancillary procedures 
o Terminated procedures 

• Payment enhancement to 150 percent was applied to bilateral procedures 
• Procedure discounting was not applied to the following services: 

o Repeat ancillary drugs 
o Repeat ancillary durable medical equipment (DME) codes 
o Cross-type multiple procedures 

3.6 Modeling OPPS Pricing 

The modeling of OPPS pricing was performed using the recommendations explained in later 
sections within this document. The only exception is that the documentation and coding 
adjustment was not applied in the payment modeling. The purpose of the payment modeling is 
to estimate how Medicaid reimbursements will change with a shift from the current payment 
method to an OPPS payment method. Including adjustments for documentation and coding in 
this modeling would have unnecessarily complicated the comparison of payment methods. 
Summary results of the modeling are included in various Appendices at the end of this 
document. 

The total amount of money available for distribution through EAPG pricing equaled the 
baseline payments from GRand PMATF. The exact value was $1,161,203,134. This money was 
distributed through EAPG pricing using two base rates, one for hospitals and one for ASCs, and 
using one provider policy adjustor applied to hospitals with a high percentage of outpatient 
utilization coming from Medicaid recipients. The EAPG base rates came out to $388.07 for 
hospitals and $278.88 for ASCs. In addition, the high Medicaid outpatient utilization policy 
adjustor came out to 1.4182. These parameters will change in the final rate setting process based 
on adjustments for improved documentation and coding. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 13 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



In the OPPS payment modeling, automatic rate enhancements were applied to providers who 
are receiving automatic rate enhancements on outpatient services during state fiscal year (SFY) 
2015/16. Applied rate enhancements totaled $95,892,461 and were distributed to the same 
hospitals and in the same amounts as defined in the SFY 2015/16 General Appropriations Act.4 

To ensure that specific rate enhancement amounts were distributed to specific hospitals, as is 
done in the legacy payment method, the automatic rate enhancements were distributed in the 
model as per-service-line supplemental payments. This method is similar to the method used 
to distribute hospital inpatient automatic rate enhancements within AHCA' s inpatient DRG 
payment method. For the outpatient payment method, we modeled a supplemental payment 
on every claim service line that contained a covered revenue code, even if the EAPG payment 
for that service line was $0 because of bundling. We considered this method of providing a 
supplemental on every line with a covered revenue code a more accurate way to distribute the 
funds than including a supplemental payment only on service lines that received a non-zero 
EAPG payment. 

3.7 Calculation of Cost 

During the OPPS modeling process, Navigant used comparisons of hospital costs of providing 
services to the baseline payments under the legacy payment method and to the simulated 
payments under an EAPG payment methodology as one measure of the impact of the change in 
payment method. Also, simulated EAPG pay-to-cost ratios for various sub-categories such as 
service line and provider category were compared to the overall statewide average hospital 
outpatient pay-to-cost ratio. Results of these comparisons are shown in various summary tables 
provided in the Appendices. Estimates of provider costs were used only for these comparisons, 
and for no other purpose, as the recommended payment method does not include outlier 
payments.5 

To estimate provider costs, Navigant calculated outpatient ancillary cost-to-charge ratios 
(CCRs) for in-state hospitals based on Medicare cost report information found in the Healthcare 
Cost Report Information System (HCRIS). Costs and charges were retrieved from Worksheet C, 
Part I. Within this worksheet, values were retrieved from cost centers 50 through 76, 90 through 
93, and 96 through 99 for inclusion in the CCR calculations. An overall CCR was calculated for 
most outpatient services provided by hospitals along with separate CCRs calculated for lab, 
therapy, dialysis, and radiology services. In cases where an outpatient claim was from an out of 
state hospital, cost-to-charge ratios were assigned to service lines based on the state wide 
average CCRs for in-state providers. Once the appropriate service line CCR was assigned to a 
claim service line, cost was calculated as the product of the line' s submitted charges times the 
CCR. 

4 The full allotment of hospital outpatient rate enhancements for SFY 2015/16 is $133,997,697. Our models distribute less than this full amount 
because some hospitals who receive automatic rate enhancements were removed from our modeling dataset because of a lack of procedure 
codes. 
5 Outlier payment calculations commonly use estimates of provider cost as part of the formula that determines the outlier payment amount on 
individual claims. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 14 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



4 Grouping Algorithms in Outpatient Payment Methods 
Most Outpatient Prospective Payment Systems (OPPS) used in the U.S. healthcare industry 
utilize a grouping algorithm that categorizes services, devices, and supplies for the purpose of 
calculating reimbursement. The two most common grouping algorithms used are Enhanced 
Ambulatory Patient Groups (EAPGs) and Ambulatory Patient Classifications (APCs). EAPGs 
are a proprietary product created and maintained by 3M Health Information Systems. APCs 
are maintained by a combination of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and 
3M Health Information Systems, and are publicly available with less copyright restrictions. 
APCs are used by the Medicare program, about 10 state Medicaid agencies and several 
commercial payers. EAPGs are used by six state Medicaid agencies and several commercial 
payers. In addition, four more state Medicaid agencies, including Florida, are considering 
implementation of EAPGs. One of the most fundamental payment policy decisions that must 
be made for the Florida OPPS is which grouping algorithm to use. 

4.1 Basics of an Outpatient Prospective Payment System 

Outpatient Prospective Payment Systems (OPPS) share financial risk between payers and 
providers, giving both an incentive to manage overall cost of care. Prospective payment 
methodologies ensure that payment rates for services do not change based on the overall cost of 
providing those services. This is in contrast to AHCA' s current outpatient payment method, 
which assigns each hospital its own cost-based rate and cost settles reimbursements 
retrospectively when audited cost reports are available. 

In both the EAPG-based and APC-based OPPS's, each service line on an outpatient claim is 
assigned an EAPG/APC code. This is in contrast to Inpatient Prospective Payment Systems 
(IPPS) utilizing Diagnosis Related Groups (DRGs) which assign a single DRG code to a medical 
claim and a single payment based on that DRG code. The wide variation in locations of service, 
reasons for outpatient care, and the high cost associated with ancillary services requires 
outpatient classification systems to closely reflect services provided to a patient. This is done by 
assigning an EAPG or APC code to each claim service line. However, to promote efficiency and 
to reduce the likelihood of unnecessary services being performed, not all claim lines are 
assigned a full payment rate or used in the payment calculation. Both grouping algorithms, 
EAPGs and APCs, provide ways to bundle payment for some services and supplies in with 
payment for other services. Payment bundling within the APC payment method is somewhat 
limited, but is increasing with newer releases of the APC grouping algorithm. The EAPG 
grouping algorithm, in contrast has a relatively robust set of logic which bundles payment of 
service lines in some scenarios and discounts payment in other scenarios based on the 
procedure codes submitted on the claim. 

For purposes of payment, both the EAPG and APC codes are assigned a relative weight. The 
relative weights estimate the relative amount of resources required by a healthcare provider to 
perform the service. Base payment is calculated by multiplying the relative weight times a base 
rate (a base rate in an OPPS is also often referred to as a conversion factor). Using these values, 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 15 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



a payment amount is calculated for each service line on a claim and total payment for the claim 
equals the sum of the payments on all lines of the claim. 

4.2 Ambulatory Patient Classifications (APCs) 

4.2.1 Basics of an APC Payment Method 

On August 1, 2000 Medicare began using an APC-based OPPS for payment of hospital 
outpatient services. Under the APC payment method, Medicare assigns procedure to APC 
codes based on similar clinical characteristics and costs. Under the APC methodology, services 
may be paid separately or bundled together based on the different information that is present 
on an outpatient claim. APCs are designed for use by Medicare and are updated annually to 
assign new payment weights, payment rates, wage and other adjustments to APC groups. This 
annual review of APCs and their relative weights considers hospital, medical practice, and 
service and technology changes that may affect payment rates or APC groups. Additional 
information such as new cost data may also be used to ensure adequate payments are made.6 

Under an APC-based OPPS, some services are paid separately and not bundled including many 
surgical procedures, diagnostic procedures, non-surgical therapeutic procedures, blood and 
blood products, most clinical and emergency department visits, certain preventative services 
and some drugs, biologicals and radiopharmaceuticals, along with other services and products. 
Under the same APC method, services typically packaged and combined for APC payment 
include supplies, ancillary services, anesthesia, operating and recovery room use, add-on 
procedures, medical device implants, and inexpensive drugs, radiology, imaging and 
observation services? 

In most cases, APC payment rates for separately payable medical and surgical services are 
calculated by multiplying the APC relative weight by a conversion factor to get a national 
adjustment payment for each APC. Further adjustments are made to adjust for geographic 
differences in input prices for labor using a wage index applicable to the location where the 
service was performed. For Medicare payments additional add-on or outlier payments may be 
available for specific drugs, high cost services, transitional payments for cancer hospitals, and 
other adjustments for certain types of hospitals.8 

A generic APC payment is calculated as: 

APC Payment =([Conversion Factor] x [APC Relative Weight]) x ([60% Labor related 
Adjustment9] + [40% non-labor related Adjustment])10 

6 Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment System- Payment System Fact Sheet Series. Department of Health and Human Services
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, December 2014. 
7 Ibid. 
8 Ibid. 
9 Based on hospital wage index. 
10 Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment System- Payment System Fact Sheet Series. Department of Health and Human Services
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, December 2014. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 16 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Adminis tration 



Under the Medicare APC-based OPPS, payment exceptions may be applied for high cost cases, 
resulting in the inclusion of an outlier payment, for Sole Community Hospitals (SCH), and in 
cases where a cancer or children's hospital is eligible for a transitional outpatient payment.11 

These special calculations are as follows: 

1. APC payment with outlier= [APC Payment] + [Outlier Payment] 
2. APC Payment of SCH = [APC Payment] x [1.071] 
3. Cancer or Children's hospital eligible for transitional outpatient payment 

= [APC Payment]+ [Transitional Outpatient Payment] 

While many providers may be familiar with the Medicare APC system, the program would 
need to be modified for use by the Florida Medicaid Agency to ensure that groups and services 
not served by the Medicare program are included in the APC payment method. This may result 
in significant variation from the Medicare structured system and increase the need for annual 
updates to fee-schedules and payment rates. 

4.2.2 Services Covered Under APCs 

APCs are only designed to categorize some of the services provided in an ambulatory care 
setting. Many other ambulatory care services are paid for using fee schedules in an APC-based 
OPPS. Services that are paid via a fee schedule include laboratory, pathology, physical therapy, 
mammography, non-implantable prosthetics, and durable medical equipment (DME). Thus, 
maintenance of an APC-based OPPS includes documentation and updates to both APC 
payment parameters and fee schedules. 

4.2.3 Medical Visits in an APC Payment Method 

APCs also differ from EAPGs in payment for medical visits, which are outpatient visits in 
which a patient receives medical treatment but there was no significant procedure performed. 
An outpatient visit that required only observation services is an example of a medical visit. The 
APC categorization method includes 15 codes for medical visits and many of those are assigned 
based on procedure codes that identify the duration of patient contact. The EAPG grouping 
algorithm has 191 codes for medical visits and bases EAPG assignment on the primary 
diagnosis (the condition) of the patient. 

4.3 Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups (EAPGs) 

4.3.1 Basics of an EAPG Payment Method 

EAPGs are a product of 3M Health Information Systems that is designed to categorize 
outpatient services and procedures into groups for payment based on clinical information 
present on an outpatient claim. EAPGs are designed for the categorization of services provided 
to all patient groups and across multiple ambulatory care settings such as ambulatory clinics, 

11 Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment System- Payment System Fact Sheet Series. Department of Health and Human Services
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, December 2014. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 17 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



surgery centers, emergency rooms, physicians' visits and other outpatient facilities. There is no 
need to maintain fee schedules for some types of care when implementing an EAPG-based 
OPPS. In addition, like APCs, EAPGs are not designed to pay for all types of care and exclude 
nursing home care, inpatient care, self-administered pharmaceuticals, and various other 
services such as transportation. EAPGs are designed to pay for facility time and resources and 
not for professional services which are billed through other methods.12 

In the EAPG classification scheme, there are three primary types of procedures - significant, 
ancillary, and incidental. In an ambulatory setting, a significant procedure is usually the 
primary reason for the visit. Significant procedures normally require a majority of the time and 
resources used during the visit. In the EAPG classification scheme, significant tests may also 
constitute a significant procedure.13 Ancillary procedures are generally ordered by the primary 
physician to assist in patient diagnosis or treatment. Ancillary procedures include pathology, 
laboratory, chemotherapy & pharmacotherapy, durable medical equipment, and other ancillary 
tests. Ancillary procedures increase the resources used during an outpatient visit, but do not 
constitute a majority of the time or supplies used during the visit. Incidental procedures are an 
integral part of a medical visit and are usually associated with professional services. Examples 
of incidental procedures include range of motion measurements, category II CPT codes for 
performance measurement, PQRI (Physician Quality Reporting Initiative) codes (HCPCS G
eodes), and evaluation and management codes.14 

4.3.2 Calculating Payment in an EAPG-Based OPPS 

4.3.2 .1 Visit Type 

Based on the primary type of procedure performed, each outpatient visit is categorized as either 
a significant procedure visit, a medical visit, or an ancillary-only visit. When the visit type is 
"significant procedure visit," payment is usually applied to the claim lines with significant 
procedures and services commonly packaged include routine ancillaries, incidental procedures, 
supplies, many drugs and anesthesia. However, additional payments are permitted for 
unrelated significant procedures with applicable discounts, non-packaged ancillaries, 
chemotherapy, and select drugs and biologicals.15 

The visit type assigned is "medical visit" if a patient received medical treatment but there was 
no significant procedure performed during the visit. With a medical visit, payment is generally 
applied to the medical visit EAPG and items generally packaged include routine ancillaries, 
incidental procedures, supplies and most drugs (excluding chemotherapy and select drugs and 
biologicals). In this case, additional payment may be available for non-packaged ancillaries, 
chemotherapy and other select drugs and biologics.16 

12 3M™ Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Grouping System- Definitions Manual, July, 2015. 
13 Ibid. 
14 1ntroduction to 3M Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups, Presentation from 3M to Ohio Hospital Association , June 2015. 
15 3M™ Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Grouping System- Definitions Manual , July, 2015. 
16 1bid. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 

Page 18 



When the visit type assigned is "ancillary services only," all ancillary items receive separate 
payment. A summary of this information can be found in Table 3.17 

Table 3. EAPG payment system overview18 

Items Included in the Base EAPG Items for Which Additional 
Visit Type Payment Payment is Permitted 

Routine Ancillaries, 
Significant Unrelated Procedures 

Incidental Procedures, 
Significant Supplies, 

with any Applicable Discounts, 

Procedure Drug (except chemo and selected 
Non-Packaged Ancillaries, 

drugs and biologicals), 
Chemo and selected drugs and 

Anesthesia 
biologicals 

Packaged Routine Ancillaries, 
Incidental Procedures, Non-Packaged Ancillaries, 

Medical Visit Supplies, Chemo and selected drugs and 
Drugs (except chemo and biologicals 
selected drugs and biologicals) 

Ancillary Only None 
All" Ancillary Only" Items Are 
Paid Separately 

4.3.2.2 Medical Visits in an EA PG Payment Method 

Medical visits are outpatient visits in which a patient received medical treatment but there was 
no significant procedure performed. In this scenario, patients may require a wide array of 
different services, making it difficult to estimate the resource needs for these types of services. 
The EAPG grouping algorithm handles these cases by defining 191 different codes for medical 
visits (there are 15 different APC codes), and basing EAPG assignment on the diagnoses 
submitted on the claim instead of on the HCPCS procedure codes. Thus, payment is based on 
the condition of the patient and not on the duration of patient contact self-reported by 
providers, as is the case with APCs. 

4.3.2.3 Bundling and Discounting 

To promote efficiency and to reduce the likelihood of up-coding EAPGs or the provision of 
unnecessary services, not all claim lines are assigned a full payment rate or used in the payment 
calculation. This is true in both the APC and EAPG payment methods. Within the EAPG 
payment methodology, bundling and discounting is more sophisticated, and uses three 
different techniques, ancillary packaging, significant procedure consolidation, and procedure 

17 3M™ Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Grouping System- Definitions Manual , July, 2015. 
18 1bid. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 
Submitted to the Florida Agency fo r Health Care Administration 

Page 19 



discounting to group different services provided during outpatient visits into a single claim 
payment.19 

4.3.2.3.1 Ancillary Packaging 
When a significant procedure or medical visit is present on an outpatient claim, ancillary 
services that are performed at the same visit may be packaged with the significant procedure. 
Ancillary packaging combines the payment of certain ancillary services into the payment of a 
significant EAPG procedure. Payments for packaged ancillary procedures become paid 
through an increased payment associated with the significant procedure or medical EAPG on a 
claim.20 

The goal of EAPG packaging is to incent providers to improve quality and reduce cost by either 
eliminating unnecessary services or replacing more expensive services with lower cost ones. At 
the same time packaging should not be defined in a way that discourages providers from giving 
patients expensive tests or procedures when clinically warranted. Because packaging, which 
results in $0 payment, risks discouraging providers from offering some services, expensive tests 
and procedures, for example an MRI, are paid separately and not packaged with another 
procedure. Packaging is reserved for only inexpensive and frequently performed ancillary 
procedures.21 

Packaging schedules can be developed using two different methods, using a clinical packaging 
approach or through designing a list of procedures which are always packaged. Clinical 
packaging chooses which ancillary services to package on an EAPG specific basis using clinical 
methodologies to determine which ancillary services are expected as a routine part of an 
outpatient visit. Creating a list of services which will always be packaged with a significant 
procedure or medical visit is another way of customizing the EAPG grouping algorithm. By 
creating a uniform list of services that will always be packaged both payers and providers will 
be aware of what services will always be packaged allowing for easy tracking of these 
procedures. Creating a defined list of ancillary procedures that will be packaged can help to 
prevent providers from trying to use tests or procedures that will not be packaged into a 
significant procedure or using other coding and billing methods to avoid packaged payments.22 

4.3.2.3.2 Significant Procedure Consolidation 
Procedure consolidation may occur when multiple significant procedures of the same type are 
present on the same outpatient claim. Procedures of the same type which are provided during 
the same encounter may be consolidated, which means paid at $0, to provide a single payment 
for multiple services due to a decrease in the additional time and resources needed to perform 
the second service.23 

19 3M™ Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Grouping System - Definitions Manual, July, 2015. 
20 Ibid. 
21 Ibid. 
22 Ibid. 
23 Ibid. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 

Page 20 



4.3.2 .3.3 Discounting 

Under an EAPG payment methodology, when multiple significant, ancillary, or other 
procedures are performed multiple times during an outpatient visit, an EAPG payment rate 
may be reduced through a process known as discounting. Discounting is justified by the fact 
that the cost of providing an additional service to a patient is less than providing the same 
procedure by itself, in general because much of the patient preparation that may be necessary 
for outpatient services has already been performed. In instances where these services are 
identified and selected for discounting, the reduction of payment through discounting may 
range from zero to 100 percent of payment.24 In the Navigant modeling the discounting was set 
to 50 percent. 

4.4 Grouping Algorithm Recommendations 

Given the dynamics of the two OPPSs commonly in use in the U.S. healthcare industry, 
Navigant recommends the use of an EAPG payment method by Florida Medicaid. An EAPG 
payment method provides a less complex OPPS as it can be used for all services offered in an 
outpatient setting without the need for maintaining separate fee schedules. In addition, EAPGs 
bundle services more frequently than the alternative APC system, creating greater incentives for 
providers to control costs and services offered to Medicaid recipients. 

In addition, while many providers may be familiar with the APC-based OPPS method used by 
Medicare, changes and modifications to this system would be needed for it to work with the 
Florida Medicaid population. It would need to be customized to support payment of services 
covered by Florida Medicaid, but not covered by Medicare. In addition, the Florida Legislature 
may choose to apply adjustors to the standard APC payment rates to meet Florida Medicaid 
goals. Thus, even if Florida Medicaid implemented an APC-based OPPS, providers would not 
be able to use software they already have for their Medicare business as a way to predict 
payment for their Medicaid patients. 

5 Payment Policy Option- Included and Excluded Provider 
Types 

An EAPG payment methodology allows for multiple types of facilities to be reimbursed for the 
outpatient services they provide. EAPG payment is intended to reimburse facility costs 
including labor for healthcare providers commonly employed by a healthcare facility. 
Physician services are generally billed separately and are not included in the EAPG 
reimbursement. Currently, the following types of facilities submit institutional outpatient 
claims to Florida Medicaid: free-standing dialysis centers, free-standing hospice providers, and 
hospitals. This makes each group a candidate for reimbursement through an EAPG payment 
method. In addition, free-standing (independent) laboratories and Ambulatory Surgical 

24 3M™ Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Grouping System- Definitions Manual, July, 2015. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 21 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



Centers (ASCs) perform services very similar to those offered in a hospital. As a result both 
independent laboratories and ASCs are candidates for inclusion in an EAPG-based OPPS. 

5.1 Included and Excluded Provider Types- Discussion 

From a broad payment policy prospective, a defensible payment method offers consistency and 
fairness of reimbursement for medical services. The method may include adjustments that 
account for fundamental differences in cost structures and/or payer mix of certain categories of 
providers. However, within a single category of providers, a common goal of a payment 
method is to pay the same amount for the same service independent of where the service was 
performed. 

Specific to Florida Medicaid, free-standing hospice facilities and free-standing dialysis facilities 
are currently paid using separate methods that are unique to these types of facilities. Free
standing hospice facilities are assigned a facility-and-revenue-specific rate for six specific 
revenue codes. In addition, there are unique federal requirements related to payment for 
hospice services which further differentiate free-standing hospice and hospital provided 
hospice services. Free standing dialysis centers are paid statewide standardized rates for a 
specific set of revenue code and procedure code combinations. In contrast to these two 
payment methods, hospital outpatient services are paid using a hospital-specific, cost-based, 
per-service rate which is applied to each payable revenue code. 

In the Florida Medicaid program, independent laboratories are currently paid using the same 
lab fee schedule that is used for laboratory services provided within an acute care hospital. 
However, the cost structures of these hospital-based lab services and free-standing labs is not 
the same, as hospitals have greater overhead to support offering a wide array of services at any 
time of the day. 

Ambulatory Surgical Centers (ASCs) are currently paid using a method similar to that applied 
by Medicare, which groups a finite set of procedure codes into a set of fourteen categories and 
assigns a different state-wide rate to each of the fourteen categories. Also, ASCs currently bill 
using a professional claim form, again consistent with the process utilized by Medicare. 

Assuming that the goal of an outpatient prospective payment system is to provide fair and 
consistent payments for provided medical services, current payment and cost structures must 
be accounted for when deciding what provider types to include in an EAPG-based OPPS 
payment methodology. 

5.2 Included and Excluded Provider Types- Recommendation 

Navigant and the AHCA Governance Committee believed the primary focus of the Florida 
Legislature in considering an OPPS was to move away from cost-based facility specific payment 
rates for hospitals. In addition, we believe the EAPG payment method is particularly well
suited for surgical services for which significant, ancillary, and incidental procedures are 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 22 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



generally clearly identified. As a result, we recommend including only hospitals (provider 
types 01) and Ambulatory Surgical Centers (provider type 06) in the new EAPG-based OPPS. 

Assuming a successful transition to the new OPPS, Florida Medicaid might consider converting 
reimbursement for free-standing dialysis centers, independent laboratories, and free-standing 
hospice facilities to the OPPS. If included in the future, the varying cost structures of these 
types of facilities would likely require separate EAPG base rates for each. 

6 Payment Policy Option- Included and Excluded Services 
For the provider types included in the new OPPS, it is worthwhile to review whether or not 
there are any specific procedures, materials, and/or devices which might be more appropriately 
reimbursed using a method other than an EAPG-based OPPS. If yes, these services could be 
excluded from the new payment system and reimbursed through another method. 

6.1 Included and Excluded Services- Discussion 

Unlike the APC-based OPPS, the EAPG-based OPPS is designed to calculate reimbursement for 
all services provided in the outpatient setting. The EAPG system incorporates into its design 
logic on how to pay services differently based on cost, resource use, and clinical guidelines. In 
addition, the EAPG relative weights are calculated under an assumption that the cost and 
payment for common ancillary procedures will be covered under reimbursement for the 
significant procedures. Thus, carving specific outpatient procedures out of the EAPG payment 
method may counteract some of the logic and weighting built into the EAPG design. For this 
reason, our general preference is to reimburse all outpatient services from applicable providers 
under EAPG payment method. 

During the payment method design process, the one set of procedures that were given 
consideration for exclusion were pharmaceuticals. The concern with pharmaceuticals related to 
the impact the EAPG payment methodology may have on rebates AHCA and 340B qualified 
hospitals currently receive. There are regulations which state that Medicaid agencies may only 
apply for rebates on drugs that receive explicit payment. Thus, drugs whose payment is 
bundled in with payment for a significant procedure under an EAPG payment method would 
not be eligible for drug rebate. Also, similar restrictions are being considered for hospitals who 
qualify for the 340B drug payment program and receive rebates from drug manufactures 
separately from the Medicaid Agency. Please see Chapter 15, "Impact of OPPS on 340B Drug 
Pricing Program" for a more detailed discussion of this topic. 

6.2 Included and Excluded Services- Recommendation 

Because of the robust and all-encompassing design of the EAPG payment method, we 
recommend including all outpatient services from included provider types in the OPPS. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 

Page 23 



In terms of the drug rebate program, current rules limit AHCA to applying for rebates only for 
pharmaceuticals on hospital outpatient claims that are billed with a procedure code and a 
National Drug Code (NDC). These codes are generally only included on relatively expensive 
drugs which will receive payment through the EAPG-based OPPS. Thus, the number of drugs 
currently applying for rebate today whose reimbursement will be bundled in the OPPS, thus 
making them no longer applicable for rebate, is anticipated to be low. In addition, the new 
requirements under the OPPS to include procedure codes on service lines for reimbursement 
may increase the number of drug service lines submitted with procedure codes. This may 
increase the number of drugs billed with necessary information to apply for rebates, thus 
offsetting the effect of payment bundling on drug rebates. 

In terms of hospitals who qualify for the 340B Pharmacy Pricing Program, it is unclear at this 
time if rebates will be disallowed for drugs provided in an outpatient setting and whose 
reimbursement is bundled in with reimbursement for another procedure. In addition, if rebates 
are not allowed for drugs in this scenario, it is our expectation that impact to hospitals will be 
low as only low-cost drugs receive bundled payment in an EAPG-based OPPS. Of the six state 
Medicaid agencies who have implemented an EAPG-based OPPS to date, only one, Virginia, 
carved pharmaceuticals out of the OPPS. 

7 Payment Policy Option- Base Rate(s) 
The EAPG provider base rate, also referred to as the "conversion factor," is one of the most 
significant contributors to the reimbursement amount in an OPPS. Thus, selection of provider 
base rate(s) is a critical step in ensuring fair reimbursement when implementing an OPPS 
payment method. The simplest approach from the point of view of maintaining budget 
neutrality would be to assign each healthcare provider its own base rate. However, this would 
defeat one of the basic goals of an OPPS payment method -that is incenting and rewarding 
provider efficiency. The opposite approach would be to develop a single base rate to be applied 
to all providers. Many states have found that a solution somewhere between individual 
provider base rates and a single state-wide base rate is a more appropriate answer. Most states 
select a small number of base rates for specific provider categories that address reasonable 
differences in cost between providers in different categories. In the Florida inpatient DRG 
payment methodology, one base rate is utilized, but a small number of provider category policy 
adjustors are incorporated, which have a similar effect as separate base rates. 

7.1 Provider Base Rates- Discussion 

7.1.1 Base Rates for Different Provider Categories 

Separate provider base rates are most often selected to adjust for definable differences in cost 
structure, to adjust for differences in payer mix, and to ensure access to care. For example, the 
two types of providers recommended for inclusion in AHCA' s OPPS are hospitals and ASCs. 
ASCs are believed to have lower overall cost structures than hospitals because ASCs offer a 
smaller range of services, ASCs may turn away patients they deem to be overly costly, and 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 24 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



ASCs do not need to remain open 24 hours a day seven days a week. These factors allow ASCs 
to maintain lower overa!J cost structures than hospitals. As a result, separate base rates for 
hospitals versus ASCs may be warranted. Similarly, if a decision is made to add free-standing 
dialysis centers and/or independent laboratories to the OPPS, separate base rates should be 
considered for these types of facilities as well. 

In addition, within the hospital category some facilities may have different cost structures based 
on the services they provide to patients, such as trauma care, and complex pediatric care, or 
because of services they provide to the healthcare community such as training for interns and 
residents. Other hospitals, most notably small rural hospitals, have relatively low costs, but also 
have relatively few patients from which to spread their overhead, and they provide access to 
care to recipients who would otherwise have to travel long distances to reach larger urban 
facilities. Also within the hospital category, there is a broad range of payer mix. Some facilities 
have significantly high Medicaid utilization, and rely heavily on Medicaid reimbursement, 
which on average is less than hospital cost, to remain in operation. AIJ of these differences 
between hospitals are worthy of consideration when selecting categories for base rates, and/or 
provider policy adjustors, as described in Chapter 9. 

If separate base rates are selected for some groups of providers, we recommend the criteria used 
to categorize hospitals within groups be very clear and maintainable. Understandably, 
hospitals will be motivated to be defined into the peer group offering the most attractive 
reimbursement. Having clearly defined criteria for each grouping will help maintain the 
integrity of the payment policy and lessen the administrative burden of categorizing all 
hospitals. 

7.1.2 Base Rate Adjustment for Wage Area Differences 

Another option employed by some state Medicaid agencies (and by the Medicare program) to 
adjust hospital base rates is a geographic wage area index or factor. The wage areas and 
associated wage indices can be state-defined values or can be linked to the Medicare values. 
Adjustment by wage area allows for higher payment in geographic regions that have 
historically reported higher wage rates for healthcare employees. 

Wage area indices act as multipliers to common base rate(s) and can be applied either to the 
entire base rate or to a portion of the base rate. For example, Medicare applies the wage area 
index only to a percentage of the common base rate where the percentage is a standardized 
estimate of the percentage of hospital costs attributed to labor. In particular, Medicare applies 
the wage index to 60 percent of the common base rate and leaves 40 percent unadjusted as is 
shown in the following formula: 

Base rate =([Common base rate]* [hospital wage index]* 0.60) 
+([Common base rate]* 0.40) 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for H ealth Care Administration 

Page 25 



Medicare wage indices for Florida hospitals for federal fiscal year 2016 range from 0.8325 to 
0.9765 and the average is 0.9123.25 The difference from the lowest wage index to the highest is 
0.1440 which is approximately 16 percent of the average. This is a relatively small range from 
low to high values. 

If a wage area adjustment is desired by Florida Medicaid, an alternative to adopting Medicare's 
wage indices would be to develop Florida-specific wage indices. However, determination of 
wage areas can be very complicated and would likely require AHCA to take on a significant 
amount of additional effort. In addition, CMS is currently undergoing a major effort to redesign 
wage areas that will presumably result in a solution more widely accepted in the hospital 
community. 

7.2 Provider Base Rates- Recommendation 

Given the current list of provider types recommended for Florida Medicaid's OPPS, we are 
recommending two OPPS base rates (referred to as "conversion factors" by Medicare), one for 
hospitals and another for ASCs. This recommendation is made in concert with our 
recommendation regarding provider policy adjustors, which is given in Chapter 9. In earlier 
pricing simulations, we used a single base rate and the result was a shift of approximately $16 
million from hospital payments to ASC payments. Without any specific direction from the 
Legislature to shift funds between these two types of providers, we assumed this shift is not 
intended to be part of the conversion to a new OPPS. Thus, we are recommending separate 
base rates for hospitals and ASCs in order to keep each type of provider budget neutral in 
aggregate. 

Also, we are assuming hospital outpatient rate enhancements will be disbursed as supplemental 
claim payments, separate from the funds distributed through the base rates and standard EAPG 
pricing. This will allow the rate enhancements to be distributed in specific amounts to specific 
hospitals, as is done under the legacy outpatient payment method. If automatic rate 
enhancements are rolled into the base rate instead of being paid as a supplemental payment, 
then each hospital would need to be given their own base rate in order to distribute specific 
automatic rate enhancement amounts to specific hospitals. 

Lastly, because of varying opinions on the fairness of Medicare wage areas, the limited range of 
wage indices in Florida, and AHCA's strong preference for a simplified payment method, we 
are recommending against having a wage area adjustment. This is consistent with Florida 
Medicaid's inpatient DRG payment method, which does not include wage area adjustment to 
the DRG base rate. 

25 The wage index values were retrieved from the Table 2 Correction Notice in spreadsheet 'CMS-1632-F and CN Tables 2 and 3.xlsx" 
downloaded from U RL https :1/www .ems .gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for -Service-Payment/Acute I npatientPPS/Waqe-lndex -Files-ltems/FY-
2016-Wage-lndex-Home-Page.html on November 28, 2015. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 26 
Submitted to the Florida Agency fo r Health Care Administra tion 



8 Payment Policy Option- Distribution of Automatic Rate 
Enhancements 

Hospital outpatient automatic rate enhancements total just under $134 million in state fiscal 
year (SFY) 2015/16. New in SFY 2015/16, the state share of these funds came from general 
revenue. In previous years, the state share of these funds came from inter-governmental 
transfers from individual counties and taxing districts. 

8.1 Distribution of Automatic Rate Enhancements- Discussion 

Prior to the start of each state fiscal year, the Florida Legislature decides on a distribution of 
automatic rate enhancements to individual hospitals. A total amount to be paid out over the 
course of the SFY is assigned to each hospital, with some hospitals allocated more and others 
allocated less, including many hospitals which receive no supplemental rate enhancements. 

Under AHCA' s current hospital outpatient per diem payment method, automatic rate 
enhancement funds are distributed as an increase in the hospitals' outpatient per diems. This is 
possible because each hospital is assigned its own separate outpatient per diem. 

In the EAPG-based OPPS, we are not recommending every hospital be given their own EAPG 
base rate. Because of this, it will not be possible to allocate specific dollar amounts to individual 
hospitals and distribute that money through standard EAPG pricing. If the automatic rate 
enhancement funds are distributed through the EAPG base rate, they will be distributed to all 
hospitals based on utilization and casemix. If on the other hand, the Florida Legislature wishes 
to continue to allocate specific amounts to specific hospitals, the automatic rate enhancements 
can be distributed through per-service-line supplemental payments, similar to the way inpatient 
automatic rate enhancements are distributed today within AHCA' s inpatient DRG payment 
method. 

8.2 Distribution of Automatic Rate Enhancements- Recommendation 

We are assuming the Florida Legislature wishes to continue to allocate specific amounts of 
automatic rate enhancements to specific hospitals. As a result, we recommend including a per
service-line supplemental payment in the OPPS payment method that will be used to distribute 
automatic rate enhancements. 

9 Payment Policy Option- Policy Adjustor(s) 
Policy adjustors are an optional feature that can be used to help protect access to care for 
specific services. Often these are used for services where Medicaid funding can have a 
significant impact on beneficiary access, such as obstetrics, newborn care, mental health and 
pediatrics. In addition, policy adjustors may be used to direct additional funds to categories of 
providers that are particularly dependent on Medicaid reimbursement. The adjustors are above 
and beyond EAPG relative weights and represent an explicit decision to direct funds to a 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 27 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



particular group of patients who are otherwise clinically similar or to a specific category of 
providers to promote access to care for Medicaid recipients. 

Specifically, policy adjustors are multipliers applied to specific claim lines with the effect of 
increasing or decreasing payment. Four types of policy adjustors are commonly used: 

• Service adjustors 
• Age/service adjustors 
• Provider/service adjustors 
• Provider adjustors 

Service policy adjustors are applied to specific services, which would likely be identified by 
revenue code. 

In theory, age/service adjustors can be applied to any age range, but are typically used by 
Medicaid programs to promote access for pediatric beneficiaries. Age/service adjustors provide 
a different payment for similar services when provided to a child versus an adult. For example, 
an age/service adjustor of 1.25 on EAPG 060 (pulmonary test) would increase payment by 25 
percent if the patient was a child. In contrast, an adult who was given the same service, EAPG 
060 pulmonary test, would receive the EAPG base payment without any adjustment. 

Provider/service adjustors can be used to increase (or decrease) payment for specific services 
when offered by specific groups of providers. For example, a Medicaid agency might choose to 
increase payment for services provided in an emergency department when offered at a Level I 
trauma center, which might incur greater costs to support the clinical expertise and equipment 
needed to treat complex trauma cases. In such a scenario, the provider/service adjustor is used 
to increase payment for care specifically in an emergency department without increasing 
payment for other types of care (such as physical therapy) at the same hospital. 

Finally, provider adjustors can be used to increase (or decrease) payments for all services 
performed by specific individual providers or categories of providers. Provider adjustors differ 
from provider/service adjustors in that they apply for all services offered by an applicable 
provider, not just specific types of services. 

Assuming a goal of budget neutrality, use of policy adjustors causes provider base rates to be 
reduced, and has the effect of shifting some money from one area to another. We generally 
recommend including policy adjustor functionality in an OPPS implementation because it 
creates an ability to meet current and future Medicaid program goals by adjusting payments 
without requiring significant software changes within the MMIS. However, policy adjustors do 
not necessarily need to be a major contributor to overall program reimbursements. They can be 
used sparingly to meet specific needs. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 28 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



9.1 Policy Adjustors- Discussion 

The EAPG pricing simulations did not highlight any services that were particularly under-paid 
when compared to AHCA' s average hospital outpatient pay-to-cost ratio, as shown in Figure 
1.26 Supplies, laboratory services, and diagnostic and testing services are all paid well below the 
state-wide average of 75 percent, however, they are all services that are commonly bundled 
within an EAPG payment methodology. The other service lines showing payment well below 
the average pay-to-cost ratio, hospice, error (invalid revenue code submitted on claim), and 
organ acquisition are all services with extremely low volume. 

Figure 1. EAPG simulated pay-to-cost by type of service. 

Simulation 08 
Pay-to-Cost Ratio by Service Line - Hospitals Only 

200% 

180% 

160% 

140% 
.!! 

~ 120% 

i 100% u 

~ 80% 
~ 

60% 

40% 

20% 

0% 

183% 
' ·. 

173% 

159% 155% 

112% 
104% 

• Simu lated Pay I Cost 

I~ 1' !'I 

! J 
+ til(. 

,_ 

' 

:r. .s 

~ • f r 
I', I ~ I k 'I 

h.r 

.,., -.. 
99% 

82% 77% 
75% 

68% 

Service Line 

Simulated statewide average is 75%. 

2% 2% 1% O% 0% 

In comparison to the hospital inpatient setting, there are fewer services provided in a hospital 
outpatient setting for which Medicaid is clearly the primary payer. For example, in a hospital 
inpatient setting Medicaid is clearly a major payer for maternity and newborn care, as Medicaid 
pays for more than 50 percent of the deliveries and births in the State of Florida.27 Medicaid is 
not as significant a payer for any service in the outpatient setting as shown in Figure 2. 

26 ASCs are not included in this chart because there is currently, no practical way to measure their costs, as they are not required to submit 
cost Medicare cost reports, as are required of hospitals. 
27 Presentation prepared by Navigant Healthcare for AHCA's second public regarding development of a DRG hospital inpatient payment 
method, August 29, 2012; Slide 14; Retrieved November 14, 2015 from 
http://ahca.myflorida.com/medicaid/cost reim/pdf/DRG Payment Implementation Project Status 2012-08-29.pdf 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 29 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



Medicaid's greatest impact in the hospital outpatient setting is for Emergency Room (ER) 
services, where Medicaid pays for 30 percent of the ER services in the State. Thus, a Medicaid 
service-based OPPS policy adjustor would not necessarily have as much impact on access to 
care in the outpatient setting as Medicaid service adjustors are likely to generate for certain 
inpatient services. 

Figure 2. Payer mix in Florida for hospital outpatient services.28 

Florida Payer Market Share by Service - SFY 13/14 
100% 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 
• UNINSURED 

50% 
• VA/TRICARE 

40% 
• OTH ER 

30% • PRIVATE 

20% • MEDICARE 

10% • MEDICAID 

0% 

In addition, our modeling showed relatively little shift in reimbursement from adult to pediatric 
care as shown in Table 4. Thus, the modeling does not suggest a particular need for a pediatric 
policy adjustor, as is utilized in Florida Medicaid's inpatient DRG payment method. 

Table 4. Estimated change in payment from move to OPPS for pediatric versus adult recipients. 

i 

Claim 
I Billed Amount I 

Baseline Simulated 
Payment I Payment 

Description 
Lines Payment EAPG Payment 

Change Change 
(Dollars) (Percent) 

Pediatric Recipients 7,367,877 $4,115,419,120 $568,333,943 $567,733,334 -$600,609 -0.1% 
Adult Recipients 12,104,227 $7,697,531,147 $688,763,380 $689,362,472 $599,093 0.1% 
Total 19,472,104 $11,812,950,267 $1,257,097,323 $1,257,095,806 -$1,517 0% 

28 Data for this graph was provided by the Florida Data Center. 

OPPS Payment Method Design -November 30, 2015 Page 30 
Submitted to the Florida Agency fo r Health Care Administration 



In contrast, when considering specific categories of providers, there are some providers who 
may be justified in receiving a policy adjustor because a relatively high percentage of their 
patients are enrolled in Medicaid. A ranking of the top 15 hospitals when looking at outpatient 
Medicaid utilization is shown in Table 5. 

Table 5. Ranking of hospital outpatient Medicaid utilization- top 15 hospitals. 

Percent of 
Outpatient Outpatient Outpatient 

Provider Charges· Charges· Outpatient Utilization from 
Medicaid Medicaid Non-Medicaid Charges· Medicaid 

ID Provider Name Recipients Recipients Total Recipients 
010060900 Nicklaus Children's Hospital $175,459,357 $86,883,316 $262,342,673 67% 
004087600 Nemours Children's Hospital $50,493,593 $29,664,040 $80,157,633 63% 
002576600 Shriners Hospital for Children-Tampa $3,301 ,513 $2,262,642 $5,564,155 59% 
010151600 All Children's Hospital $122,034,787 $89,389,720 $211,424,507 58% 
012000600 Plantation General Hospital $135,928,256 $203,348,796 $339,277,052 40% 
010033100 Shands Lake Shore Rgnl Med Cntr $34,615,737 $53,627,998 $88,243,735 39% 
010049800 North Shore Medical Center $101 ,669,083 $167,867,576 $269,536,659 38% 
010133800 Orlando Health $115,349,667 $196,710,977 $312,060,644 37% 
010260100 Florida Hospital Wauchula $13,543,077 $23,198,666 $36,7 41 ,7 43 37% 
011980600 Capital Regional Medical Center $13,594,172 $23,424,311 $37,018,483 37% 
009268300 Poinciana Medical Center $86,461 ,749 $149,191,565 $235,653,314 37% 
010111700 Lehigh Regional Medical Center $56,793,421 $98,360,066 $155,153,487 37% 
010144300 Lakeside Medical Center $16,611 ,281 $31 ,960,571 $48,571 ,852 34% 
010086200 Hendry Regional Medical Center $8,915,067 $17,216,536 $26,131 ,603 34% 
010087100 Bayfront Health Brooksville $79,766,762 $156,517,725 $236,284,487 34% 
Note(s}: 
1) Data in this table was provided by the Florida Data Center. 
2) The data is a sum of the hospital ambulatory care and emergency department categories from state fiscal year 2013/14- July 

1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. 

9.2 Policy Adjustors- Recommendation 

We do not see any particular value in adding any service policy adjustors, and thus recommend 
initial implementation of the OPPS with all service, service/age, or provider/service policy 
adjustors set to 1 (no adjustment). However, we do recommend including a provider policy 
adjustor for hospitals that have high Medicaid utilization for outpatient services. Hospitals 
with a high percentage of Medicaid patients have less ability to cover costs with payments from 
patients with Medicare and commercial insurance. Because of this, Navigant is recommending 
a provider policy adjustor that keeps the pay-to-cost ratio at 90 percent for any hospital with 
greater than 50 percent of their outpatient utilization coming from Medicaid recipients. Given 
the numbers in Table 5 above, this would apply to Nicklaus Children's, Nemours Children's, 
Shriners Hospital for Children, and All Children's hospitals. Also, the pay-to-cost ratio goal of 
90 percent would be measured including both EAPG payment and supplemental automatic rate 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 31 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



enhancements. Currently, these four hospitals are paid 92 percent of cost under the legacy 
payment method. 

10 Payment Policy Option- Outlier Payments 
OPPS payment methods may include outlier provisions to adjust payment for patients that are 
unpredictably expensive. The EAPG grouping algorithm and associated EAPG relative weights 
are designed to predict hospital resource use so that the relative weight and therefore the EAPG 
base payment may be set accordingly. However, the EAPG grouper is limited to using only the 
information on medical insurance claims including procedure codes and diagnosis codes. 
Given the wide range of cases seen in an outpatient setting, EAPG grouping does not always 
accurately predict hospital resource use. In those cases, where the prediction differs 
significantly from reality, outlier payments may be used to generate a more reasonable 
reimbursement. 

10.1 Outlier Payments - Discussion 

If implemented, the outlier calculation would likely be cost-based and the formula would be, 

[Outlier pymt adjstmnt] = {[Hospital cost] - [EAPG payment]- [Outlier threshold]} 
* [Marginal cost %] 

In theory, this formula could be applied at the claim line level or at the claim header level. 
Arguably, the calculation will be more meaningful and accurate if calculated at the claim header 
level so that it is based on full cost of the outpatient visit, including some services that might get 
bundled under EAPG payment. However, EAPG pricing is performed at the line level, and 
performing pricing operations at both the header and line levels on the same claim adds 
significant complexity to the payment method. To reduce complexity, this calculation could be 
performed at the claim line level for line items that are not paid at $0 because of bundling. 
Unfortunately, this would result in the outlier calculation including only the cost of services on 
each non-bundled line item individually, and would never consider costs from lines whose 
payment was bundled in with another line. 

In general, there is less need for outlier payments under an outpatient EAPG payment method 
versus an inpatient DRG payment method. This is because outpatient EAPG payment amounts 
are calculated individually for each service at the claim line level, whereas inpatient DRG 
payments are calculated as a single payment for an entire hospital admission based on a 
categorization of the patient's condition. In the outpatient EAPG pricing method, each 
additional service added as an additional claim detail line will be considered for additional 
payment. Some lines will get bundled, thus paying at $0, and others may pay at a discounted 
rate. Even so, EAPG payment is far more tied to the services performed than the DRG inpatient 
payment method, and, thus, is more capable of adjusting for unusually costly cases, which, 
presumably, result in more procedures being performed. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 32 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



Of the six state Medicaid agencies that have implemented EAPG payment for their OPPS, none 
have chosen to include outlier payments. In contrast, Medicare's OPPS, does include an outlier 
payment calculation. In calendar year 2015, Medicare pays an outlier if the hospital's cost of 
furnishing a service exceeds the APC payment by 1.75 times and the hospital's costs exceeds the 
sum of the APC payment and a fixed loss threshold equal to $2,775. When this occurs, 
Medicare calculates an outlier payment for the service that is equal to 50 percent of the amount 
by which the cost to the hospital exceeds 1.75 times the APC payment rate. In calendar year 
2016, Medicare plans to increase the fixed loss threshold to $3,250. Medicare states that the 
fixed loss threshold is set with a goal of distributing one percent of total reimbursements in the 
form of outlier payments. 

Navigant estimated the amount of payment that might be paid out through outpatient outliers 
in the Florida Medicaid program by using a slightly less complex method that utilizes a mixture 
of the Medicare outpatient outlier calculation and the Florida Medicaid inpatient outlier 
calculation. We estimated the total outlier payment for Florida Medicaid for a year under 
EAPG pricing using a fixed loss threshold equal to $2,775 (Medicare's calendar year 2015 value), 
a marginal cost percentage of 80 percent, and the outlier payment formula described above 
(which is the same formula Florida Medicaid uses when calculating inpatient DRG outlier 
payments) . In our model, the outlier calculation was performed at the claim service line level, 
for lines that received an EAPG payment greater than $0 (thus, were not bundled). Also, the 
outlier calculation was made without consideration of the supplemental automatic rate 
enhancements. Excluding supplemental automatic rate enhancements is consistent with Florida 
Medicaid's inpatient DRG outlier calculation, and results in more claims receiving outlier 
payments, for the same fixed loss threshold. Even with a marginal cost percentage of 80 
percent, which is higher than the 60 percent value used in Florida Medicaid' s inpatient DRG 
payment method, only $9,056,906 was paid out as outlier payments in our model. This is less 
than one percent of total payments. 

10.2 Outlier Payments- Recommendation 

Given the added complexity of including outlier payments in the OPPS, the reduced need for 
outlier payments in an OPPS, and the very small amount of money estimated to be distributed 
through outlier payments, (less than one percent of total EAPG payments), Navigant 
recommends implementing the OPPS without outlier payments. 

11 Payment Policy Option- Transitional Period 
Making a change in payment method from hospital-specific cost-based outpatient rates to an 
OPPS with relatively standardized rates will likely result in redistribution of some Medicaid 
outpatient reimbursements. Even if implemented with budget neutrality, we expect some 
providers will receive higher payments under the new OPPS method (when compared to legacy 
outpatient payments) and some providers will receive lower payments. A transitional period is 
a pre-set timeframe in which one or more strategies are implemented to limit individual 
providers' changes in Medicaid outpatient reimbursement for a period of time. The period of 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 33 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Hea lth Care Administra tion 



time commonly used by payers who have chosen to include a transitional period when 
updating a payment method is between one and three years. 

11.1 Transitional Period- Discussion 

There are some advantages to utilizing transitional strategies. Phase-in or transitional periods 
provide time for providers to internally respond to anticipated changes in Medicaid 
reimbursement. A transitional period allows time for providers to take the steps necessary to 
improve documentation and coding practices, and potentially to implement improvements to 
operating performance relative to efficient delivery of services. In addition, a transitional 
period gives providers time to make modifications to the complement of service lines offered in 
future periods- to the extent that Medicaid payments affect such decisions. 

On the other hand, there are disadvantages to utilizing transitional strategies. From a payer 
perspective, transitional periods tend to increase program administrative complexity for both 
policy and system implementation. A transitional period requires payers to either maintain two 
payment systems simultaneously (which would be required to blend payments between the 
legacy per diem method and the new EAPG model), or alternatively, to determine provider
specific base rates that would limit reimbursement changes during the transitional period. 
AHCA' s Managed Medical Assistance program exacerbates the complexity further as the 
managed care plans tend to base their contracting rates on the Medicaid fee-for-service rates. 
From the providers' perspective, facilities that stand to see increased payments under the new 
payment model will not realize the full benefit of the change in payment model until after the 
transitional period has run its course. 

A less complex, but more costly method to lessen the impact of a change in payment method 
includes making available additional funds distributed as supplemental payments separate 
from claim payments to individual providers who experience a reduction in Medicaid 
reimbursement. This was the method selected by the Florida Legislature when Florida 
Medicaid converted from hospital-specific cost-based per diem payments to DRG payments for 
inpatient services. $65 million, including state and federal share, in non-recurring funds was 
made available in the first year of DRG implementation to offset reductions in Medicaid 
inpatient reimbursement to specific hospitals. Distribution of that $65 million to individual 
hospitals was determined before the start of state fiscal year 2013/14 and then was reconciled 
near the end of 2013/14 based on partial year actual results. 

Unfortunately, some hospitals have so far been excluded from EAPG payment modeling 
because their data was not sufficiently complete to include in the modeling (please see Chapter 
3 for details of this issue). As a result, at the time of writing this report, we are unable to 
estimate changes in outpatient reimbursement for all hospitals in Florida, and, thus, could not 
calculate a defensible disbursement of transitional funds if they were made available. Data 
from specific individual hospitals will need to be collected and merged with existing historical 
claim data if we are to include all hospitals in the OPPS payment modeling. This limitation did 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 34 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



not exist in the claim data from the Ambulatory Surgical Centers, so we are able to model 
changes in reimbursement for all the ASCs. 

11.2 Transition Period - Recommendation 

We recommend Florida Medicaid implement its new OPPS fully from the start, without a 
transitional period due to the increased complexity resulting from transitional strategies, 
particularly in an environment with significant managed care. Furthermore, the level of 
reimbursement for outpatient services is significantly below that of inpatient services. As a 
result, the impact to hospitals from a change in outpatient payment methodology will be 
significantly less than the change in inpatient payment method. 

12 Payment Policy Option- Adjustment for Anticipated 
Improvement in Documentation and Coding 

When developing a new payment method, historical claims data is commonly used to model 
the new payment method and to set payment rates. This is done under the assumption that the 
historical claims data accurately represents that which will be billed and paid under the new 
method. For the most part, this assumption is accurate, as the medical services rendered and 
the medical providers rendering those services do not change significantly from year to year. 
However, the change in payment method itself may have an effect on billing practices and that 
change may influence overall reimbursements. When this is the case, the payment rates need to 
be adjusted in anticipation of the new billing practices so that overall reimbursements remain 
budget neutral, as is the direction of the Florida Legislature. 

12.1 Adjustment for Anticipated Improvement in Documentation and Coding
Discussion 

There is one notable difference between the current legacy outpatient payment method and the 
proposed new EAPG-based OPPS that we believe will result in a change in billing practices. 
That is the inclusion of HCPCS procedure codes on individual claim service lines. The legacy 
outpatient payment method only requires HCPCS procedure codes for laboratory services. 
Other than laboratory services, payment is calculated without consideration of the procedure 
performed. In contrast, under an EAPG-based OPPS, the procedure code is the most 
fundamental data element used in determining payment for all outpatient visits except those 
determined to be medical visits. (Please see section "Medical Visits in an EAPG Payment 
Method" for a description of medical visits in the EAPG grouping algorithm.) 

The inclusion of procedure codes on more service lines in the future will not necessarily 
increase casemix as was the concern when moving from a per diem to a DRG payment 
methodology for hospital inpatient services. However, the presence of more service lines with 
procedure codes will result in more lines receiving payment when the OPPS is implemented 
than received payment in the OPPS modeling performed on claim data from state fiscal year 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 35 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



2013/14. To remain budget neutral, EAPG rates will need to be adjusted to account for 
additional service lines receiving reimbursement. 

The expectation of improved documentation and coding is anticipated for hospitals only, not 
for ASCs. ASCs bill on a professional claim form (CMS-1500) for which a procedure code is 
already required on all service lines. Thus, there is no expectation of change in billing practices 
of ASCs. 

12.2 Adjustment for Anticipated Improvement in Documentation and Coding
Recommendation 

Even if all claim service lines currently billed without a procedure code are billed with a 
procedure code in the future, it is difficult to predict the exact effect on overall reimbursement 
because some of those service lines will receive bundled payment. In addition, there is 
surprisingly little industry documentation describing the experiences of other Medicaid 
agencies who have implemented an EAPG-based OPPS. 

We are recommending a 5 percent reduction in EAPG base rate for hospitals to account for 
anticipated improvements in documentation and coding. This amount is consistent with the 
adjustment made during the first year of APR-DRG pricing for inpatient services by Florida 
Medicaid. For ASCs we do not recommend any documentation and coding improvement (DCI) 
adjustment as we do not anticipate any changes in their billing practices. 

Because of the uncertainty regarding the effect of DCI on overall reimbursement, we also 
recommend a mid-year or end-of-year reconciliation. However, because Florida Medicaid has 
converted most of its program into the Managed Medical Assistance program, a DCI 
reconciliation for the OPPS may need to be designed differently than the DCI reconciliation 
used in the first two years of inpatient DRG pricing. In the first two years of inpatient DRG 
pricing, the DCI reconciliation, when needed, was executed through prospective adjustment to 
the DRG rates applied to the Medicaid fee-for-service population. Today, the Medicaid fee-for
service population is so small, changes in rates for these recipients may not be sufficient to effect 
necessary adjustments. Instead, it may be more practical to set aside funds that may be 
distributed through supplemental payments directly from the Medicaid agencies to hospitals if 
actual billing does not change as much as anticipated. Unfortunately, if actual billing changes 
more than anticipated it will be difficult for the Agency to recoup money from hospitals. If 
needed, credit balances could be defined for individual hospitals that would hold back payment 
for care to fee-for-service in both the hospital inpatient and outpatient settings until the 
outpatient overpayments have been recouped. 

13 Payment Policy Option- Hospital Outpatient Benefit Limit 
Florida Medicaid currently imposes a $1,500 annual benefit limit on hospital outpatient services. 
This limit is applied in the fee-for-service (FFS) program, and is optional for the managed care 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 36 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



plans in the Managed Medical Assistance program. According to the Agency, some managed 
care plans have chosen to implement the $1,500 annual benefit limit, others have included a 
limit but increased the dollar threshold, and still others have chosen to do away with the limit. 

13.1 Hospital Outpatient Benefit Limit- Discussion 

In the FFS program, there are a variety of services for which the benefit limit does not apply, 
including emergency services, maternity services, and most surgeries. In addition, the benefit 
limit does not apply to Medicaid recipients under the age of 21. 

It is Navigant's understanding that the outpatient benefit limit was installed to help control 
Medicaid spending, and is unrelated to the method used to calculate individual claim 
payments. Modeling of the new EAPG-based OPPS has applied the existing $1,500 benefit limit 
rules under the assumption that the limit will continue in its current form. Modeling with the 
benefit limit removed is possible, but the payment rates calculated without the limit will only be 
accurate to the extent that hospitals bill Medicaid for all services provided, even in cases in 
which they know the recipient has already exhausted his/her annual benefit. 

13.2 Hospital Outpatient Benefit Limit- Recommendation 

Given the specific Legislative direction to develop an OPPS that maintains budget neutrality, 
Navigant and the AHCA Governance Committee are working under the assumption that the 
$1,500 hospital outpatient annual benefit limit will continue to be in place when the OPPS is 
implemented. 

14 Payment Policy Option- Charge Cap 
Medicaid programs, like most payers traditionally have a charge cap in place which ensures 
payment on individual claims equals the lesser of the Medicaid allowable payment and the 
provider's submitted charges. Florida Medicaid currently has a charge cap in place on hospital 
outpatient claims that limits the allowed amount on individual service lines to be the lesser of 
the outpatient per diem and the submitted charges on the line. 

14.1 Charge Cap- Discussion 

The general strategy with EAPG payments is that payments will average out over time to hit 
Medicaid's desired pay-to-cost ratio even though payments on individual claims may be above 
or below this ratio. On individual claim service lines payment is calculated using the provider 
EAPG base rate, the EAPG relative weight, and any applicable policy adjustors. And the EAPG 
relative weight is based off the average provider resource usage to perform the services 
grouped within that EAPG category. Given these factors, the EAPG payment on an individual 
service line may be above or below actual hospital costs, and in rare cases may even be above 
hospital charges. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 201 5 Page 37 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



Instituting a charge cap on claims paid via EAPGs has the advantage of avoiding large 
overpayments for individual services. It also has potential to negatively impact providers who 
are doing a good job of aligning charges with costs. Charge caps have the effect of rewarding 
hospitals who inflate charges well above costs, which is not necessarily a behavior worthy of 
reward. 

In addition, EAPG payment on an individual service line is often calculated with the intent of 
covering costs of that line plus other related ancillary services whose payment is bundled in 
with the payment for the primary service. As a result, a charge cap would more accurately be 
applied by comparing the EAPG payment to the cost of the service line on which the payment is 
made plus the cost on all lines whose payment is bundled in with the primary service. 
Unfortunately, it is not particularly easy to identify which service lines were bundled in with 
other service lines. Thus, another option would be to apply the charge cap at the claim header 
level. But applying the charge cap at the claim header level would result in a mixture of 
payment calculations occurring at both the header and line levels, which adds a significant 
amount of complexity to a payment method. 

In Navigant's EAPG pricing modeling there are some individual service lines with EAPG 
payment exceeding submitted charges on claims from both hospitals and ASCs. Total payment 
above submitted charges at the individual claim service line level is shown in Table 629• 

Table 6. EAPG payment above charges on individual service lines. 

EAPG Payment 
Number of Above Service 

Provider Type Claim Lines Line Charge 
Hospital 736,474 $ 85,316,393 

ASC 2,256 $207,983 

Total 738,730 $ 85,524,376 

When applying a charge cap at the claim header, there are still occurrences of payments 
exceeding charges, but, as expected the total payments above charges is lower. Results of the 
analysis at the claim header level is shown in Table 7. 

29 Payment above charges was calculated when considering only the EAPG payment. Supplemental automatic rate enhancements were not 
included in the payment values. This is consistent with the charge cap policy implemented by AHCA for inpatient DRG pricing. Supplemental 
automatic rate enhancements are excluded so that we may increase the likelihood of accurately distributing all rate enhancements allocated to 
individual hospitals over the course of the fiscal year. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 38 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



Table 7. EAPG payment above charges when calculated at the claim header level. 

EAPG Payment 

Provider Type 
Number of Above Claim 
Claims Header Level 

Charge 
Hospital 246,707 $ 38,335,406 
ASC 1,504 $137,840 
Total 248,211 $ 38,473,246 

If a charge cap policy is implemented, it does not result in savings to the State. Instead, it 
results in a slightly higher EAPG base rate, thus redistributing the overpayments across other 
claims in which EAPG payment is less than submitted charges. 

14.2 Charge Cap- Recommendation 

Although there are some instances in which EAPG payment is greater than provider submitted 
charges, Navigant does not recommend implementing a charge cap within the OPPS. We feel 
that a charge cap policy applied at the claim service line level is inaccurate because it would not 
consider provider cost from all the lines whose payment was bundled in with payment for the 
primary procedure. Application of a charge cap policy at the claim header level would be more 
accurate and fair. However, a charge cap at the claim header level would create a mixture of 
payment calculations at the header and line levels, which adds significant complexity to a 
payment method. We feel this added complexity is unnecessary when the net result would 
simply be redistribution of approximately $38 million, which is approximately 3 percent of total 
EAPG payments. 

15 Impact of OPPS on 340B Drug Pricing Program 

15.1 Background 

Section 340B of the Public Health Service Act (PHSA), which is referred to as the "340B Drug 
Pricing Program" or the "340B Program" is a program that allows Medicaid agencies and 
certain qualified healthcare providers, referred to as "covered entities" to purchase drugs at 
reduced prices for distribution to their patients. Covered entities are defined in section 
340B(a)(4) of the PHSA, and only include healthcare organizations that have certain Federal 
designations or receive funding from specific Federal programs. These include Federally 
Qualified Health Centers, Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program grantees, and certain types of 
hospitals and specialized clinics. The intent of the 340B Program is to permit covered entities 
"to stretch scarce Federal resources as far as possible, reaching more eligible patients and 
providing more comprehensive services."30 

30 HR Rep. No. 102-384 (Part 2) , at 12 (1992) (Conf. Rep.). 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 39 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



Medicaid agencies are allowed to apply for rebates from drug manufacturers for drugs paid for 
by the Medicaid program that were not purchased at a discounted rate by a covered entity. 
Drug rebates may be claimed for drugs provided to Medicaid recipients in both fee-for-service 
and Medicaid managed care programs. However, paying a rebate to a Medicaid agency for a 
drug that was purchased at a 340B discounted rate by a covered entity is considered duplicate 
discounting and is prohibited by law. 

Also, according to Section 1927(k)(3) (Definitions) of the Social Security Act, Medicaid agencies 
may not apply for a rebate for drugs, biological products, or insulin if "provided as part of, or as 
incident to and in the same setting as, any of the following (and for which payment may be 
made under this title as part of payment for the following and not as direct reimbursement for 
the drug)." 

(A) Inpatient hospital services; 
(B) Hospice services; 
(C) Dental services, except that drugs for which the State plan authorizes direct 

reimbursement to the dispensing dentist are covered outpatient drugs; 
(D) Physicians' services; 
(E) Outpatient hospital services; 
(F) Nursing facility services and services provided by an intermediate care facility for 

the mentally retarded; 
(G) Other laboratory and x-ray services; and 
(H) Renal dialysis.31 

HHS published additional guidance on May 13, 1994, which further clarified that, in the settings 
identified in the limiting definition, "if a covered drug is included in the per diem rate (i.e., 
bundled with other payments in an all-inclusive, a per visit, or an encounter rate), it will not be 
included in the 340B discount program. However, if a covered drug is billed and paid for 
instead as a separate line item as an outpatient drug in a cost basis billing system, this drug will 
be included in the program."32 

Guidance published in the Federal Register on August 28, 2015 says the following: 

"Further, the limiting definition in section 1927(k)(3) to exclude covered outpatient 
drugs for purposes of the 340B Program only applies when the drug is bundled for 
payment under Medicaid as part of a service in the settings described in the limiting 
definition. In contrast, a drug provided as part of a hospital outpatient service which is 
billed to any other third party or directly billed to Medicaid would still qualify as a 
covered outpatient drug." 

31 The Social Security Act, Section 1927(k)(3). 
32 Federal Register, Volume 59, Issue 92, released May 13, 1994. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 40 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Hea lth Care Administra tion 



We find this language to be rather confusing because a drug provided to a recipient in a 
hospital outpatient setting can be both billed directly to Medicaid and bundled for payment by 
Medicaid. 

15.2 Impact of OPPS on 340B Drug Pricing Program 

If drugs are included in the EAPG-based OPPS, many drugs that currently receive specific 
payment by Florida Medicaid will receive zero payment as their payment will be bundled in 
with another service deemed more significant by the EAPG categorization scheme. Given the 
regulations described in the previous section, there is risk that HRSA will consider drugs with 
EAPG bundled payments to be excluded from the 340B Drug Pricing Program. 

For Medicaid drug rebates, we estimated approximately 790,000 drug claim lines annually that 
were eligible for the rebate in the past, will no longer be eligible for rebate.33 

For hospitals who are covered entities within the 340B Drug Pricing Program, we do not have 
any way to estimate the impact to their drug purchasing costs if Medicaid implements an EAPG 
payment method. 

16 Timing of Implementation 
Development of an EAPG-based OPPS within the Florida Medicaid Management Information 
System (FMMIS) will require a significant amount of time and utilization of software 
development resources. In addition, each managed care plan that decides to mimic the 
Medicaid fee-for-service payment method will need to perform their own conversion to an 
EAPG-based OPPS. Even if the Florida Legislature decides during the 2016 session to move 
forward with a change in the outpatient payment method, any payer who waits until 
completion of the 2016 Legislative session to begin development of an EAPG-based OPPS will 
almost certainly be unable to implement on July 1, 2016 and will have difficulty implementing 
by September 1, 2016. (September 1 is the date that annual Medicaid managed care capitation 
rates are currently updated.) AHCA and the Florida Medicaid Fiscal Agent are currently 
moving forward with development of an EAPG-based OPPS under the assumption that the 
Florida Legislature does decide to move forward with this change. Even so, they are estimating 
an implementation in the fall of 2016 to be the earliest possible timeframe. Assuming this 
timeframe holds true, AHCA would retroactively adjust outpatient claims with dates of service 
between July 1, 2016 and the date the OPPS is implemented in FMMIS. 

33 At the time this report was submitted , AHCA and Navigant were still gathering the information needed to estimate the amount of drug rebate 
AHCA would have collected for these claim lines. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 41 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



Appendices34 

17 Appendix A- Summary of OPPS Payment Method Options 
The following table summarizes the payment method options described in this document. 

Table 8. Summary of OPPS payment method policy options and recommendations. 

SFY 2013/14 data 
Including FFS and managed care encounter data 

Model dataset 
Remove hospitals with more than 33% of their claim lines submitted 
with blank procedure codes, excluding specific service lines 

Outpatient grouping algorithm 

Provider types included and excluded from new 
OPPS 

Services included and excluded from new OPPS 

Hospital base rate categories 

Application of automatic rate enhancements 

• 

• 

• 

Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups (EAPGs) 

Include hospitals and Ambulatory Surgical Centers (ASCs) 
Exclude free-standing labs and free-standing dialysis centers 

Include all outpatient services from the included providers 
Include pharmaceuticals in the OPPS 

Two, one for hospitals and one for ASCs 
No wage area adjustment of base rates 

Distributed as per claim supplemental payments 

34 Some information provided in the Appendices was obtained through use of proprietary computer software and data created , owned and licensed by the 3M Company. All copyrights in and to the 
3M™ Software are owned by 3M. All rights reserved . 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 42 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



Policy adjustors 

Outlier payments • 

Transition period • 

• 
Documentation and coding improvement adjustment 

• 

Charge cap • 

• 
Billing rule changes 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Ad ministra tion 

Provider policy adjustor for hospitals with 35% or more of their 
outpatient utilization coming from Medicaid recipients 

No outlier payments 

None 

5% for hospitals 
0% for ASCs 
-
None 

Require a procedure code on all outpatient line items effective 
7/1/2016, with exceptions if appropriate 

Page 43 



18 Appendix B -Hospital Specific Payment Estimates from EAPG Pricing Simulations 
The table in this section shows historical (baseline) and simulated outpatient payments for each in-state hospital. Both payment 
types in this table include distribution of State general revenue, PMA TF, and automatic rate enhancements. As mentioned 
previously, the numbers presented in this table are from SFY 2013/14 FFS and Medicaid managed care claim data re-priced using 
SFY 2015/16 FFS rates to determine the baseline amounts. 

Table 9. Comparison of legacy payment to OPPS payment by hospital - in-state hospitals only. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 44 
Submitted to the Florid a Agency for Health Ca re Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 45 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Ad ministra tion 



OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 46 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 47 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 48 
Submitted to the Florida Agency fo r Health Care Adminis tra tion 



OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 49 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 201 5 Page 50 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Hea lth Ca re Adminis tra tion 



19 Appendix C- ASC Specific Payment Estimates from EAPG Pricing Simulations 
The table in this section shows historical and simulated outpatient payments for each Ambulatory Surgical Center, both in and out of 
state. As mentioned previously, the numbers presented in this table are from SFY 2013/14 FFS and Medicaid managed care claim 
data re-priced using SFY 2015/16 FFS rates to determine the baseline amounts. 

Table 10. Comparison of legacy payment to OPPS payment for each Ambulatory Surgical Center. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 51 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 52 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 53 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 54 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 55 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 56 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 57 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 58 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 59 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 60 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 61 
Submitted to the Florida Agency fo r Health Care Administra tion 



OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 62 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



20 Appendix D- Budget Calculations 
The table in this section shows the budget or total payment goals for the EAPG pricing simulation. The payment goals were set in 
order to reach budget neutrality- that is the total payment under the EAPG pricing simulations is intended to be as close as possible 
to the total historical payment for the claims in the dataset. The budget goal for hospitals in the "High Medicaid Outpatient 
Utilization" category was set to 90 percent of cost, which is slightly lower than what they receive under the legacy payment method. 
The reduction in payment to these hospitals was shifted to the hospitals in the "All Other" category. 

Table 11. Calculation of budget goals for determination of EAPG base rates and provider policy adjustors. 

Simulation 08 
A B c D E F G H J 

All Other Hosprtals 18,295,764 $ 974,785,660 $ 75,485,288 . $ 1,050,270,947 $ 1,447,139,290 n/a $ 4,154,927 $ 978,940,586 $ 1,054,425,874 
2 

.. 
Hi Mcaid OP Uti! Hasps 1,077,554 $ 150,759,934 $ 20,407,173 $ 171 ,167,108 $ 185,569,090 $ 167,012,181 $ (4, 154,927) $ 146,605,008 $ 167,012,181 

3 ASCs 98,786 $ 35,657,540 $ "$ 35,657,540 n/a n/a $ $ 35,657,540 $ 35,657,540 
4 
5 Totals: 19,472,104 $ 1,161 ,203,134 $ 95,892,461 $ 1,257,095,595 $ 1,632,708,380 $ 167,012,181 $ $ 1,161 ,203,134 $ 1,257,095,595 
6 
7 Total Budgeted EAPG Claim Payments: $ 1,257,095,595 

1) Stays in dataset are FFS and managed care outpatient claims from state fiscal year (SFY) 2013/2014 wrth 19 hosprtals removed. 
2) Baseline Payment from GRand PMATF was calculated by applying SFY 2015/2016 legacy pricing rates and rules to claims in the dataset. 
3) Automatic Rate Enhancements are the annual amounts allocated for SFY 2015/16 to the hosprtals included in the modeling dataset. 

Outpatient payment goal for hospitals in the ' High Medicaid Outpatient Utilization' is 90% of cost. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 63 
Submitted to the Florida Agency fo r H ealth Care Administration 



21 Appendix E- OPPS Payment Simulation Parameter Summary 
The following table shows historical and simulated payments by the categories of providers given their own base rate or provider 
policy adjustor. EAPG base rate and policy adjustors are also listed. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 64 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



Table 12. Summary of OPPS simulated payments and payment parameters. 

Notes: 
1) Simulation 08 includes two base rates, one for hospttals and another for ASCs. 

2) Simulation 08 has a poley adjustor for High Medicail Outpatient UtHization Hospitals. These are the four free-standing children's hosp~als in Fbma - AI Childrens Hospttal, Nemours Ch!drens 
Hosp~al, Neklaus Childrens Hospttal, and Shriners Hospttal for Children. 
3) Simulation 08 spreads the nearty $96 million in automate rate enhancements as per-<:laim supplemental payments to specifiC hospttals. This total Is less than the $133 minion overall budget 
because some hospitals that receive automate rate enhancements are not included in the EAPG claims dataset. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Admi nistration 

Page 65 



22 Appendix F- Payment to Cost Comparisons by Service Line 
The table on the following page summarizes estimates of outpatient reimbursement change by service line. Although the payment 
change is budget neutral overall, changes in payment are expected for individual types of services because the legacy payment 
method and the new OPPS payment method are significantly different. Outside of laboratory services, the legacy payment method 
makes no attempt to adjust payment for individual services based on the level of effort or resource requirements needed to perform 
the service. The EAPG-based OPPS, in contrast, uses relative weights to increase payments for higher cost services and decrease 
payments for lower cost services. In addition, the legacy payment method provides a reimbursement on nearly every service line, 
whereas the EAPG-based OPPS bundles payment for some services in with payment for other services. 

Also in the table below, services provided by ASCs are grouped into their own category, and estimated cost for these services is 
intentionally left blank because we have no practical way to measure cost at ASCs. ASCs are not required to submit Medicare cost 
reports as are hospitals. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 66 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



Table 13. Comparison of legacy payment to simulated OPPS payment by service line. 

7,451 ' 195 $1 ,716,475,458 $46,681 ,778 $27,368,644 -$19,313,134 
3,858,775 $956,506,336 $342,189,398 $229,784,026 -$112,405,372 
2,888,826 $2,864,797,433 $244,704,498 $259,808,611 $15,104,113 
2,121 ,946 $3,044,343,274 $191 ,778,031 $121 ,761 ,466 -$70,016,565 

922,465 $263,334,379 $97,805,021 $160,854,466 $63,049,444 
725,066 $368,524,841 $63,410,371 $0 -$63,410,371 
381 ,264 $1 ,352,901 ,266 $40,546,096 $160,329,991 $119,783,895 
343,666 $283,800,580 $27,928,305 $42,061 ,861 $14,133,556 
217,178 $344,788,596 $22,133,414 $38,035,068 $15,901 ,653 
210,583 $259,380,462 $20,485,301 $58,994,421 $38,509,120 
135,158 $41 ,951 ,570 $17,369,785 $10,968,658 -$6,401 '127 
98,786 $226,180,498 $35,657,540 $35,657,877 $337 
59,055 $43,749,432 $5,113,243 $5,475,689 $362,446 
42,247 $25, 178,995 $4,195,771 $5,377,485 $1 ,181 ,714 

Dialysis 10,043 $13,015,812 $996,699 $4,430,899 $3,434,199 
Behavioral Heanh 1,905 $1 ,099,637 $159,369 $291 ,562 $132,193 
Error 1,651 $425,146 $14,028 $0 -$14,028 
Non-Payable 926 $32,497 $0 $0 $0 

545 $5,650,451 $28,942 $892 -$28,051 
467 $131 ,529 $0 $0 $0 
104 $10,429 $0 $0 $0 
101 $170,137 $0 $0 $0 
80 $351 ,780 $5,474 $0 -$5,474 
45 $140,719 $0 $0 $0 
9 $1 ,119 $0 $0 $0 
7 $3,691 $0 $0 $0 

$3,074 $0 $0 $0 
$829 $67 $0 -$67 

Service lines assigned based on the revenue codes. 
Baseline and simulated payments in this table include only distribution of GRand PMATF funds. Automatic rate enhancements are not 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 67 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



23 Appendix G - Payment to Cost Comparisons by Provider Category 
The table on the following page summarizes estimates of outpatient reimbursement change by category of provider. In this table, 
providers may be included in more than one category. 

Also in the table below, estimated cost for services provided by ASCs is intentionally left blank because we have no practical way to 
measure cost at ASCs. ASCs are not required to submit Medicare cost reports as are hospitals. 

Table 14. Comparison of legacy payment to simulated OPPS payment by provider category. 

Hospital 19,373,318 0.686 $ 1,632,708,380 $ 11 ,586,769,769 $ 1,221,438,055 $ 1,221,437,929 $ (126) 0% 75% 75% 
General Acute 7,259,653 0.652 $ 533,908,978 $ 4,508,505,345 $ 355,874,460 $ 364,472,740 $ 8,598,281 2% 67% 68% 
Trauma 7,163,913 0. 711 $ 672,172,067 $ 4, 143,148,442 $ 554,803,171 $ 559,085,611 $ 4,282,440 1% 83% 83% 
Safety Net 6,995,709 0.722 $ 620,469,546 $ 3,684,926,231 $ 528,539,224 $ 512,053,115 $ (16,486, 1 09) -3% 85% 83% 
For Profit 6,438,884 0.677 $ 470,331 ,076 $ 5,089,596,461 $ 309,451 ,555 $ 330,882,452 $ 21,430,897 7% 66% 70% 
High Charity 4,199,035 0.670 $ 321 ,558,801 $ 2,866,569,242 $ 223,631 ,094 $ 235,003,012 $ 11 ,371 ,918 5% 70% 73% 
Statutory Teaching 3,273,913 0.850 $ 330,573,118 $ 1,978,935,333 $ 276,007,861 $ 254,146,542 $ (21 ,861 ,319) -8% 83% 77% 
Public 2,759,233 0.705 $ 201,416,231 $ 1,213,877,176 $ 142,567,308 $ 170,351 ,160 $ 27,783,852 19% 71% 85% 
Children 1,077,554 0.655 $ 185,569,090 $ 637,525,583 $ 171 ,167,108 $ 167,014,282 $ (4, 152,825) -2% 92% 90% 
Rural 1,036,075 0.529 $ 64,048,983 $ 336,176,671 $ 61 ,322,012 $ 48,537,965 $ (12, 784,048) -21% 96% 76% 
ASC 98,786 2.045 $ $ 226,180,498 $ 35,657,540 $ 35,657,877 $ 337 0% 0% 0% 
Out of state 95,461 0.523 $ 7,605,034 $ 40,151 ,246 $ 5,140,463 $ 3,587,905 $ (1 ,552,558) -30% 68% 47% 
Rehabilitation 56,185 0.640 $ 2,599,899 $ 7,823,352 $ 2,528,027 $ 7,048,379 $ 4,520,352 179% 97% 271% 

lY be included in more than one category. 
Medicare cost-to-charae ratios are unavailable for the Ambulatorv Suraical Centers. 

OPPS Payment Method Design- November 30, 2015 Page 68 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration 



24 Appendix H- Manual Adjustments to Improve EAPG Assignment 
As mentioned in Section 3.4, manual adjustments were made to specific types of services to enable assignment of an EAPG on claim 
lines submitted without a procedure code. This was done only for specific revenue codes that are generally billed with one of a small 
number of procedure codes that map to a small number of EAPG codes. In these scenarios, manual manipulation could be 
performed for the purpose of assigning EAPG codes, with a reasonable level of accuracy. For some revenue codes, the manual 
manipulation involved assigning a procedure code to claim service lines with blank procedure codes. This was done prior to 
processing through the EAPG grouping software so that EAPG codes and discounting logic could be applied based on these 
procedure codes. A summary of the procedure code assignments is shown in Table 15. In other cases, the manual adjustment 
involved assignment of an EAPG code directly to the claim line without populating the procedure code. Details of when manual 
assignment of an EAPG code was performed is included in Table 16. 

Table 15. Manual assignment of procedure codes on select lines with blank procedure codes. 

Physical Therapy 0420, 0421 , 0424 
97110,97001 , 97035, 97112, 97116, 

271 - Physical Therapy 0.7257 
97002, 97140,97530 

Occupational Therapy 0430, 0431 , 0434 97532,97003,97535 270 - Occupational Therapy 0.9767 
Speech Therapy 0440, 0441 , 0444 92507,92506, 92522 272 - Speech Therapy and Evaluation 0.3224 

0800-0809 
0820, 0822- 0829 90935 168 - Hemodialysis 1.5279 
0880-0889 

Dialysis 
Assign procedure code 90935 to 1 in every 

0821 
3 lines with this revenue code 

168 - Hemodialysis 1.5279 

0830-0859 90945 169 - Peritoneal Dialysis 1.6323 

0330 
96521 ; Chrgs < $1 ,000 489- Levell I Other Miscellaneous Ancillary Procedures 0.1828 
77293; Chrgs >= $1 ,000 481 -Therapeutic Radiology Simulation Field Setting 0.9624 

0331 , 0335 
96413; Chrgs < $1 ,275 111 - Pharmacotherapy Except by Extended Infusion 0.7535 

Radiology 96415; Chrgs >= $1 ,275 110 - Pharmacotherapy by Extended Infusion 1.4448 
77417; Chrgs < $350 471 -Plain Film 0.1106 

0333 77300; Chrgs Btwn $350 and $590 480- Teletherapy/Brachytherapy Calculation 0.1703 
77014; Chrgs Btwn $590 and $638 473- CT Guidance 0.1859 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 69 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



77336; Chrgs Btwn $638 and $860 478- Medical Radiation Physics 0.2149 
77334; Chrgs Btwn $860 and $1 ,085 479- Treatment Device Design and Construction 0.3547 

77421 ; Chrgs Btwn $1 ,085 and $1 ,615 
474- Radiological Guidance for Therapeutic or Diagnostic 

0.5431 
Procedures 

77315; Chrgs Btwn $1 ,615 and $1 ,671 484 - Therapeutic Radiology Treatment Planning 0.6564 
77290; Chrgs Btwn $1 ,671 and $1 ,680 481 -Therapeutic Radiology Simulation Field Setting 0.9624 
77418; Chrgs >= $1 ,680 343- Radiation Treatment Delivery 2.0324 
A9503; Chrgs < $500 490 - Incidental to Medical, Significant Procedure or Therapy Visit 0.0000 

0340, 0341 
78306; Chrgs Btwn $500 and $1 ,990 330 - Level I Diagnostic Nuclear Medicine 0.6347 

Nuclear Medicine 78582; Chrgs Btwn $1 ,990 and $3,550 331 -Levell I Diagnostic Nuclear Medicine 0.7456 

78452; Chrgs >= $3,550 332- Levell II Diagnostic Nuclear Medicine 1.7284 

0342 79005 340 - Theraoeutic Nuclear Medicine 0.9025 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 70 
Submitted to the Florida Agency fo r Health Care Administra tion 



Table 16. Manual assignment of EAPG codes to select claims billed with blank procedure codes. 

Charges< $10 496- Minor Pharmacotherapy 0.0000 y 
~ 

Charges between $10 and $63 435 - Class I Pharmacotherapy 0.0271 y 

Charges between $63 and $124 436- Class II Pharmacotherapy 0.2492 N 
Charges between $124 and $212 437- Class Ill Pharmacotherapy 0.4632 N 
Charges between $212 and $350 438 - Class IV Pharmacotherapy 0.4741 N 
Charges between $350 and $558 439 - Class V Pharmacotherapy 1.1952 N 

0250-0259 Charges between $558 and $855 440 - Class VI Pharmacotherapy 1.2863 N 
Pharmacy 0630-0639 

0343-0344 Charges between $855 and $1,260 444- Class VII Pharmacotherapy 1.6068 N 
Charges between $1 ,260 and $1 ,782 460- Class VIII Combined Chemotherapy and Pharmacotherapy 2.1573 N 
Charges between $1 ,782 and $2,415 461 -Class IX Combined Chemotherapy and Pharmacotherapy 3.8809 N 
Charges between $2,415 and $4,251 462 - Class X Combined Chemotherapy and Pharmacotherapy 4.4917 N 
Charges between $4,251 and $6,501 463 - Class XI Combined Chemotherapy and Pharmacotherapy 7.4539 N 
Charges between $6,501 and $10,001 464- Class XII Combined Chemotherapy and Pharmacotherapy 14.2305 N 
Charges>= $10,001 465- Class XIII Combined Chemotherapy and Pharmacotherapy 30.5443 N 

0264 
Supplies 0170-0279 nla 490 - Incidental to Medical, Significant Procedure, or Therapy Visit 0.0000 y 

0621 - 0624 

The final manual data manipulation involved claims for observation. Claims for observation services only is a unique scenario 
within the EAPG grouping/pricing algorithm, in that the algorithm looks for the occurrence of two different procedure codes from 
two different service lines before assigning an EAPG code to each line. One line item affecting another line item's payment amount 
is very common in an EAPG-based OPPS. However, one line item affecting the assignment of an EAPG code on another line item is 
rare and occurs when a claim is submitted for observation services only. Specifically, when procedure code G0378- hospital 
observation per hour - is included on a claim and there is no significant procedure included on the claim, the EAPG grouping logic 
looks for a second line item with a procedure code in one of two small lists. One of those lists includes evaluation and management 
codes, 99201- 99205; 99211- 99214, 99281- 99285, and G0463, and the other list includes observation codes, 99217- 99220, 99224-

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 71 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Health Care Administra tion 



99226, 99234-99236, and G0379. If a procedure code from the evaluation and management list is present on the claim, then a 
medical visit EAPG gets assigned. If a procedure code from the observation list is present on the claim, then an observation EAPG 
gets assigned. But if procedure code G0378 is present on the claim, no significant procedure is present on the claim, and no 
procedure from either of these two small lists is present on the claim, then the observation services receive an error EAPG and no 
payment. 

This somewhat complex billing requirement does not exist in the current legacy payment method, so some claims for observation 
services only were billed without a combination of codes required by EAPG grouping. For these claims, Navigant added a new 
claim service line with an evaluation and management procedure code equal to 99281, so that a valid EAPG and a non-zero payment 
could be determined for the observation services. 

OPPS Payment Method Design - November 30, 2015 Page 72 
Submitted to the Florida Agency for Hea lth Care Administration 





2 ©2016 Navigant Consulting , Inc. N/\VIGANT 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medica id OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



SFY 2015/16 General Appropriations Act ... 

" ... the Agency for Health Care Administration to contract with an 
independent consultant to develop a plan to convert Medicaid 

payments for outpatient services from a cost based reimbursement 
methodology to a prospective payment system. The study shall 
identify steps necessary for the transition to be completed in a 

budget neutral manner. The report shall be submitted to the 
Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the 
House of Representatives no later than November 30, 2015." 

3 ©2016 Navigant Consulting, Inc. N A VIGANT 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



» 5 meetings held with an internal AHCA "Governance Committee" 
comprised of executives from AHCA and representatives from 
Navigant Healthcare 

» 4 public stakeholder meetings with phone and webinar external access 
were held to review and solicit feedback from the provider community 
for recommendations defined by the Governance Committee 

» Minutes from the AHCA "Governance Committee" meetings and 
recordings of the public meetings were published on the AHCA website 

» EAPG pricing modeling performed using historical Medicaid fee-for
service and managed care outpatient claims 

4 ©2016 Navigant Consulting, Inc. NJ\VIGANT 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medica id OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



» APCs -Ambulatory Patient Classifications 

» ASCs -Ambulatory Surgical Centers 

» EAPGs - Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups 

» OPPS - Outpatient Prospective Payment System 

» Bundling - Combining the payments for individual components related 
to an outpatient service visit into a single outpatient payment amount 

» Discounting - Paying less than 1 00°/o for a service when provided in 
conjunction with another similar or more expensive service 

» Outpatient services- a.k.a. ambulatory care- patient is not admitted -
examples include Emerg Dept, chemo, lab, MRI, therapy 

» Outpatient payment- payment for use of the facility, nursing staff, 
drugs, materials, and administration (separate payment is made for 
physician services) 

5 ©2016 Navigant Consulting, Inc. N A VIGANT 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/1 2/2016 HEAL THCARE 



...-:.._ 
... 

Current Versus Proposed New Payment Method ,\ 
I -

,·~- ," .. ~~-~~.?~M ~ 

Current Method - Hospitals 

» Hospital-specific cost-based rates 

» The same, "flat" rate is paid for all non
lab services, independent of 
complexity 

» Lab services paid via a fee schedule 

» Payments are retroactively cost-settled 

» More services equates to more 
payment 

Current Method - ASCs 

» ASCs are paid based on a limited fee 
schedule which groups each 
procedure into one of 14 different rates 

» Secondary procedures are generally 
discounted 

6 ©2016 Navigant Consulting , Inc. 

n "*'"" ___ ,.,.. _.....,_,._,_ 

Proposed OPPS 

» Payment is visit-based and considers 
full range of services performed in an 
outpatient setting 

» Payment is better aligned with cost of 
care for different types of services 

» Creates incentives to avoid performing 
unnecessary serv1ces 

» Provides the same payment for the 
same service across all facilities with 
similar characteristics 

» Hospitals and ASCs paid under the 
same method (but amounts may vary) 

» Payment is prospective - cost 
settlements are no longer necessary 

NJ\VIGANT 
Confidentia l and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medica id OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTH CARE 



» Most OPPS payment methods utilize one of two service classification 
systems to calculate payment: 
> Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups - EAPGs - proprietary product of 3M HIS 

> Ambulatory Patient Classifications - APCs - used by Medicare 

» Both methods attempt to balance fair payment with incentives to 
control cost of care and avoid providing unnecessary services 

» Both methods determine payment for individual services performed 
with some consideration given to the set of services included in the 
outpatient visit 

» EAPGs are less familiar to the healthcare provider community, but are 
becoming more commonplace for Medicaid payment across the 
country 

7 ©2016 Navigant Consulting, Inc. N A VIGANT 
Confidential and proprieta ry. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



Outpatient Payment Method · Other Medicaid Agencies 
• EAPGs 

APC or APC-based fee schedule 

* Indicates Moving Towards I Considering 
** Using EAPGs for case mix adjustment 

8 ©2016 Navigant Consulting, Inc. 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. 

D Primarily fee schedule or cost based 

N /\VIGANT 
Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



» EAPGs provide enhanced incentives to better manage the cost of care 
through bundling and discounting of secondary services 

» EAPGs support calculation of payment for the full range of services 
offered in an outpatient setting, whereas the APC classification system 
has to be supplemented with fee schedules for some services, most 
notably laboratory, physical therapy, and durable medical equipment 

» EAPGs are designed for use with any population, whereas APCs are 
specifically designed for the Medicare population 

9 ©2016 Navigant Consulting, Inc. N /\VIGANT 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



~-
T 

Recommendations Included in the OPPS Study ,\ ,-
:• .: . • .':i~PJ·.'·.~ bl£ "·<••·-···"-··~·~·-·------------

» Implement an OPPS using Enhanced Ambulatory Patient Groups (EAPGs) 

» Apply the OPPS for calculation of payment for hospital outpatient services 
and services provided by Ambulatory Surgical Centers (ASCs) 

» Apply EAPG pricing to all outpatient services at hospitals and ASCs 

» Utilize two EAPG base rates -one for hospitals and one for ASCs 

» Apply a provider policy adjustor for hospitals with an unusually high 
percentage of their outpatient utilization coming from Medicaid recipients 

» Apply automatic rate enhancements through supplemental payments 
(outside the base rate) similar to the method used for hospital inpatient 
payments 

» Implement a 5°/o documentation and coding improvement adjustment for 
hospitals; no adjustment for ASCs 

10 ©2016 Navigant Consulting, Inc. N J\VIGANT 
Confidential and proprieta ry. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEAlTHCARE 



OPPS Simulation 08- Hospital Payment Changes 
All In-State Hospitals 

40 ' ' " '"·· • •'"' '~'"'' - ,__ _.,; ., '''= " - ' j· ,;l';;r:"" .. ~· .,.;: ~= .':"..!. ; -~ .- " " ··" 
r!~~i;--~~ ... t .. _ J:~ ~; .;,. ;:r: ~;; .. :iJi,,·· - ~-

~;:: r:•; ; : .. ;- ;.{ 

35 

30 -- --

~ 25 J 
~ .. ''·i: !~m~rl-rim~~;~ A~;~~r~·::;;~-: --~~-~.~:~;~_,~;H ~ ~ ~~ :· ·, i~~~, l~ + l'- .~.'};;.L. ~~ ~;~:~:: ·~ J• t, I f. f.~~ " •• • _, - - f:·~ t . 

.. 

.-;. - - - ,1:;:;.~;~;;,;~'···~-...o;+:;;,.-;;,.I.·,,"·,:;;·J.;:;.r: •·•;; -~ ;:-, ~ .· .... ... ~-- ..... ;.;;,----~-·-•.;r·-----

Q, 

"' 0 I ·"~ 
.. 

:I: 
_,_ 

0 20 ... 
Cll l 

..Q 

E 15 
:I z 

10 

5 

0 
Reduction Reduction Reduction Reduction Reduction Increase Increase Increase Increase Increase 

50%+ 20-50% 10-20% 5-10% 0-5% 0-5% 5-10% 10- 20% 20- SO% 50%+ 

Percent Change in Medicaid Reimbursement 

11 ©2016 Navigant Consulting , Inc. N /\VIGANT 
Confidentia l and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



12 

OPPS Simulation 08 - ASC Payment Changes 
80 

., 
' -·•· 

70 j 
-

60 

Ill 

.~ so 
~ ·o 
111 

LL. 

'S 40 
.... 
G.l 
..c 

§ 30 
z 

20 

10 

0 

Reduction Reduction 
50%+ 20-50% 

©20 16 Navigant Consulting , Inc. 

Reduction 
10- 20% 

Confidential and proprieta ry. Do not distribute or copy. 

Reduction 
5-10% 

Reduction 
0 - 5% 

·,:::+~#'1 ;" ~. ~-- .. 

Increase 
0-5% 

Increase 
5 - 10% 

Percent Change in Medicaid Reimbursement 

Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 

' 

r· .r.:-. 

Increase 
10- 20% 

'· 

Increase 
20-50% 

·• 

!!;~ 

.:' t 

' 

Increase 
50%+ 

N A VIGANT 
HEAL THCARE 



Florida Hospital at Connerton - L TAC 28 28 100% 68 $45,353 $668 
008135900 University Behavioral Center 2 2 100% 2 $3,000 $0 
008135300 Emerald Coast Behavioral Hospital, LLC 154 154 100% 154 $9,555 $0 
010102800 Florida Hospital Tampa 18,271 52,903 35% 173,105 $115,882,262 $7,633,814 
010345400 Memorial Hospital Miramar 24,111 30,829 78% 101,409 $60,200,676 $2,991 ,886 
010020000 Memorial Regional Hospital 105,348 137,570 77% 419,733 $335,944,853 $26,409,856 

Memorial Hospital West 40,381 53,903 75% 191,714 $144,551 ,040 $9,229,487 
010222900 Memorial Hospital Pembroke 22,706 31 ,917 71 % 94,442 $52,790,777 $2,912,238 
010260100 Florida Hospital Wauchula 6,895 10,392 66% 35,962 $16,621 ,964 $2,045,480 
010003000 UF Health Shands Hospital 60,494 93,064 65% 397,145 $180,094,812 $19,525,367 
010090100 Florida Hospital Heartland M ed Cntr 14,336 26,776 54% 95,693 $46,143,550 $4,485,171 

Northwest Florida Cm nty Hospital 3,863 7,694 50% 32,071 $10,017,686 $1 ,790,768 
010823300 Windmoor Healthcare, Inc. 14 28 50% 28 $29,100 $0 
010067600 UF Health Jacksonville 44,781 92,479 48% 398,500 $230,451 '128 $20,048,730 
010109500 Florida Hospital Waterman 17,142 36,647 47% 139,059 $70,530,246 $6,867,582 
005456800 Florida Hospital Wesley Chapel 6,325 15,385 41% 55,227 $33,596,727 $3,973,165 
010094300 Florida Hospital Carrollwood 8,827 22,390 39% 76,348 $49,583,510 $4,193,585 

Florida Hospital North Pinellas 4,779 12,812 37% 42,694 $24,151 ,233 $2,393,240 
010149400 Florida Hospital Zephyrhills 7,091 21 ,235 33% 72,044 $42,469, 113 $2,861 ,300 

Total 385,548 646,208 ~ 60% 2,325,398 $1,413,116,586 $117,362,335 
Note(s): 

Amounts in these columns exclude the following service lines: Pharmac~ . Laborato~ . Su~~lies , Thera~ies, Dial~sis , Radiolog~ and Nuclear Medicine. 

13 ©2016 Navigant Consulting , Inc. N A VIGANT 
Confidential and proprieta ry . Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



» Inpatient DRG implementation required, 
> 6 months of payment policy design 
> 6 months of software development 

» Outpatient OPPS implementation is more complicated and will require 
> 6 months of payment policy design (already complete) 
> At least 9 months of software development 
> Earliest implementation would be fall of 2016, potentially with OPPS pricing applied 

retroactively back to July, 1, 2016 

14 ©2016 Navigant Consulting , Inc. N A VIGANT 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medica id OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



Questions? 

15 ©2016 Navigant Consulting , Inc. N A VIGANT 
Confidential and proprietary. Do not distribute or copy. Florida AHCA • Medicaid OPPS Study • 1/12/2016 HEALTHCARE 



0 
""C 
""C 
~ 
C) 
~ 
c 
"C c. 
I» 
;-



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE'S OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY 

The Maintenance Adoption Subsidy Program and Methodology 
for Projecting Annual Budget Needs 

January 6, 2016 

Summary 
At the request of the Legislature, OPP AGA reviewed the Maintenance Adoption Subsidy 
Program to answer three questions. 

1. What are the federal and state requirements for determining the amount of monthly 
adoption subsidy payments? 

2. What factors may influence monthly adoption subsidy payment amounts, the number of 
adoption subsidy recipients, and overall expenditures over the next few years? 

3. What methodology does the Department of Children and Families use to project the 
annual budget needed for adoption subsidy payments, and what improvements have or 
need to be made to these projections? 

Background 
The Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of 1980 created a joint federal-state program to 
support children in foster care and adoptive families. 1 The act established the Adoption 
Assistance Program, which provides financial assistance to families that adopt children with 
special needs. 2 Financial assistance includes non-recurring payments, pre-adoptive subsidies, 
and monthly maintenance adoption subsidies. Non-recurring payments are intended to pay for 
the expenses associated with an adoption, such as attorney fees . 3 Pre-adoptive subsidies are 
intended to assist prospective adoptive parents with the cost of caring for a child pending the 
finalization of the adoption. 4 Monthly subsidy payments are intended to assist adoptive parents 
with the extra costs associated with adopting a special needs child. The family receives monthly 
subsidy payments until child ' s 18th birthday when he or she is no longer eligible for the 
program. 

Families receive adoption subsidies funded by one of three sources: (1) federal Title IV-E funds, 
(2) federal Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), or (3) state general revenue 

1 The Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of 1980 (Public Law 96-272) is also known as Title IV-E of the Social Security Act. 
2 Special needs children are those in the custody of the Department of Children and Families or a licensed, private child-placing agency who have 

established significant emotional ties with their foster parents or are not likely to be adopted because they are at least eight years old, 
developmentally disabled, physically or emotionally handicapped, of black or racially mixed heritage, or a member of a sibling group being 
placed for adoption together. 

3 The Title IV-E Adoption Assistance Program allows states to offer non-recurring adoption payments to cover an adoptive fami ly's adoption
related expenses. Adoption expenses are defined as the reasonable and necessary adoption fees, court costs, attorney fees and other expenses 
that are directly related to the legal adoption of a child with spec ial needs and that have not been reimbursed from other sources or funds. 
Federal guidelines set the maxirnwn non-recurring adoption payment amount a state may provide an adoptive family at $2,000. In Florida, the 
maximwn amount for non-recurring adoption payments is $ 1,000. If families receive non-recurring payments, they cannot claim these 
payments for federal income tax purposes because m.s regulations prohibit adoptive families from claiming adoption expenses for which they 
received funds under any local, state, or federal program. 

4 Pre-adoptive subsidies begin after the adoption subsidy amount is agreed upon, the adoption agreement is signed, and the child is placed with 
the prospective adoptive parents. These subsidies are intended to be paid for 90 days or less. 



Page 2 

funds. 5 The department' s screening process determines financial eligibility for a subsidy from 
federal Title IV -E or T ANF funds. If the child is not eligible for either federal funding source, 
the subsidy is funded with state general revenue funds . 6• 

7 While federal laws and rules for 
adoption assistance apply only to Title IV -E funds, Florida also applies federal guidelines for 
state-only funded subsidies. The Department of Children and Families (DCF) administers 
Florida ' s Adoption Assistance Program; the amount of a maintenance adoption subsidy is 
determined at the local level by the department' s 17 community-based care lead agencies. 

Due to increases in annual adoption assistance expenditures, the Legislature previously directed 
OPPAGA to examine factors associated with these increases. In December 2013, OPPAGA 
made the following observations. 

• From Fiscal Year 2007-08 to Fiscal Year 2012-13, the number of adoption assistance 
recipients increased 31% due to historical growth in adoptions. Most children are young 
when they are adopted and do not stop receiving subsidies until they tum 18 years of age. 
Therefore, when adoptions grew by over 50% in the early 2000s, the number of subsidy 
recipients grew for at least a decade because the number of children entering the program 
exceeded the number of children who were exiting the program on their 18th birthday. 

• During the same period, the average monthly adoption subsidy amount increased from 
approximately $343 to approximately $376. This growth is primarily due to the 
difference in cost of children exiting the program at age 18 whose families received lower 
historical subsidy rates as compared to children entering the program whose families 
receive current higher rates. 

The department reports that adoption subsidy expenditures increased by 53% from $111 million 
in Fiscal Year 2008-09 to $171 million in Fiscal Year 2014-15, representing an average annual 
increase of $9.9 million per year. The department's Fiscal Year 2016-17 Legislative Budget 
Request (LBR) requested $191 million. In Fiscal Year 2014-15, DCF finalized 3,219 adoptions. 
The department reported that 35,697 children received maintenance adoption subsidies in June 
2015, which represents a 68% increase over the number of children who received the subsidies 
10 years ago. 

What are the federal and state requirements for determining the amount of 
monthly adoption subsidy payments? 

Federal and state laws and rules establish criteria for determining subsidy amounts. Federal 
policies stipulate that Title lY-E-funded adoption assistance be based on the specific needs of 
each child and the circumstances of his or her adoptive family, as determined through 
negotiations between the parents and a representative of the state IV -E agency. The payment 
that is agreed upon should combine with the parents' resources to cover the ordinary and special 

' Florida funds its Adopti on Assistance Program primarily with federal Title IV -E adoption funds; the majori ty of children adopted are eligible 
for this funding source. 

6 The 2008 federal Fostering Connections to Success and Increasing Adoptions Act revised Title IV -E adoption assistance eligibility criteria by 
gradually increasing the share of children eligible for Title IV-E adoption assistance payments and reducing the need for TANF or genera l 
revenue funding. Phasing in of this change began during federal Fiscal Year 20 10 and will be complete at the stan of federal Fiscal Year 20 18. 
As a result, nearly all special needs children newly adopted from foster care after 20 18 will be eligible for Title IV -E-funded adoption 
assistance. A small number of adoptive children may not be eligible because federal eligibility criteria for Title IV -E will remain in effect for 
areas such as citizenship and immigration status requirements. 

7 States may establish state-funded adoption assistance programs for children who are not eligible under the federal Title IV -E adoption assistance 
program and have the flexibility under federal law and rules to set eligibility criteria for such programs, which vary by state. 



Page 3 

needs of the child projected over an extended period of time and should cover anticipated needs, 
such as child care. 8 

Federal law and state policies link adoption assistance payments to foster care payments. Prior 
to 2007, state rules established the adoption subsidy amount at 80% of the foster care board rate, 
including the medical foster care board rate. 9• 

10 In 2007, the Legislature raised Florida's 
adoption subsidy amount to $5,000 annually ($417 per month) or an amount other than $5,000 
annually as determined by the adoptive parents and the department. 11

' 
12

• 
13 While this action 

decoupled adoption subsidy payments from foster care payments, the range of allowable 
payments is still affected by foster care board rates. 

Federal law and policies specify that Title lY-E-funded adoption assistance payments cannot 
exceed the foster care payment the child would have received if he or she had been in a foster 
family home. 14

' 
15

• 
16 However, these policies allow for higher, specialized rates for children who 

have more significant needs. For example, children adopted from Medical or Therapeutic Foster 
Care, with foster care board payments higher than the minimum, may have needs that require 
larger subsidies. Lead agencies approve subsidy amounts up to 100% of the statewide foster care 
board rate; agency adoption program specialists, the lead agency director, and the DCF regional 
director must approve higher subsidy amounts. 17

• 
18 State statute establishes the monthly foster 

care board rates shown in Exhibit 1. 

8 Federal law prohibits states from considering the income and other assets of adoptive families in detennining the child's eligibility for the Title 
IV -E adoption assistance program. 

9 Rule 65C-16.0 13(7) , F.A .C., stated that the initial monthly basic subsidy payment wi ll be based on the department 's published standard foster 
care board rates and that the basic subsidy will be 80% of these rates, including medical foster care rates. This section was amended in 2008. 

10 During our study period, the medical foster care board rate increased from $504 to $527 per month . The Department of Health ' s Medical 
Foster Care Operational Plan states that medical foster parents receive the same foster care board rate received by regular foster parents for 
chi ldren 13 to21 years of age regardless of the medical foster care child 's age. ln addition, beginning in January 20 15, the medical foster care 
board rate will receive the same annual percentage cost of li ving increases as regular foster care. 

11 Section 409.166, F.S. 
12 In 2013 , the majority of lead agencies reported either estab)jshing the adoption subsidy amount at $417 or beginning the negotiation process at 

this amount. The department reported that it appeared that lead agencies have varying interpretations of whether $417 is the standard rate for 
subsidies or the maximwn subsidy amount. 

13 ln 2013, some lead agencies reported encouraging adoptive families to sign an adoption agreement with a zero subsidy amount if they do not 
request financial assistance. This allows the family to request a subsidy later should physical or psychological problems, not diagnosed at the 
time of the adoption, appear that require care or services beyond what the parents or Medicaid can provide. 

14 Section 473(a)(3) of the Social Security Act and Chapter 8.2D.4 of the federal Child Welfare Policy Manual. 
15 Federal law and regulations do not prohibit states from having a law or policy that limits the max imum adoption assistance payments to a leve l 

lower than the maintenance payment a child would have received in a foster fami ly home. The law only prescribes that the adoption assistance 
payment can be no more than the foster care maintenance payment that the child would have received in a foster family home during the same 
time period (Section 473(a)(3) of the Social Securi ty Act) . 

16 Section 409.166(4)(b), F. S. , mirrors the federal requirement, stating that the monthly adoption subsidy payment shall not exceed the foster care 
maintenance payment that would have been paid during the same period if the child had been in a foster family home. 

17 The department reports that there are no criteria for regional directors to follow ; however, they must examine all the docwnentation justifying 
the higher adoption subsidy request. 

18 Rule 65C-1 6.013(7) , F.A .C. 



Page4 

Exhibit 1 
The Minimum Monthly Foster Care Maintenance Payment Has Increased Over the Last 15 Fiscal Years 

Monthly Foster Care Maintenance Payment 
Child's Age Before FY 2000-01 FY 2000-01 FY 2006-07 FY 2014-15 
Birth to 5 Years Old $350 $369 $429 $439 

6 Years Old to 12 $361 $380 $440 $451 
Years Old 
13 Years and Older $432 $455 $515 $527 

Source: Department of Children and Families 

As shown in Exhibit 2, 75% of children adopted over the past three fiscal years received the 
statutory rate of $417. Eight percent of children ages 0 through 12 and I 0% of children ages 13 
through 17 received subsidies at or below the highest minimum foster care board rate but above 
the statutory rate of$417.19 Of those, approximately 5% received adoption subsidies equal to the 
minimum medical foster care rate at the time of $504 and I% to 2% received adoption subsidy 
amounts at I 00% of the statewide established foster care board rate. 20 

Exhibit 2 
Seventy-five Percent of Children Adopted Received the Statutory Monthly Rate of $417 as Their 
Adoption Subsidy 

100% 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

Children Adopted at Ages 0 Through 12 

$1,000 to 2,000 

• Between the Highest Minimum 
Board Rate and $1,000 

• Up to the Highest Minimum Board 
Rate 

• Statutory Rate ($417) 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of Department of Children and Families data . 

100% 

90% 

80% 

70% 

60% 

50% 

40% 

30% 

20% 

10% 

0% 

Children Adopted at Ages 13 Through 17 

• $2,000 or more 

• $1,000 to 2,000 

• Between the Highest Minimum 
Board Rate and $1,000 

Up to the Highest Minimum Board 
Rate 

• Statutory Rate ($417) 

19 The highest minimum foster care board rate is the higher of the minimum medical and minimum non-medical foster care board rates. For 
children ages 0 through 12 the higher rate is the minimum medical foster care rate at the time ($504). For children ages 13 through 17, the 
higher rate is the minimum non-medical foster care board rate. 

20 Less than 0.1% of chi ldren received payments of $3,000 or more per month. 



Page 5 

Adoptive families must be informed that they may request an increase in the subsidy amount 
after approval of the initial subsidy agreement. 21 Adoptive parents may renegotiate their 
adoption assistance agreement under three conditions 

1) the family ' s circumstances change; 

2) the child needs additional medical, mental health, or special services; or 

3) periodic across-the-board increases to the state' s foster care board rates. 

In addition, subsidy agreements can only be modified with the concurrence of the adoptive 
family and can only be terminated under certain circumstances. 22 

What factors may influence adoption subsidy payment amounts, the number 
of adoption subsidy recipients, and overall expenditures over the next few 
years? 
According to department staff, two factors may have caused adoption subsidy amounts to 

increase. In 2013, the Florida Legislature enacted s. 409.145(4), Florida Statutes, which 
requires foster parents to receive an annual cost of living increase equal to the percentage change 
in Consumer Price Index. 23 Since lead agencies may approve up to 100% of the foster care 
board rate without department approval, department staff reported that this increase may result in 
higher adoption subsidy amounts as the board rate increases. Department staff also reported that 
foster parents and adoptive parents are requesting higher foster care maintenance and adoption 
subsidy rates. Because they are more informed about the policies and practices governing these 
rates, foster parents who adopt may request an adoption subsidy equal to the higher foster care 
board rate they were receiving prior to adoption. Staff attributed membership in local foster and 
adoptive parent associations and the exchange of information among foster and adoptive parents 
for the higher rate requests. 

Federal and state policy changes led to an increase in private adoptions, making more 

children eligible for adoption assistance. Department staff reported an increase in the number 
of children adopted through a private adoption process as a result of federal and state statutory 
changes in recent years. 24

• 
25 Private adoptions occur under two scenarios: (1) children who are 

not in the child welfare system are adopted through private, child-placement or child-caring 
agencies; and (2) children who are in the child welfare system but whose parents choose to place 
the child with a private adoption entity before termination of parental rights is finalized. 
However, these children must still meet the federal eligibility criteria for Title lY-E-funded 
adoption assistance, e.g., a child with special needs. Staff noted that it is difficult to predict 
accurately the number of children who become eligible for adoption assistance each year through 
private adoptions. 

21 In 2013 , lead agency officials reported that most adoptive families do not renegotiate their subsidy rate after the cbild is adopted, even if the 
standard adoption subsidy amounts increase. Our analysis of payment data shows that, over one to two years, about 2% of children 's rates 
were increased through renegotiation by an average of $2 10 per month . 

22 When there is a statewide across-the-board reduction or increase in the foster care maintenance payment rate, the state may adjust the adoption 
assistance payment without the adoptive parent 's concurrence. Adoption agreements terminate when the child dies, reaches 18 years of age, is 
emancipated, is no longer receiving support from the adoptive parents, or is no longer the legal responsibility of the adoptive parents. 

23 This change became effective on January I , 20 15. 
24 Fostering Connections to Success and Increasing Adoptions Act of 2008 (Public Law II 0-35 1 ). Modifications to the federal adoption 

assistance eligibility criteria made children in the care of pri vate child welfa re agencies eligible for Title lY-E-funded adoption assistance. 
25 Chapter 20 12-8 1, Laws of Florida, expanded the defmition of an adoption entity to include a licensed Florida child-plac ing agency 

(s. 63.032(3), FS.) and required the parents of the child to be informed of the availability of a private placement with an adoption entity before 
the petition for tennination of parental rights is filed (s. 39.802(4)(d), FS.). 



Page6 

Some recent state policy changes may increase the number of children adopted, others may 

result in a decrease. In 2015, the Legislature made two changes to the state's adoption laws. 
Department staff reported that these changes may increase the number of children adopted and 
thereby increase the number of children receiving adoption assistance and related state 
expenditures. However, the effect of these policies cannot be determined since they were only 
recently implemented. 

• Chapter 2015-130, Laws of Florida, created an adoption incentive program to award 
incentive payments to community-based care lead agencies and their subcontracted 
adoption providers who achieve specific and measurable adoption performance standards. 
These incentives may redouble the efforts of lead agencies and their subcontract adoption 
providers to recruit adoptive families and thus, increase the number of children adopted. 

• Chapter 2015-130, Laws of Florida, also reinstated state employee adoption benefits. 
State employees who adopt a child from the child welfare system are eligible for a lump 
sum monetary benefit of $10,000 in addition to receiving adoption assistance. 
Department staff reported that the state employee adoption incentive program previously 
resulted in 400-500 adoptions each year. 

In addition, the number of children in out-of-home care increased by approximately 4,320 (24%) 
between November 2013 and November 2015. Increases in the out-of-home care population 
may also lead to increased adoptions if these children are not reunited with their families and 
become available for adoption. 

Department staff also reported that the extension of foster care to 21 years of age has decreased 
the number of older adolescents adopted. In 2013, the Legislature extended the age of children 
eligible to remain in foster care from 18 to 21 years of age. 26 Beginning January 1, 2014, current 
or former youth in foster care between the ages of 18 to 21 years of age may continue to reside in 
licensed foster care (or approved supervised living environments). Young adults may continue 
to reside with their current foster family, if both the young adult and the foster family agree. 
Monthly room and board is paid directly to the foster family and extended foster care benefits, 
including Medicaid, are available to young adults until age 21 (and up to their 22nd birthday for 
those with a diagnosed and documented disability). 27

• 
28 Adoption subsidies and Medicaid 

coverage end when adopted children tum 18 years of age potentially creating a financial 
incentive for youth and foster families to pursue extended foster care, delay adoption until the 
young adult turns 21 years of age, and then pursue a private adoption. 

What methodology does the Department of Children and Families use to 
project the annual budget needed for adoption subsidy payments, and what 
improvements have or need to be made to these projections? 
In previous years, the department's Legislative Budget Request (LBR) methodology used a 

generally defensible approach but had some problems implementing the details. The 
department used essentially the same model for its LBRs for Fiscal Years 2012-13 through 

26 Chapter 201 3-178, Laws of Florida. 
27 A young adult may be in extended foster care and also receive financial and academic support services for postsecondary educational pursuits. 
28 Young adults adopted from foster care after tbe age of 16 are eligible for tuition and fee waivers from Florida universities and colleges 

(s. 1009.25( I )(d)). These young adults may also be eligible for the Postsecondary Education Services and Support education monthly stipend 
of$ 1,256 (which is avail able until the young adul t's 23rd birthday) or the federal Educational Training Voucher educational stipend of$6,250 
annually. 



Page 7 

2014-15. 29 To forecast the number of children who would receive a subsidy payment and the 
amount that would be paid during the budget year, the department started with the baseline 
population of children who received subsidies in June, 13 months before the beginning of the 
fiscal year for which the budget request was prepared. 30 Then, the department subtracted 
payments for children turning 18 years of age before or during the budget year and added 
payments for the number of children it projected would be adopted before or during the budget 
year. For children projected to be adopted during this period, the department assumed children 
would receive the monthly subsidy amount specified in statute of $417 per month. Additional 
dollars were added for projected rate renegotiations for a small percentage of children. Finally, 
the department added expenditures for non-recurring payments for expenses associated with the 
adoption process for children adopted during the budget year. 

Although this basic approach is reasonable, it had several shortcomings, including the following . 

• The department underestimated expenditures by including children who would tum 18 
before the budget year in the calculation of the average rate. Many of the children 
turning 18 years of age were adopted longer ago when adoption subsidies tended to be 
lower. As a result, including them in the calculation inaccurately reduced the average 
rate. The department corrected this starting with its Fiscal Year 2015-16 initial LBR. 31 

• The department underestimated expenditures by assuming newly adopted children would 
receive the statutory rate of $417 per month. Although the majority of children adopted 
in recent years received the statutory rate, some children received more than the statutory 
rate, as is permitted by statute for children with more significant needs. As a result, the 
average rate for children adopted between the baseline month and end of the budget year 
was higher than the assumed $417. The department corrected this starting with its Fiscal 
Year 2015-16 final LBR. 32 

• The department also overestimated expenditures because children receiving pre-adoptive 
payments were not excluded from the June baseline population. Instead, these children 
were counted twice as a subsidy recipient-once as on-going subsidy recipients from the 
baseline population and again as recipients when they were projected to be adopted after 
the baseline month. This issue has not been corrected in the department's current 
method. 33

• 
34 

29 The most important change DCF made during this period was that in Fiscal Year 201 3- 14, the department correctly started deducting 
expenditures for children aging out during the baseline month. 

3° For example, June 2013 is the baseline month for the Fiscal Year 20 14-1 5 budget request. 
31 Starting with its Fiscal Year 20 15-1 6 initial LB R, the department appropriately excluded children who tum 18 before the budget year from the 

average rate calculation and calculated the average rate separately for children who aged out during the budget year. In addition, the 
department began correctly treating children aging out of the subsidy during the budget year as getting paid for the full month in which they 
aged out. 

" The department's current method uses payments to children in the June baseline month for children adopted during the prior year to ca lculate 
the average rate for new adoptees. Then, it applies an inflation factor, assuming the rates for new adoptees will grow at the rate of inflation, to 
estimate the rates that will be paid to children adopted during the budget year. 

33 An additional related complication is that children adopted in the baseline month are often counted tw ice. The department is required to give 
the children a new lD in its case management in fonnation system, FSFN, when the child is adopted. In the month in which the child is 
adopted, the child often receives a pre-adoptive payment for part of the month under the pre-adoptive ID and a post-adoptive payment for the 
remainder of the month under the post-adoptive ID . Since children are primarily identi fied in the data by their ID, this appears to be two 
payments to two different children who are treated as receiv ing monthly payments at the full monthly rate unti l they tum 18. 

34 If the department directly excludes pre-adoptive payments in the future, it should continue to treat children as receiving full -month payments. 



Page 8 

• The department used an outdated analysis to project rate renegotiations, which slightly 
underestimated expenditures. Our analysis of the department's data shows that for 
approximately 2% of children in the baseline population, their renegotiated monthly rate 
is, on average, $210 higher. While the department ' s rate renegotiation factor yielded net 
increases that are only slightly lower than our estimates, the department should 
periodically update its analysis to reflect current practices. 35 

Some of these shortcomings underestimated spending while others overestimated spending. As 
shown in Exhibit 3, the net result of these errors was that, in four of the past five fiscal years, 
DCF' s initial budget requests were approximately $2 to $3 million (1.4% to 1.9%) below actual 
adoption subsidy expenditures, resulting in budget shortfalls. 36 In these shortfall years, the 
department received additional funding ranging from $1.6 million to $4.3 million. According to 
department data, in three of the four years, the additional funds resulted in an end of the fiscal 
year surplus of $1 million to $1 .3 million. 

Exhibit 3 
DCF Underestimated Spending in Four of the Past Five Fiscal Years 

Percentage Over/ 
Final Initial LBR Over/ Under 

Fiscal Year1 Initial LBR Appropriation2 Final Expenditures Under Expenditures Expenditures 
2010-11 $129.0 $130.6 $131.4 ($2.4) (1 .9%) 

2011 -12 $138.7 $141.7 $140.7 ($2.0) (1 .4%) 

2012-13 $1 54.1 $149.5 $150.4 $3.7 2.4% 

2013-14 $158.6 $162.2 $161.2 ($2.6) (1 .6%) 

2014-1 5 $168.0 $172.3 $171 .0 ($3.0) (1 .8%) 
1 Numbers are in millions. 
2 Final appropriation includes the original appropriations through the General Appropriations Act and subsequent appropriations through Back of 

Bill additions. 

Source: Department of Children and Families and the Florida Fiscal Portal. 

Although the department corrected some of these issues, the current method still has some 

limitations and likely overestimates expenditures. The department appropriately addressed two 
of the prior methodology' s issues-improving how children turning 18 years of age and leaving 
the program were counted and improving estimates of the subsidy amounts paid for newly 
adopted children. However, by correcting the two most important factors that underestimated 
spending and not addressing the factor that overestimates spending, the department ' s current 
method likely overestimates spending. In addition, starting with the Fiscal Year 2015-16 
amended LBR, the department began using higher adoptions estimates, which further increased 
projected spending. (See Exhibit 4.) There are some factors that could contribute to an increase 
in adoptions over the next few years. However, three observations from the data suggest these 

35 In addition, the department 's current LBR approach: ( I) does not deduct payments for children adopted after the June baseline month who tum 
18 before or during the budget year, (2) does not add pre-adoptive payments paid in the LBR year, and (3) has not always consistently rolled up 
payments for children in the baseline population across all accounting categori es for recurring payments. The department's current approach 
also excludes partial-month payments when calculating average rates, which would be appropriate except that they do not exclude pre-adoptive 
payments- an error that is inflated when partial-month payments are excluded. In addition, when updating its LBR projections later on in the 
year, it would be appropriate to discount the inflation factor since some of the rate renegotiations would already be reflected in the more recent 
baseline population data . 

36 Over the past five Fiscal Years, Fiscal Year 2012-1 3 is the on ly year where the department's initi al LBR exceeded expenditures. This is likely 
the result of inaccuracies in the data from the department changing data systems used to process payments. The department did a phased 
transition to the new system starting in 20 I 0 and concluding in August 20 II , j ust two months after the June 20 II baseline month for its Fiscal 
Year 20 12-13 LB R. 



Page 9 

new adoptions estimates are likely too high: (1) the projection for Fiscal Year 2014-15 exceeded 
actual adoptions by approximately 350 children; (2) its projections for Fiscal Years 2015-16 and 
2016-1 7 were higher than the number of children adopted in any of the last six years; and (3) for 
the Fiscal Years 2015-16 and 2016-17 projections to be correct, there would have to be 292 more 
adoptions each year than in Fiscal Year 2014-15 . 

Exhibit 4 
Adoptions Projections in LBRs Exceed Recent Trends 

Fiscal Year Actual Adoptions Adoptions Projections1 

2009-10 3,368 

2010-11 3,009 

2011 -12 3,252 

2012-13 3,354 

2013-14 3,248 

2014-152 3,219 3,568 

2015-16 3,511 

2016-17 3,511 

1 Adoptions projections are ftom the Fiscal Year 2015- 16 final LBR and Fiscal Year 20 16-1 7 LBR. 
2 The Fiscal Year 20 14-15 adoptions projection shown is an estimate based on the half-year adoptions projection shown in the department's mid

Fiscal Year 20 15- 16 LBR. Since the department 's LBR assumes adoptions are evenl y split between the first and last halves of the year, we 
doubled DCF's mid-year adoptions projection. 

Source: Department of Children and Families ' offic ial adoptions counts and Department of Children and Families' Legislative Budget Requests 
ftom the Florida Fiscal Porta l. 

The department' s Fiscal Year 2015-16 final LBR was $8.5 million higher than its initial LBR. 
The implementation of two changes explains 74% of the increase. First, with the final Fiscal 
Year 2015-16 LBR, the department more accurately calculated subsidy amounts paid for newly 
adopted children, which increased the final LBR by approximately $3 .9 million over the initial 
LBR. Second, the department' s higher adoptions estimates increased the final LBR by 
approximately $2.4 million more. 37 

Based on our analysis of the department 's methodology, we estimate that there will be a budget 
surplus in Fiscal Year 2015-16 of approximately $4 million and that the Fiscal Year 2016-17 
budget request, if funded at the requested amount of $191 .1 million, may result in a surplus of 
approximately $4 million to $5 million. Our simulated validation, which corrects all known 
deficiencies with the department's current method, projects that actual expenditures will be 
below the department ' s LBR by approximately $4.4 million for Fiscal Year 2015-16 and $4.6 
million for Fiscal Year 2016-17 if there is no growth in adoptions. 38 (See Exhibit 5.) If the 
number of adoptions over the next two years exceeds the number over the past two years, then 
the discrepancy will likely be smaller. 

37 The remaining 26% of the increase between the initial and fi nal Fiscal Year 20 15- 16 LBRs appear to be due to the department switching to 
only using full-month payments in calculating average rates and a few other smaller factors. 

38 To further corroborate that the department' s current method overestimates spending, we also projected what the department would have 
requested if it had used its prior method rather than the current method for the Fiscal Years 20 15- 16 and 20 16- 17 LBRs. Since the prior 
method was too low by $2 million to $3 million, if the current method produced estimates that exceed the old method by more than $2 mjlljon 
to $3 million, the current method would likely overestimate spending. Our analysis showed that the department ' s requests using the current 
method are about $5 million to $9 million above what the prior method would have projected . 



Page 10 

Exhibit 5 
The Department's Requests Exceed Our Best Estimates of Expenditures 

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year 
Projection Method1 2015-16 2016-17 LBR 
Departments LBR $184.32 $191 .1 

Old model with current LBR adoptions projections $179.1 $184.8 

Old model with no growth in adoptions $177.3 $182.5 

Validated through simulation with no growth in adoptions $180.0 $186.5 

Recommended approach with no growth in adoptions $178.9 $185.9 

1 The expenditures projections are in millions. Models asswning no growth in adoptions use the nwnber of adoptions from Fiscal Years 2013-14 
(3 ,248) and 20 14-15 (3 ,219). The Department's LBR and old model with current LBR adoptions projections use the department ' s higher 
adoptions forecast of approximately 3,568 for Fiscal Years 2014-1 5 and 3,5 11 for 201 5-1 6 and 20 16-1 7. 

2 The department's fi nal LBR for Fiscal Year 2015-16 requested $ 184.3 million. 

Source: OPPAGA analysis of Department of Children and Families' data and Department of Children and Families ' Legislative Budget Requests 
from the Florida Fiscal Portal. 

The Fiscal Year 2016-17 budget request does not reflect the fact that adoptions subsidy 

growth is slowing. The department's Fiscal Year 2016-17 LBR requests $191.1 million, which 
is an average annual increase of $10 million over total expenditures from Fiscal Year 2014-15 . 
This is consistent with the average annual increase in spending of $9.9 million per year over the 
past six fiscal years. However, this likely overestimates spending because growth in adoption 
subsidy expenditures is likely slowing due to slower growth in the number of subsidy recipients. 
Although the number of children starting to receive adoption subsidies has been relatively 
consistent, the number of children turning 18 years of age and leaving the program has increased 
over the past few years. Since more than half of children adopted are less than six year of age 
when adopted, approximately 12 years after rapid growth in adoptions, the number of children 
turning 18 years of age and leaving the program will increase. As shown in Exhibit 6, about 13 
to 15 years ago, the number of children adopted grew rapidly, resulting in the recent increase in 
the number of children turning 18 and leaving the program. 39 Despite the slowing net inflow of 
children into the adoption subsidy program, expenditures will likely continue to grow, but at a 
slower rate because children aging out of the adoption program have lower average subsidy 
payment amounts than newly adopted children. 

39 If one were to asswne that the factors noted above were to result in higher than normal adoptions over the next two years and used the 
department's higher adoption numbers in its recent LBRs, these budget requests show that the two-year growth in adoption subsidy recipients 
declined from a projected 2,661 in Fiscal Year 201 3-14 to I ,878 in Fisca l Year 20 16-1 7- a decrease of 783 recipients. 



Page 11 

Exhibit 6 
Adoptions More than Doubled Between Fiscal Years1999-2000 and 2003-04 

4,000 

3,500 

Annual Adoptions 
3,000 r-

2,500 

2,000 

1,500 
r-

1,000 

500 

o,'<> 6;- o,q, o,<» <§> c;:,"> ~ &> ~ .!)> c;:,'<> ~ <§> ~ ~ ;. ~ ~ ~ ~ 
!-) !0 ~ 95 ~ ~ ~ ~ (!) !> !-) !0 ~ 95 ~ <::5 ...; ~ "' ... 
~ o,Oi ~ o,<» ~ ~ <::><::> <::><::> <§> ~ ,f ,f <§> §! .§> <::>-.; <=>"' <=>"' <=>"' "-.; 

"y "y "y "y "y "' "' "' "' "' "' "' "' "' "' "' "' "' 
Source: Department of Children and Families data. 

There are several critical areas that the department has not addressed that could further 

improve its adoption subsidy budget request. The department could improve the accuracy of its 
budget projection by addressing the following issues in order of priority. The recommended 
approach in Exhibit 5 estimates the amount the department would have requested if they had 
used the following recommendations and assumed no growth in adoptions over the next two 
years . 

• Reduce the baseline population by the number of children receiving pre-adoptive 
payments. This would improve the expenditures projections by not counting a child once 
in the baseline population and a second time in the adoptions projections. 40 

• Return to using slightly lower adoption forecasts for the budget request. While it is 
difficult to predict the number of children who will be adopted during the budget year, 
the department' s current method likely overestimates adoptions. 

• Update the analysis of subsidy renegotiations periodically to reflect current practices. 
The department' s LBR uses an outdated adjustment to reflect the extent to which 
expenditures are affected by rate renegotiations. Based on our calculations, 
approximately 2% of the baseline population negotiated a subsidy increase of 
approximately $210 per month. This should be applied only to children in the baseline 
population, not newly adopted children, since most rate renegotiations are for older 
children receiving older, lower subsidy amounts. 

40 There are a number of challenges with the adoption subsidy data, such as changing child IDs and missing historical data from legacy systems, 
which may make distinguishing between pre-adoptive and post-adoptive payments challenging. If the department cannot reasonably make this 
distinction, a reasonable approximation may be to reduce the baseline population by approx imately I child per 5 to 5.5 children projected to be 
adopted in the year before the budget year. If this change is made, then excluding children with a partial-month payment, as the department 
did in the Fiscal Years 20 15-1 6 and 2016-1 7 LBRs, will likely improve the accuracy of the estimates. This is because the majori ty of children 
with a partial-month payment are children receiving pre-adoptive payments and children receiving pre-adoptive payments typically receive 
higher payment amounts than the overall population of subsidy rec ipients. 





I Maintenance Adoption Subsidy Program 

~ What are the federal and state requirements for 
determining the amount of monthly adoption subsidy 
payments? 

~ What factors may influence monthly adoption subsidy 
amounts, the number of adoption subsidy recipients, and 
overall expenditures over the next few years? 

~ What methodology does DCF use to project the annual 
budget needed for adoption subsidy payments, and what 
improvements have or need to be made to these 
projections? 



I Maintenance Adoption Subsidy Program 

The federal Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act 
of 1980 established the Adoption Assistance Program 

~ Provides financial assistance to families that adopt 
children with special needs from foster care 

~ Financial assistance includes monthly adoption subsidies 
and non-recurring adoption expenses 



I Maintenance Adoption Subsidy Program 

_... Department of Children and Families administers 
the program 

_... Community-based care lead agencies (CBCs) 
determine the subsidy amount 

_... Program funding 
• Primary source of funding for adoption subsidies, 

Federal Title IV-E adoption funds 

• Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) 

• State General Revenue 



I Determining the Adoption Subsidy 

_... Federal and state laws and rules establish criteria 

• Based on specific needs of the child and circumstances 
of adoptive family 

• Cannot exceed foster care board rate child would have 
received in foster care 

_... Florida Statute establishes subsidy at $5,000 
annually ($417 per month) or a different amount 
as determined by the adoptive parents and the 
department 



I Factors That May Influence Adoption Subsidy 
Expenditures 

~ The number of adoptions may increase due to 

• Increases in private adoptions 

• CBC adoption incentive program and state employee 
adoption benefits 

• Increases in the number of children in out-of-home 
care 

~ Adoptions may also be reduced due to extending 
foster care to age 21 

~ Payment amounts may also increase due to cost of 
living adjustments to foster care board rates 



I DCF Annual Budget Projections for Adoption 
Subsidy Expenditures 

Methodology for Fiscal Years 2012-13 through 
2014-15 
_... DCF started with baseline of children receiving 

subsidies at the time the budget request was 
developed 
• Subtracted payments for children turning 18 before or 

during the budget year 

• Added payments for children projected to be adopted 
before or during the budget year 

• Added projected funding for subsidy rate renegotiations 
and non-recurring adoption expenses 



I Shortcomings in DCF Projection Methodology 

~ Factors in underestimating expenditures 

• Including the lower subsidy rate for children turning 18 
before the beginning of the budget year in the calculation 
of the overall average rate 

• Assuming newly adopted children receive the statutory 
subsidy rate of $417 

• Using an outdated analysis to project subsidy rate 
renegotiations 

~ Factors in overestimating expenditures 

• Counting children receiving pre-adoptive payments 
twice-in baseline and as newly adopted children 



I Methodology Shortcomings Resulted in 
Underestimates 

DCF underestimated spending in 4 of the past 5 years 

Fiscal Vear1 

2010-11 

2011-12 

2012-13 

2013-14 

2014-15 

lnitiaiLBR 

$129.0 

$138.7 

$154.1 

$158.6 

$168.0 

1 Numbers are in millions. 

Final 

Appropriation2 

$130.6 

$141.7 

$149.5 

$162.2 

$172.3 

Final 

Expenditures 

$131.4 

$140.7 

$150.4 

$161.2 

$171.0 

lnitiaiLBR Over/ 

Under Expenditures 

($2.4) 

($2.0) 

$3.7 

($2.6) 

($3.0) 

~~~~~~ 

UnderExpend~ures 

(1. 9%) 

(1.4%) 

2.4% 

( 1. 6%) 

( 1. 8%) 

2 Final appropriation includes the original appropriations through the General Appropriations Act and subsequent appropriations through Back of Bill 
additions. 

Source: Department of Children and Families and the Florida Fiscal Portal. 



I Recent Changes to Projection Methodology 

~ DCF corrected 2 problems for its Fiscal Year 
2015-16 budget request 

• Excluded the lower subsidy rate for children turning 18 
before beginning of the budget year in the calculation of 
the overall average rate 

• Estimated the actual average subsidy amount paid for 
newly adopted children 

~ DCF began using higher adoptions projections 



I Current Methodology Contains Limitations 

~ Revised methodology 

• Does not correct error that overestimates expenditures 
and new adoptions projections are likely too high 

~ Estimates likely too high 

• Approximately $4 million for Fiscal Year 2015-16, 
$4 million to $5 million for Fiscal Year 2016-17 

~ Does not reflect slowing growth in the number of 
adoption subsidy recipients 

• More children aging-out of program due to rapid growth in 
adoptions from Fiscal Years 1999-2000 through 2003-04 



I Adoptions Doubled Between Fiscal Years 
1999-2000 and 2003-04 

1995-96 

1996-97 

1997-98 

1998-99 

1999-00 

2000-01 

2001-02 

2002-03 

2003-04 

Annual Adoptions 

----- ·- -- ----- - --- --- ------ -~- ------------ --- ------------------------------------------------------------------ --------

2004-05 

2005-06 ................ I 

2006-07 ~irl:ll 

2007-08 ~RiF~~ l 

2008-09 f!JJKIJ I 
2009-10 - mffl:l l 

- -

2010-11 ~ 

2011-12 . ~l?l:tJ I 

2012-13 ~I 

2013-14 ~-

2014-15 

Source : Department of Children and Families data. 



I Areas to Improve Adoption Subsidy Request 

_... Exclude children receiving pre-adoptive payments 
from the baseline population 

_... Use slightly lower adoptions projections 

_... Periodically adjust analysis of subsidy rate 
renegotiations to reflect current practices 



Questions? 

THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE ' S 
OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY 

OPPAGA supports the Florida Legislature by providing data, evaluative research , and objective analyses that assist legislative budget and policy deliberations. 



Justin Graham 
Chief Legislative Analyst 

(850) 717-0508 
graham.justin@oppaga.fl.gov 

Mary Alice Nye, Ph.D. 
Health and Human Services Staff Director 

(850) 717-0567 
nye.mary alice@oppaga.fl.gov 

THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE'S 
OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY 

OPPAGA supports the Florida Legislature by providing data, evaluative research , and objective analyses that assist legislative budget and policy deliberations. 


